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Washington, D.C. 20549
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(Mark One)
X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-1070
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Virginia 13-1872319
(State or other jurisdiction of
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Registrant’s telephone number, including area code(314) 480-1400
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Title of each class Name of each exchange
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Common Stock, New York Stock Exchange
par value $1 per share

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢iie Act: None
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Accelerated FileEl Non-accelerated Fildil Smaller Reporting Compariy
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As of January 31, 2013, 80,178,682 shares of tifistrant’'s common stock were outstanding.
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PART |
Item 1. BUSINESS
GENERAL

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorpted in 1892, having its principal executive ag8dn Clayton, MO. We are a
manufacturer concentrated in three business segméttor Alkali Products, Chemical Distributiondawinchester. Chlor Alkali Products
manufactures and sells chlorine and caustic sadiphhloric acid, hydrogen, bleach products an@gsitm hydroxide, which represent 65%
of 2012 sales. Chemical Distribution manufactresich products and distributes caustic soda, blpeaducts, potassium hydroxide and
hydrochloric acid, which represent 7% of 2012 salémchester products, which represent 28% of 2&s, include sporting ammunition,
reloading components, small caliber military amntioniand components, and industrial cartridgese &g discussion of our segment
disclosures contained in Item 7—"Management's Désgan and Analysis of Financial Condition and Ressof Operations.”

On August 22, 2012, we acquired 100% of privatefdK. A. Steel Chemicals Inc. (KA Steel), whosegting results are included in
the accompanying financial statements since the afahe acquisition. For segment reporting purppké Steel comprises the newly created
Chemical Distribution segment. KA Steel is onehd# targest distributors of caustic soda in Northehice and manufactures and sells bleac
the Midwest.

On February 28, 2011, we acquired PolyOne Corporati(PolyOne) 50% interest in the SunBelt Chlokall Partnership, which we
refer to as SunBelt. The SunBelt chlor alkali plavhich is located within our Mcintosh, AL facilithas approximately 350,000 tons of
membrane technology capacity. Previously, we ha@% ownership interest in SunBelt, which was aoted for using the equity method of
accounting. Accordingly, prior to the acquisitieve included only our share of SunBelt resultsaméags of noreconsolidated affiliates. Sin
the date of acquisition, SunBelt's results arear@eér included in earnings of non-consolidatediafés but are consolidated in our
accompanying financial statements.

GOVERNANCE

We maintain an Internet website_at www.olin.cor®ur reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, and Forif, &s well as amendments to
those reports, are available free of charge om@lnsite, as soon as reasonably practicable aftdéiterbre reports with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). Additionally, a coppof SEC filings can be obtained from the SEC airtBffice of Investor Education and
Advocacy at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.G4%0or by calling that office of the SEC at 1-80B€50330. Also, a copy of our
electronically filed materials can be obtained atwsec.qgov Our Principles of Corporate Governance, Commi@&arters and Code of
Conduct are available on our website at www.olim@o the Governance Section under Governance Docunaeitt Committees.

In May 2012, our Chief Executive Officer executld innual Section 303A.12(a) CEO Certification nexfuby the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE), certifying that he was not awdrany violation of the NYSE’s corporate governafiséng standards by us. Additionally,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial i0#fr executed the required Sarbanes-Oxley Act 62480X) Sections 302 and 906
certifications relating to this Annual Report onrfrol0-K, which are filed with the SEC as exhibdghis Annual Report on Form 10-K.




PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND STRATEGIES
Chlor Alkali Products
Products and Services

We have been involved in the U.S. chlor alkali ity for more than 100 years and are a major patit in the North American chlor
alkali market. Chlorine, caustic soda and hydrogenco-produced commercially by the electroly$isait. These co-products are produced
simultaneously, and in a fixed ratio of 1.0 torchbforine to 1.1 tons of caustic soda and 0.03 tdrigydrogen. The industry refers to this as an
Electrochemical Unit or ECU. With a demonstratagacity as of the end of 2012 of 2.0 million EClés pear, we are one of the largest chlor
alkali producers, measured by production capadithtorine and caustic soda, in North America, adiog to data from IHS, Inc. (IHS). IHS
is a global information consulting company estdtdidin 1959, that provides information to a varieftyndustries. Approximately 55% of our
caustic soda production is high purity membraneéeyrahich, according to IHS data, normally commaagsemium selling price in the
market. According to data from CEH Marketing Reskhda division of IHS), we are the largest Nortimérican producer of industrial bleach,
which is manufactured using both chlorine and dawsstda.

Our manufacturing facilities in Augusta, GA; Mclstg AL; Charleston, TN; St. Gabriel, LA; Hendersbly,; Becancour, Quebec; Sa
Fe Springs, CA; Tacoma, WA; Tracy, CA; and a parid our facility in Niagara Falls, NY are ISO 9064rtified. In addition, Augusta, GA,;
Mclintosh, AL; Charleston, TN; St. Gabriel, LA; Heardon, NV; Santa Fe Springs, CA; Tacoma, WA; Tr&¥%,and Niagara Falls, NY are
ISO 14001 certified. 1SO 9000 (which includes 19@1 and ISO 9002) and ISO 14000 (which includ€> 18001) are sets of related
international standards on quality assurance aadamental management developed by the InternatiGmnganization for Standardization to
help companies effectively document the quality andronmental management system elements to benmemted to maintain effective
quality and environmental management systems. f&ilities in Augusta, GA; Mclintosh, AL; CharlestofiN; Niagara Falls, NY; and St.
Gabriel, LA have also achieved Star status in tbkidary Protection Program (VPP) of the Occupati®@eafety and Health Administration
(OSHA). OSHA's VPP is a program in which companiekintarily participate that recognizes facilities their exemplary safety and health
programs. Our Augusta, GA; Mcintosh, AL; CharlestdN; St. Gabriel, LA; Henderson, NV; Santa Feiggs, CA; Tacoma, WA; Tracy, CA
and Niagara Falls, NY manufacturing sites and ilision headquarters are accredited under the RIDIL&Responsible Caf§RC 14001)
standard. Supported by the chemical industry andgnized by government and regulatory agenciesi4001 establishes requirements for
the management of safety, health, environmenteljrig, transportation, product stewardship, aadeholder engagement activities for the
business.

Chlorine is used as a raw material in the produabibthousands of products for end-uses includingls, chlorinated intermediates,
isocyanates, and water treatment. A significamtigo of U.S. chlorine production is consumed ia thanufacture of ethylene dichloride, or
EDC, a precursor for polyvinyl chloride, or PYCV@® is a plastic used in applications such as vénging, plumbing and automotive parts.
estimate that approximately 21% of our chlorinedoied is consumed in the manufacture of EDC. Whileh of the chlorine produced in the
U.S. is consumed by the producing company to makendtream products, we sell most of the chloringveeluce to third parties in the
merchant market.

Caustic soda has a wide variety of end-use appitatthe largest of which in North America is e tpulp and paper industry. Caustic
soda is used in the delignification and bleachiogipns of the pulping process. Caustic sodass aked in the production of detergents and
soaps, alumina and a variety of other inorganicangdnic chemicals.

The chlor alkali industry is cyclical, both as ault of changes in demand for each of theommduced products and as a result of the
increments in which new capacity is added and redo\Because chlorine and caustic soda are produeefixed ratio, the supply of one
product can be constrained both by the physicaagpof the production facilities and/or by theldpto sell the co-produced product. Prices
for both products respond rapidly to changes ipbuand demand. Our ECU netbacks (defined as greling price less freight and
discounts), which include SunBelt ECU netbacks sgbent to February 28, 2011, averaged approxim&tei$, $570 and $475 per ECU in
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. See our dismusdichlor alkali product pricing contained inrtt/—“Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gytems.”




Electricity and salt are the major purchased rawenwds for our Chlor Alkali Products segment. Raaterials represent approximately
47% of the total cost of producing an ECU. Eledtyiis the single largest raw material componerthe production of chlor alkali
products. We are supplied by utilities that priityautilize coal, hydroelectric, natural gas, andtlear power. The commodity nature of this
industry places an emphasis on cost managemenvabeélieve that we have managed our manufactugstsdn a manner that makes us one
of the low cost producers in the industry.

By the end of 2012, we have eliminated the useearcory cell technology in our chlor alkali prodwstiprocess. During the fourth
quarter of 2009, we completed a conversion fromcomgrcell technology to membrane technology andagson project at our St. Gabriel, LA
facility and initiated production. This projectieased capacity at this location from 197,000 E@U16,000 ECUs and significantly reduced
the site’s manufacturing costs. In addition, aska@iademand requires, we believe the design oStieBelt facility, as well as the new design
of the St. Gabriel, LA facility, would allow us #xpand capacity cost-effectively at these locatidnsDecember 2010, we announced a plan t
convert our Charleston, TN facility to 200,000 tafisnembrane capacity capable of producing botagsitim hydroxide and caustic soda.
conversion at Charleston, TN was completed in #oesd half of 2012 with the successful start-upvaf new membrane cell lines. The
conversion of the Charleston, TN plant to membttaginology will reduce the electricity usage pet5@oduced by approximately 25%. In
addition, in December 2010, we announced our ifgertb reconfigure our Augusta, GA facility to mdacture bleach and distribute caustic
soda, while discontinuing chlor alkali manufactgrit this site. Mercury cell chlor alkali produstiat this facility was discontinued at the end
of September, 2012. The conversion and reconfigurat our Charleston, TN facility and our Augusgs facility reduced our overall chlor
alkali production capacity by 160,000 ECUs or 7%of prior demonstrated capacity. The completibthese three projects eliminates our
chlor alkali production using mercury cell techrgpfo

We also manufacture and sell other chlor alkaktes products. These products include chemicatiggssed salt, hydrochloric acid,
sodium hypochlorite (bleach), hydrogen, and potasdiydroxide. We refer to these other chlor alkalated products as quoducts. Sales
co-products represented approximately 32% of Chlkali Products’ sales in 2012. We have recemilyeisted in capacity and product
upgrades in bleach and hydrochloric acid. In 20®ijnitiated a capital project to construct a leait, high strength bleach facility located at
our Mcintosh, AL chlor alkali site and in 2011 wetiated two additional low salt, high strengthdxté facilities at our Niagara Falls, NY and
Henderson, NV sites. We completed low salt, highngith bleach facilities at Mcintosh, AL and Niegé&alls, NY in the first and third
quarters of 2012, respectively, and expect the intalow salt, high strength bleach facility atridkerson, NV to be completed during the first
quarter of 2013. These three new facilities widrgase total bleach manufacturing capacity by alitiadal 50% over the 2011 capacity. Th
low salt, high strength bleach facilities will ddatthe concentration of the bleach we manufacwhéch should significantly reduce
transportation costs.




The following table lists products of our Chlor AlkProducts business, with principal productstontiasis of annual sales highlighted
in bold face.

Major Raw Materials &
Components for

Products & Services Major End Uses Plants & Facilities Products/Services
Chlorine/caustic soda Pulp & paper processing, chemical manufacturing, Becancour, Quebec salt, electricity
water purification, manufacture of vinyl chloride, = Charleston, TN
bleach, swimming pool chemicals & urethane Henderson, NV
chemicals Mclintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY
St. Gabriel, LA
Sodium hypochlorite  Household cleaners, laundry bleaching, swimming Augusta, GA chlorine, caustic soda
(bleach) pool sanitizers, semiconductors, water treatment, Becancour, Quebec
textiles, pulp & paper and food processing Charleston, TN

Henderson, NV
Mclntosh, AL*
Niagara Falls, NY*
Santa Fe Springs, CA
Tacoma, WA

Tracy, CA

Hydrochloric acid Steel, oil & gas, plastics, organic chemical systhie Becancour, Quebec chlorine, hydrogen
water and wastewater treatment, brine treatment, Charleston, TN
artificial sweeteners, pharmaceuticals, food preiogs Henderson, NV
and ore and mineral processing Mclintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY

Potassium hydroxide Fertilizer manufacturing, soaps, detergents and Charleston, TN potassium chloride, electricity
cleaners, battery manufacturing, food processing
chemicals and deicers

Hydrogen Fuel source, hydrogen peroxide and hydrochlorid adecancour, Quebec salt, electricity
Charleston, TN
Henderson, NV
Mcintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY
St. Gabriel, LA

* Includes low salt, high strength bleach manufeom

Strategies

Continued Role as a Preferred Supplier to Merchdatket Customers. Based on our market research, we believe ouwrGikali
Products business is viewed as a preferred sugplieur merchant market customers. We will corgitiufocus on providing quality customer
service support and developing relationships withv@lued customers.

Pursue Incremental Expansion OpportunitiedVe have invested in capacity and product upgga our chemically processed salt,
hydrochloric acid, bleach, potassium hydroxide aypdrogen businesses. These expansions increasamtive use of chlorine while
increasing the sales of these co-products. Thesiedsses provide opportunities to upgrade chl@ntkcaustic soda to higher value-added
applications. We also have the opportunity, whesifess conditions permit, to pursue incrementargte and caustic soda expansions at ou
SunBelt and St. Gabriel, LA facilities.




Chemical Distribution
Products and Services

We acquired KA Steel, a privateheld distributor of caustic soda and bleach, onusti@?2, 2012. KA Steel was founded in 1957 anc
been managed by the two shareholders, Robert andétle Steel, since 1980. For segment reportinggeegy KA Steel comprises the newly
created Chemical Distribution segment. KA Steealrie of the largest distributors of caustic sodsanth America and manufacturers and sells
bleach in the Midwest. The newly created Chemidatribution segment gives us the expanded capabditmarket and sell caustic soda,
bleach, potassium hydroxide, and hydrochloric aasdwell as, gives us the geographic diversificatice KA Steel locations provide us, and
strengthens our position in the industrial bleastpnsent.

KA Steel is a chemical distributor uniquely focuseaaustic soda and bleach. The addition of KAeEBitecreased our bleach capacity
approximately 20%. KA Steel's geographic profilgparded our reach and provides a strong platforimct@ase our caustic soda, bleach,
potassium hydroxide and hydrochloric acid salesreZuly, KA Steel sells small quantities of potassihydroxide and has historically been,
and maintains some infrastructure to be, a didiibof hydrochloric acid.

KA Steel sources its chemicals from both internaicand domestic suppliers, including several efrttajor chemical producers in the
U.S. KA Steel typically has written distributorstagreements or supply contracts with our suppttesare periodically renewed. The KA
Steel supply agreements with producers generallyad@rovide for specific product pricing, but dmlude volume-based financial incentives
through supplier rebates that we can earn by ngeetimxceeding target purchase volumes.

The prices at which KA Steel resells the produleé it distributes fluctuate in accordance with phiees that they pay for these
products, which in turn are driven by the undedy@dommaodity prices, such as caustic soda, in aecmewith supply and demand economics
As a result, movements in the product prices tengégult in largely corresponding changes to saekcost of sales.

Transportation of products to and from custometssappliers is a fundamental component of the KéeBbusiness. The distribution
service relies on their private fleet of trucksikers and trailers for approximately 50% of theinaal volume and on common carriers and
direct supply sales for the remainder. Direct sygales occur by shipping products directly frosugplier to a customer when direct shiprr
is optimal for our route management. Although thedpcts move directly from supplier to customer, B#eel remains the only point of coni
for both customers and suppliers, and they takeeostrip of the products during the direct supplycpss.




The KA Steel facilities are strategically placedfiimize route density in an effort to balancehhigiality customer service with
execution costs. The following table lists eaclthef distribution facilities, if the facility is ovad or leased, and the products currently shippec
from the location. The table does not include sigpmlontrolled direct-ship facilities.

Products & Services Plants & Facilities Owned/Leased

Caustic, Bleach, KOH Lemont, IL Own

Caustic, Bleach Muscatine, IA Own

Bleach Romulus, Ml Own

Caustic Baltimore, MD Lease
Caustic Bayonne, NJ Lease
Bleach Camanche, IA Lease
Caustic Charleston, SC Lease
Caustic Cincinnati, OH Lease
Caustic Cozad, NE Lease
Caustic, Bleach Dallas, TX Lease
Caustic E Sauget, IL Lease
Bleach Fairborn, OH Lease
Caustic Houston, TX Lease
Caustic Kansas City, KS Lease
Caustic Lubbock, TX Lease
Caustic Manly, 1A Lease
Caustic McKees Rocks, PA Lease
Caustic Pacific Junction, IA Lease
Caustic Pt. Allen, LA Lease
Caustic Savannah, GA Lease
Caustic Searsport, ME Lease
Caustic Sioux City, IA Lease
Caustic Spokane, WA Lease
Caustic St. Louis, MO Lease
Caustic St. Paul, MN Lease
Caustic Vancouver, WA Lease
Caustic Warren, Ml Lease

Strategies

Pursue Incremental Expansion Optioii$ie acquisition of KA Steel will enhance our comntypa@hemical business by increasing the
amount of our core chlor alkali capacity that carsbld as value added products and increase ofitapility across the economic cycle.

Winchester
Products and Services

In 2012, Winchester was in its 1#§ear of operation and its 8%ear as part of Olin. Winchester is a premier tigyer and
manufacturer of small caliber ammunition for salelbmestic and international retailers (commermistomers), law enforcement agencies
domestic and international militaries. We beligieare a leading U.S. producer of ammunition foreational shooters, hunters, law
enforcement agencies and the U.S. Armed Forces.

During 2011, Winchester was awarded the U.S. Arrfogllew-on “Second Source” ammunition contract, efthhas the potential to
generate $300 million of sales over five yearse €bntract provides for the production of .50 aaljl5.56 millimeter, and 7.62 millimeter
ammunition. In 2011, the U.S. Army also awardechdMiester a new five-year contract for 9mm NATO amition, which has the potential to
generate $80 million of sales over the next fivarge




In September 2012, Winchester, along with anothenanition manufacturer, was awarded a contract fteerDepartment of Justice
(DOJ) and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBIie contract is to provide .40 caliber duty amdhing ammunition for one year with four
option years; the contract has the potential tegge $75 million of sales over the life of the waat.

In January 2012, Winchester announced it had foraneéht venture named U.S. Munitions with BAE ®yss to submit a proposal for
the operation and maintenance of the Lake City AAimymunition Plant. During the third quarter of 20ive were notified by the U.S. Army
that U.S. Munitions was not the successful biddette Lake City Army Ammunition plant contract.&hake City Army Ammunition Plant
the U.S. Army’s primary manufacturing location &mnall caliber ammunition.

In May 2012, the National Defense Industrial Asation (NDIA) presented Winchester with the prestigi Ambrose Award for
exemplary commitment and contribution to the U.8nAd Forces. The NDIA presents the award periogigghen a manufacturer delivers
superior materials that meet required operatioaphbilities and support a high level of force reads in conduct of warfighting activities and
homeland defense.

Our legendary Winchest@product line includes all major gauges and caliloéshotgun shells, rimfire and centerfire ammuamitfor
pistols and rifles, reloading components and irmalstartridges. We believe we are the leading. upplier of small caliber commercial
ammunition. In support of our continuous improvatraitiatives, our manufacturing facilities in Eadton, IL achieved ISO recertification to
the ISO 9001:2008 standard in November 2012. Aaldilly, our facilities in Oxford, MS and Australéchieved 1ISO 9001:2008 recertificat
in 2011.

Winchester has strong relationships throughous#ies and distribution chain and strong ties tditicnal dealers and
distributors. Winchester has also built its busgeith key high volume mass merchants and spgapdirting goods retailers. Winchester ha
consistently developed industry-leading ammunitiom2012 and 2011, Winchester ammunition produeteived numerous industry
recognitions, including: Winchest@Blind Side®waterfowl loads were selected by the National Riffsociation’sAmerican Rifleman
magagzine to receive a Golden Bullseye Award as22&hmunition Product of the Year,” Winchesflind Side®waterfowl loads also
received the 2011 “Best of the Best” award frield & Streammagazine, were selected as “Top Choice” for duakihg inField & Streams
“Ultimate Shotshell Guide,” were named “Editor'sd@ite” as the top overall ammo @utdoor Life’'s2011 “Ammo of the Year” awards, and
were recommended to ammunition retailers as “alietsto make the register ring” by the editor&6fOT Business In addition, the
Winchestef .17HMR Varmint Lead-Free round was awarded Top Revdmmo inOutdoor Life’s2011 “Ammo of the Year” awards, and
Field & Strean’s 2011 “Ultimate Shotshell Guide” named Winche§t&A ® Heavy Target Loads the “Top Choice” for upland bitchting.

Winchester purchases raw materials such as cogsedbstrip and ammunition cartridge case cupseatiffom vendors based on a
conversion charge or premium. These conversiorgelssor premiums are in addition to the marketgsrifor metal as posted on exchanges
such as the Commodity Exchange, or COMEX, and Lordetals Exchange, or LME. Winchester’s other nraim material is propellant,
which is purchased predominantly from one of théé¢hStates’ largest propellant suppliers.




The following table lists products and service®af Winchester business, with principal productshmnbasis of annual sales highligt
in bold face.

Major Raw Materials &
Components for

Products & Services Major End Uses Plants & Facilities Products/Services
Winchester® sporting Hunters & recreational shooters, law enforcemenEast Alton, IL brass, lead, steel, plastic,
ammunition (shot-shells, small agencies Oxford, MS propellant, explosives
caliber centerfire & rimfire Geelong, Australia
ammunition)

Small caliber military Infantry and mounted weapons East Alton, IL brass, lead, propellant,
ammunition Oxford, MS explosives

Industrial products (8 gauge  Maintenance applications in power & East Alton, IL brass, lead, plastic, propellant,
loads & powder-actuated tool concrete industries, powder-actuated tools in ~ Oxford, MS explosives

loads) construction industry Geelong, Australia

On November 3, 2010, we announced that we had thadgdecision to relocate the Winchester centepistol and rifle ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @xf, MS. In October 2011, we opened the new chraguistol and rifle production facility
in Oxford, MS and the pistol and rifle ammunitiommufacturing equipment continues to be in the ot being relocated and started
up. During 2012, approximately 66% of Winchestgaistol ammunition was manufactured in Oxford, Miis relocation, when completed
forecast to reduce Winchesteannual operating costs by approximately $30 omilliWe currently expect to complete this relogabtiy the en
of 2016. Once completed, Winchester expects te fia@ most modern centerfire ammunition produdimility in North America.

Strategies

Leverage Existing StrengthsWinchester plans to seek new opportunitiesverigge the legendary Winchester brand name and will
continue to offer a full line of ammunition prodad¢b the markets we serve, with specific focusmmestments that lower our costs and that
make Winchester ammunition the retail brand of choi

Focus on Product Line Growth.With a long record of pioneering new produckoifgs, Winchester has built a strong reputatioaras
industry innovator. This includes the introductmfireduced-lead and non-lead products, which eoeigg in popularity for use in indoor
shooting ranges and for outdoor hunting.

Cost Reduction Strategwinchester plans to continue to focus on stratetigaswill lower our costs including the ongoindo@ation of
our centerfire pistol and rifle ammunition manutaaig operations from East Alton, IL to Oxford, MS.

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

Our subsidiary, Olin Canada ULC, formerly PCI Cheafs Canada Company/Société PCl Chimie Canadaatesesne chlor alkali
facility in Becancour, Quebec, which sells chldeaditrelated products within Canada and to the éthibtates and also sells and distributes
ammunition within Canada. Our subsidiary, Wincbestustralia Limited, loads and packs sporting emtiistrial ammunition in
Australia. See the Note “Segment Informatiofithe notes to consolidated financial statementgeim 8, for geographic segment data. We
incorporating our segment information from that &lotto this section of our Form 10-K.

CUSTOMERS AND DISTRIBUTION

During 2012, no single customer accounted for ntloa@ 7% of sales. Sales to all U.S. government@ge and sales under U.S.
government contracting activities in total accodrter approximately 5% of sales in 2012. Produetssell to industrial or commercial user:
distributors for use in the production of othergrots constitute a major part of our total saM& sell some of our products, such as caustic
soda and sporting ammunition, to a large numbesefs or distributors, while we sell others, suglsldorine, in substantial quantities to a
relatively small number of industrial users. Wsadiss the customers for each of our three busim@sseore detail above under “Products anc
Services.”




We market most of our products and services prigntriough our sales force and sell directly toieas industrial customers, mass
merchants, retailers, wholesalers, other distritsytand the U.S. Government and its prime contracto

Because we engage in some government contractiivifias and make sales to the U.S. Governmentargesubject to extensive and
complex U.S. Government procurement laws and régnk These laws and regulations provide for amggovernment audits and review:
contract procurement, performance and administratfeailure to comply, even inadvertently, withgadaws and regulations and with laws
governing the export of munitions and other cotdbproducts and commodities could subject us erarmore of our businesses to civil and
criminal penalties, and under certain circumstansespension and debarment from future governnaitacts and the exporting of products
for a specified period of time.

BACKLOG

The total amount of contracted backlog was apprasety $440.8 million and $136.8 million as of Jaryudl, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. The backlog orders are in our Wistérebusiness. Beginning around the time of theedber 2012 presidential election,
consumer purchases of ammunition surged significafiove normal demand levels. The surge in denhasceen across all of Winchester’'s
commercial product offerings. The increase in comuaédemand can be illustrated by the incread#/iimchesters commercial backlog, whi
was $310.9 million at January 31, 2013 comparekll&8.3 million at December 31, 2012 and $37.6 anl&t January 31, 2012. The orders
included in the commercial backlog may be cancbiethe customer. Backlog is comprised of all opest@emer orders not yet
shipped. Approximately 92% of contracted backlegiJanuary 31, 2013 is expected to be filledrdp#013.

COMPETITION

We are in active competition with businesses prodpor distributing the same or similar producsweell as, in some instances, with
businesses producing or distributing different picid designed for the same uses.

Chlor alkali manufacturers in North America, withpsoximately 16 million tons of chlorine and 17 lwih tons of caustic soda capaci
account for approximately 18% of worldwide chldkadi production capacity. According to IHS, the&hemical Company (Dow) and the
Occidental Chemical Corporation (OxyChem) are e largest chlor alkali producers in North Americ&pproximately 75% of the total
North American capacity is located in the U.S. Gdfast region

Many of our competitors are integrated producershédrine, using some, or all, of their chlorin@guction in the manufacture of other
downstream products. In contrast, we are primaritgerchant producer of chlorine and sell the nitgjof our chlorine to merchant
customers. As a result, we supply a greater sffahee merchant chlorine market than our sharevefall industry capacity. We do utilize
chlorine to manufacture industrial bleach and hgbhoric acid. There is a worldwide market for dimisoda, which attracts imports and allc
exports depending on market conditions. All of competitors and the integrated producers of cidoskell caustic soda into the North
American merchant market.

The chlor alkali industry in North America is higlrdompetitive, and many of our competitors, inchgilDow and OxyChem, are
substantially larger and have greater financiabweses than we do. While the technologies to mastufe and transport chlorine and caustic
soda are widely available, the production faciitiequire large capital investments, and are stiijesignificant regulatory and permitting
requirements.

We became one of the largest distributors of casstila in North America with the acquisition of KsAeel. We operate in a competitive
industry and compete with many producers, distalsiand sales agents offering chemicals equivédethie products we handle. The primary
competitive factors affecting the distribution mess is the availability of product, the price,touser service, and delivery capabilities. Our
principal distribution competitors in North Amerigeclude Univar Inc., Brenntag AG and numerous $enaégional distributors.

We are among the largest manufacturers in the ti§itates of commercial small caliber ammunitioreldasn independent market
research sponsored by the Sporting Arms and Amioarilanufacturers’ Institute (SAAMI) and the NatadrShooting Sports
Foundation. Founded in 1926, SAAMI is an assoamatif the nation’s leading manufacturers of spgrfirearms, ammunition and
components. According to SAAMI, our Winchesterihass, Alliant Techsystems Inc. (ATK) and Remingtoms Company, Inc. owned by
the Freedom Group (Remington) are the three la@amercial ammunition manufacturers in the Uni¢ates. The ammunition industry is
highly competitive with us, ATK, Remington, numesosmaller domestic manufacturers and foreign preducompeting for sales to the
commercial ammunition customers. Many factorauiefice our ability to compete successfully, inclgdinice, delivery, service, performance,
product innovation and product recognition and iquadlepending on the product involved.
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EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately 4¢i@ployees, with 3,850 working in the United Stated 250 working in foreign
countries, primarily Canada. Various labor unicgpgresent a majority of our hourly-paid employesscbllective bargaining purposes.

The following labor contracts are scheduled to expi 2013:

Location Number of Employees Expiration Date
Niagara Falls (Chlor Alkali) 107 July 2013
Tacoma (Chlor Alkali) 11 December 2013

While we believe our relations with our employeed their various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we
can conclude these labor contracts or any other lagreements without work stoppages and cannoteisat any work stoppages will not
have a material adverse effect on our businesadial condition, or results of operations.

RESEARCH ACTIVITIES; PATENTS

Our research activities are conducted on a progimip basis at a number of facilities. Companyaspeoed research expenditures were
$2.6 million in 2012, $2.7 million in 2011 and $2xillion in 2010.

We own or license a number of patents, patent eqjdins, and trade secrets covering our produdtgpescesses. We believe that, in
aggregate, the rights under our patents and lisesm®eimportant to our operations, but we do nasiter any individual patent or license or
group of patents and licenses related to a spqmificess or product to be of material importancaeuototal business.

RAW MATERIALS AND ENERGY

We purchase the major portion of our raw mategguirements. The principal basic raw materialoforproduction of chlor alkali
products are salt, electricity, potassium chlorgléfur dioxide, and hydrogen. A portion of thédt sesed in our Chlor Alkali Products segment
is produced from internal resources. Lead, bia@sd,propellant are the principal raw materials usdtle Winchester business. We typically
purchase our electricity, salt, potassium chlorgldfur dioxide, ammunition cartridge case cups empgber-based strip, and propellants
pursuant to multi-year contracts. We provide addél information with respect to specific raw s in the tables set forth under “Products
and Services.”

Electricity is the predominant energy source for manufacturing facilities. Most of our facilitiese served by utilities which generate
electricity principally from coal, hydroelectric @muclear power except at St. Gabriel, LA and Hesale NV which predominantly use natu
gas.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROLS

In the United States, the establishment and impi¢ation of federal, state and local standards dolege air, water and land quality
affect substantially all of our manufacturing Idoas. Federal legislation providing for regulatioiithe manufacture, transportation, use and
disposal of hazardous and toxic substances, anediation of contaminated sites has imposed additiegulatory requirements on industry,
particularly the chemicals industry. In additiaomplementation of environmental laws, such as thsdRrce Conservation and Recovery Act
and the Clean Air Act, has required and will con&ro require new capital expenditures and wiliéase operating costs. Our Canadian
facility is governed by federal environmental laadsministered by Environment Canada and by provimcigironmental laws enforced by
administrative agencies. Many of these laws ameparable to the U.S. laws described above. We@mphste minimization and pollution
prevention programs at our manufacturing sitesvemére a party to various governmental and prigatéronmental actions associated with
former waste disposal sites and past manufactdiaicifities. Charges or credits to income for inigestory and remedial efforts were material
to operating results in the past three years andtraanaterial to operating results in future years.

See our discussion of our environmental mattefeem 3—"“Legal Proceedings” below, the Note “Envinoental” of the notes to
consolidated financial statements contained in Beand Item 7—*Management’s Discussion and Analg$iFinancial Condition and Results
of Operations.”
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information in this For®-K, the following factors should be considereeimluating Olin and our
business. All of our forward-looking statementewdld be considered in light of these factors. Aiddal risks and uncertainties that we are
unaware of or that we currently deem immateriad atgy become important factors that affect us.

Sensitivity to Global Economic Conditions and Cycliality —Our operating results could be negatively affectedng economic
downturns.

The business of most of our customers, particulanlyvinyl, urethanes, and pulp and paper custoarersto varying degrees, cyclical
and have historically experienced periodic dowrgurihese economic and industry downturns have tieamacterized by diminished product
demand, excess manufacturing capacity and, in sases, lower average selling prices. Therefonesmmnificant downturn in our customers’
businesses or in global economic conditions coesdlt in a reduction in demand for our products esuld adversely affect our results of
operations or financial condition.

Although we do not generally sell a large perceataigour products directly to customers abroadyge part of our financial
performance is dependent upon a healthy economgniseorth America. Our customers sell their pradadbroad. As a result, our business
is affected by general economic conditions andrdénaors in Western Europe, South America and rabEiast Asia, particularly China and
Japan, including fluctuations in interest ratestemer demand, labor and energy costs, currenayeisaand other factors beyond our
control. The demand for our customers’ produats, therefore, our products, is directly affectedsbgh fluctuations. In addition, our
customers could decide to move some or all of ghreiduction to lower cost, offshore locations, &md could reduce demand in North
America for our products. We cannot assure youdtants having an adverse effect on the industriegich we operate will not occur or
continue, such as a downturn in the Western Eurgfgeuth American, Asian or world economies, insesan interest rates, or unfavorable
currency fluctuations. Economic conditions in athegions of the world, predominantly Asia and Exgpcan increase the amount of caustic
soda produced and available for export to North Acae The increased caustic soda supply can puba@ard pressure on our caustic soda
prices, negatively impacting our profitability.

Cyclical Pricing Pressure—Our profitability could be reduced by declines ueeage selling prices of our products, particulaeygline:
in the ECU netbacks for chlorine and caustic soda.

Our historical operating results reflect the cyaliand sometimes volatile nature of the chemicdlammunition industries. We
experience cycles of fluctuating supply and demarghch of our business segments, particularlyhloiCAlkali Products, which result in
changes in selling prices. Periods of high dem#git supply and increasing operating margins tenesult in increases in capacity and
production until supply exceeds demand, generallgwed by periods of oversupply and declining psic Another factor influencing demand
and pricing for chlorine and caustic soda is thiegpof natural gas. Higher natural gas pricesdase our customers’ and competitors’
manufacturing costs, and depending on the ratwwade oil to natural gas prices, could make thesa tmmpetitive in world
markets. Continued expansion offshore, particuliarliAsia, will continue to have an impact on théEvalues as imported caustic soda
replaces some capacity in North America.

Price in the chlor alkali industry is the major pligr selection criterion. We have little or naldi to influence prices in this large
commodity market. Decreases in the average sqlliltgs of our products could have a material agbseffect on our profitability. For
example, in the Chlor Alkali Products segment, aseg all other costs remain constant and interoakamption remains approximately the
same, a $10 per ECU selling price change equat@s approximate $15 million annual change in oueneles and pretax profit when we are
operating at full capacity. While we strive to m@iin or increase our profitability by reducing tothrough improving production efficiency,
emphasizing higher margin products, and by comtigliransportation, selling, and administrationenges, we cannot assure you that these
efforts will be sufficient to offset fully the efte of possible decreases in pricing on operatisglts.

Because of the cyclical nature of our businesses;amnot assure you that pricing or profitabilitythe future will be comparable to any

particular historical period, including the mosteat period shown in our operating results. Wenoaassure you that the chlor alkali industry
will not experience adverse trends in the futureghat our operating results and/or financial ctindiwill not be adversely affected by them.
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Our Chemical Distribution segment is also subjeathitanges in operating results as a result of @ldtiricing pressures. The prices at
which we resell the products that we distributenftiuctuate in accordance with the prices thapaaefor these products, which in turn are
driven by the underlying commaodity prices, sucltasstic soda, in accordance with supply and dereaadomics. We attempt to pass
commodity pricing changes to our customers, butmag be unable to or be delayed in doing so. Thiilitato pass through price increases ot
any limitation or delays in passing through pricereases in our Chemical Distribution segment cadkrsely affect our profitability.

Our Winchester segment is also subject to chamgepérating results as a result of cyclical prigimgssures, but to a lesser extent than
the Chlor Alkali Products segment. Selling priofsmmunition are affected by changes in raw maltedsts and availability and customer
demand, and declines in average selling pricesamfyrts of our Winchester segment could adverdédgtaour profitability.

Imbalance in Demand for Our Chlor Alkali Products —A loss of a substantial customer for our chlomn&austic soda could cause
an imbalance in demand for these products, whicitddoave an adverse effect on our results of ojpersit

Chlorine and caustic soda are produced simultateans in a fixed ratio of 1.0 ton of chlorine tdltons of caustic soda. The loss of &
substantial chlorine or caustic soda customer coailse an imbalance in demand for our chlorinecandtic soda products. An imbalance in
demand may require us to reduce production of blolitrine and caustic soda or take other stepsrecithe imbalance. Since we cannot
store large quantities of chlorine, we may not lbke & respond to an imbalance in demand for thesgucts as quickly or efficiently as some
of our competitors. If a substantial imbalanceusoed, we would need to reduce prices or take ahgons that could have a negative impact
on our results of operations and financial conditio

Security and Chemicals Transportation—New regulations on the transportation of hazarddesnicals and/or the security of
chemical manufacturing facilities and public polidyanges related to transportation safety couldtrgssignificantly higher operating costs.

The chemical industry, including the chlor alkaldustry, has proactively responded to the issuaterkto national security and
environmental concerns by starting new initiativelating to the security of chemicals industry fiiels and the transportation of hazardous
chemicals in the United States. Government aldte, state, and federal levels could implement negulations that would impact the
security of chemical plant locations and the trantgiion of hazardous chemicals. Our Chlor Allatbducts business could be adversely
impacted by the cost of complying with any new fagans. Our business also could be adverselygteif an incident were to occur at on
our facilities or while transporting product. Téxtent of thémpact would depend on the requirements of futagailations and the nature of
incident, which are unknown at this time.

Effects of Regulation—Changes in legislation or government regulationgadicies, including tax policies, could have a emntl
adverse effect on our financial position or resaftsperations.

Legislation that may be passed by Congress or tegesiative bodies or new regulations that mayskeed by federal and other
administrative agencies could significantly affdet sales, costs and profitability of our busineBse chemical and ammunition industries are
subject to legislative and regulatory actions, wrgould have a material adverse effect on our firmosition or results of operations.

Cost Control —Our profitability could be reduced if we experierincreasing raw material, utility, transportatmmlogistics costs, or if
we fail to achieve our targeted cost reductions.

Our operating results and profitability are depemdgon our continued ability to control, and imeocases further reduce, our costs. |
we are unable to do so, or if costs outside ofooumtrol, particularly our costs of raw materialslities, transportation and similar costs,
increase beyond anticipated levels, our profitgbiiill decline.

For example, our Chlor Alkali product transportataosts, particularly railroad shipment costs,aségnificant portion of our cost of
sales, and have been increasing over the pasiedégears. If the cost increases continue, andre@iaable to control those costs or pass the
increased costs on to customers, our profitakitityur Chlor Alkali business would be negativeljeated. Similarly, costs of commaodity
metals and other materials used in our Winchestsinless, such as copper and lead, can vary. é&xwerience significant increases in these
costs and are unable to raise our prices to dfigehigher costs, the profitability in our Winchersbusiness would be negatively affected.

13




Environmental Costs—We have ongoing environmental costs, which coaldeha material adverse effect on our financialtposor
results of operations.

The nature of our operations and products, inclyidire raw materials we handle, exposes us to shefiliabilities or claims with
respect to environmental matters. In additionaneeparty to various governmental and private emirental actions associated with past
manufacturing facilities and former waste dispait@gls. We have incurred, and expect to incur,ifsaggmt costs and capital expenditures in
complying with environmental laws and regulations.

The ultimate costs and timing of environmentaliliibs are difficult to predict. Liabilities undenvironmental laws relating to
contaminated sites can be imposed retroactivelyoana joint and several basis. One liable partydbe held responsible for all costs at a
regardless of fault, percentage of contributioth®site or the legality of the original dispos#Ve could incur significant costs, including
cleanup costs, natural resource damages, civilimirtal fines and sanctions and third-party lawsgiaiming, for example, personal injury
and/or property damage, as a result of past ordutiolations of, or liabilities under, environmehor other laws.

In addition, future events, such as changes toaremigorous enforcement of environmental lawsd¢oequire us to make additional
expenditures, modify or curtail our operations andtistall pollution control equipment.

Accordingly, it is possible that some of the matterwhich we are involved or may become involvemirhe resolved unfavorably to us,
which could materially adversely affect our finaadgosition, cash flows or results of operatioSge Item 7—*Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggtems-Environmental Matters.”

Litigation and Claims— We are subject to litigation and other claims, whiould cause us to incur significant expenses.

We are a defendant in a number of pending legalgadings relating to our present and former opmrati These include product
liability claims relating to ammunition and procéagk alleging injurious exposure of plaintiffs tarious chemicals and other substances
(including proceedings based on alleged exposuorashiestos). Frequently, the proceedings alldégjogous exposure involve claims made
numerous plaintiffs against many defendants. Hawndwecause of the inherent uncertainties of litiga we are unable to predict the outcome
of these proceedings and therefore cannot deterwtie¢her the financial impact, if any, will be maéto our financial position, cash flows or
results of operations.

Information Security— A failure of our information technology systems,aorinterruption in their operation, could have atenial
adverse effect on our business, financial condibioresults of operations.

Our operations are dependent on our ability togmtodur information systems, computer equipmentiafmimation databases from
systems failures. We rely on our information tembgy systems generally to manage the day-to-dayadion of our business, operate
elements of our chlor alkali and ammunition mantufeng facilities, manage relationships with oustmmers, fulfill customer orders, and
maintain our financial and accounting records.Iufas of our information technology systems cowddchused by internal or external events,
such as incursions by intruders or hackers, compingses, failures in hardware or software, pofiisrtuations or cyber-attacks. The failure
of our information technology systems to perfornaascipated for any reason or any significant bheaf security could disrupt our business
and result in numerous adverse consequences, inglueduced effectiveness and efficiency of operej increased costs or loss of important
information, any of which could have a material @cbe effect on our business, financial conditionesults of operations. We have technol
and information security processes and disastevesy plans in place to mitigate our risk to theakerabilities. However, these measures
may not be adequate to ensure that our operatidnsovbe disrupted, should such an event occur.
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Production Hazards—Our facilities are subject to operating hazardsictv may disrupt our business.

We are dependent upon the continued safe opermattioar production facilities. Our production fatiés are subject to hazards
associated with the manufacture, handling, stosagetransportation of chemical materials and prtedand ammunition, including leaks and
ruptures, explosions, fires, inclement weather atdral disasters, unexpected utility disruptionswtages, unscheduled downtime and
environmental hazards. From time to time in th&t pae have had incidents that have temporarily dbwn or otherwise disrupted our
manufacturing, causing production delays and riegpin liability for workplace injuries and fatals. Some of our products involve the
manufacture and/or handling of a variety of explesind flammable materials. Use of these productaur customers could also result in
liability if an explosion, fire, spill or other aictent were to occur. We cannot assure you thaviv@ot experience these types of incidents in
the future or that these incidents will not regulproduction delays or otherwise have a matedaksse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Credit Facilities— Weak industry conditions could affect our abilitydomply with the financial maintenance covenantsur senior
revolving credit facility and certain tax-exemptriois.

Our senior revolving credit facility includes cerntdinancial maintenance covenants requiring usabexceed a maximum leverage ratic
and to maintain a minimum coverage ratio. Durimg fourth quarter of 2010, $153.0 million of Gulp@rtunity Zone Act of 2005 (Go Zone)
and American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 288%overy Zone) tax-exempt bonds sponsored by Mabéississippi and Tennessee
were issued with final maturities of between 2084 2035. The financial covenants in the credieagrents associated with the Go Zone anc
Recovery Zone bonds mirror those in our senior Ikéng credit facility.

Depending on the magnitude and duration of chkalatyclical downturns, including deteriorationpnices and volumes, there can be
no assurance that we will continue to be in conmgkawith these ratios. If we failed to comply waither of these covenants in a future perioc
and were not able to obtain waivers from the lesdeereunder, we would need to refinance our cugemior revolving credit facility and the
Go Zone and Recovery Zone bonds. However, therdeao assurance that such refinancing would aiade to us on terms that would be
acceptable to us or at all.

Credit and Capital Market Conditions —Adverse conditions in the credit and capital m&ghaay limit or prevent our ability to
borrow or raise capital.

While we believe we have facilities in place thadsld allow us to borrow funds as needed, advayaditions in the credit and financial
markets could prevent us from obtaining financihthe need arises. Our ability to invest in ousimesses and refinance or repay maturing
debt obligations could require access to the ceaditcapital markets and sufficient bank credidito support cash requirements. If we are
unable to access the credit and capital marketgowte experience a material adverse effect orfinancial position or results of operations.

Indebtedness—Our indebtedness could adversely affect our firdmondition and limit our ability to grow and cqete, which could
prevent us from fulfilling our obligations underrdndebtedness.

As of December 31, 2012, we had $713.7 millionnaliebtedness outstanding, including $10.2 milliggreeenting the unrecognized g
related to $198.1 million of interest rate swapBPatember 31, 2012. This outstanding indebteddess not include our $265.0 million senior
revolving credit facility of which we had $233.3lficin available as of December 31, 2012 becausbagkissued $31.7 million of letters of
credit. As of December 31, 2012, our indebtednegresented 41.7% of our total capitalization.Datember 31, 2012, $23.6 million of our
indebtedness was due within one year.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our firremndition and limit our ability to fund workinzapital, capital expenditures and
other general corporate purposes, to accommodatettyby reducing funds otherwise available for ottwrporate purposes, and to compete,
which in turn could prevent us from fulfilling oobligations under our indebtedness. In additiam,indebtedness could make us more
vulnerable to any continuing downturn in generaresnic conditions and reduce our ability to resptindhanging business and economic
conditions. Despite our level of indebtedness téims of our senior revolving credit facility aodr existing indentures permit us to borrow
additional money. If we borrow more money, thé&siselated to our indebtedness could increase.

Pension Plans—The impact of declines in global equity and fixedome markets on asset values and any declinateirest rates used

to value the liabilities in our pension plans maguit in higher pension costs and the need to fl@gension plans in future years in material
amounts.
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Under Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) 71®tpensation—Retirement Benefits” (ASC 715), we réed an aftetax charge c
$101.9 million ($166.8 million pretax) to sharehers! equity as of December 31, 2012 for our penaiwh other postretirement plans. This
charge reflected a 100-basis point decrease ipléms’ discount rate, partially offset by the faadole performance on plan assets during
2012. In 2011, we recorded an after-tax chargk26f0 million ($46.8 million pretax) to shareholsleequity as of December 31, 2011 for our
pension and other postretirement plans. This eheefiected a 40-basis point decrease in the pliissbunt rate and an unfavorable actuarial
assumption change related to mortality tablesjglgroffset by the favorable performance on plaseis during 2011. In 2010, we recorded a
after-tax charge of $26.0 million ($42.3 milliorepex) to shareholdersquity as of December 31, 2010 for our pensionathdr postretireme
plans. This charge reflected a 45-basis pointedese in the plans’ discount rate, partially offsethe favorable performance on plan assets
during 2010. The non-cash charges to shareholdqsty do not affect our ability to borrow undemrenior revolving credit facility.

The determinations of pension expense and pensiatirfg are based on a variety of rules and reguiati Changes in these rules and
regulations could impact the calculation of pengitan liabilities and the valuation of pension p&ssets. They may also result in higher
pension costs, additional financial statement disale, and accelerate the need to fully fund timsipe plan. During the third quarter of 2012,
the “Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Centicy’ became law. The new law changes the mechafasmietermining interest rates to be
used for calculating minimum defined benefit pengian funding requirements. Interest rates arerdehed using an average of rates of a 25
year period, which can have the effect of increg$ie annual discount rate, reducing the definegtitepension plan obligation, ai
potentially reducing or eliminating the minimum aahfunding requirement. The new law also incregsedhiums paid to the Pension Benefit
Guaranty Corporation (PBGC). Based on our planrapsions and estimates, we will not be required &ikenany cash contributions to the
domestic defined benefit pension plan at leastuiind?013 and under the new law may not be requir@dake any additional contributions for
at least the next five years. We do have a sneib@ian defined benefit pension plan to which weer0.9 million of cash contributions in
2012 and 2011, and we anticipate less than $5omitf cash contributions in 2013. At DecemberZ112, the projected benefit obligation of
$2,072.4 million exceeded the market value of assedur qualified defined benefit pension planstg.4 million.

In addition, the impact of declines in global eguwnd fixed income markets on asset values maytiieshigher pension costs and may
increase and accelerate the need to fund the peplsios in future years. For example, holding#ier assumptions constant, a Hais poir
decrease or increase in the assumed long-ternofragéurn on plan assets would have decreasedmranred, respectively, the 2012 defined
benefit pension plans income by approximately $h6il8on.

Holding all other assumptions constant, a 50-bagiist decrease in the discount rate used to caé&plkension income for 2012 and the
projected benefit obligation as of December 31,2@buld have decreased pension income by $0.4omilnd increased the projected benefit
obligation by $114.0 million. A 50-basis point iease in the discount rate used to calculate pemsémme for 2012 and the projected benefit
obligation as of December 31, 2012 would have msed pension income by $1.5 million and decredsegrjected benefit obligation by
$112.0 million.

Labor Matters— We cannot assure you that we can conclude futbia leontracts or any other labor agreements wittauk
stoppages.

Various labor unions represent a majority of ounrhoepaid employees for collective bargaining purposBEse following labor contract
are scheduled to expire in 2013:

Location Number of Employees Expiration Date
Niagara Falls (Chlor Alkali) 107 July 2013
Tacoma (Chlor Alkali) 11 December 2013

While we believe our relations with our employeed ¢&heir various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we
can conclude these labor contracts or any other kagreements without work stoppages and cannotefisat any work stoppages will not
have a material adverse effect on our businesadial condition, or results of operations.

Debt Service—We may not be able to generate sufficient caslendce our debt, which may require us to refinamgeindebtedness 1
default on our scheduled debt payments.
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Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow fromeoations to make scheduled payments on our deleinds on a range of economic,
competitive and business factors, many of whichoatside our control. We cannot assure you thabasiness will generate sufficient cash
flow from operations. If we are unable to meet exppenses and debt obligations, we may need twarefe all or a portion of our indebtedness
on or before maturity, sell assets or raise equitde cannot assure you that we would be able inanefe any of our indebtedness, sell assets
raise equity on commercially reasonable terms aflaivhich could cause us to default on our olilyes and impair our liquidity. Our
inability to generate sufficient cash flow to shtisur debt obligations, or to refinance our obligas on commercially reasonable terms, woulc
have an adverse effect on our business, finaneiaiton and results of operations, as well as wnability to satisfy our debt obligations. See
Item 7—*Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofdficial Condition and Results of Operations.” Sem|7A—"Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” and “luidjty and Other Financing Arrangements.”

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
Item 2. PROPERTIES

We have manufacturing sites at 14 separate localioten states, Canada and Australia. Most matwiag sites are owned although a
number of small sites are leased. We also owmn3ini@ls in 3 states and lease 39 terminal facilitie20 states and Canada. We listed the
principal locations at or from which our produciglaservices are manufactured, distributed, or miadkm the tables set forth under the captiol
“Products and Services.”

We lease warehouses, terminals and distributianesffand space for executive and branch salessféind service departments.
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Saltville

We have completed all work in connection with refa#dn of mercury contamination at the site of tammer mercury cell chlor alkali
plant in Saltville, VA required to date. In mid@® the Trustees for natural resources in the Neotlk Holston River, the Main Stem Holston
River, and associated floodplains, located in Snayith Washington Counties in Virginia and in Sullivend Hawkins Counties in Tennessee
notified us of, and invited our participation im assessment of alleged damages to natural resaasdting from the release of mercury. The
Trustees also notified us that they have made lanpnary determination that we are potentially lialor natural resource damages in said
rivers and floodplains. We agreed to participatehe assessment. We and the Trustees have emtrelilscussions concerning a resolutio
this matter. In light of the ongoing discussionsl énherent uncertainties of the assessment, weotan this time determine whether the
financial impact, if any, of this matter will be teaial to our financial position or results of opgons. See “Environmental Matters” contained
in Item 7—"Management’s Discussion and Analysis-ofancial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Other

As part of the continuing environmental investigatby federal, state, and local governments ofevdistposal sites, we have entered
into a number of settlement agreements requiring participate in the investigation and cleanup olumber of sites. Under the terms of suc
settlements and related agreements, we may baeddoimanage or perform one or more elementssiéaleanup, or to manage the entire
remediation activity for a number of parties, andsequently seek recovery of some or all of suslisdoom other Potentially Responsible
Parties (PRPs). In many cases, we do not knowltimate costs of our settlement obligations attiime of entering into particular settlement
agreements, and our liability accruals for our gditions under those agreements are often subje@ridicant management judgment on an
ongoing basis. Those cost accruals are provideith flmccordance with generally accepted accourgimgiples and our accounting policies set
forth in the environmental matters section in Itém“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finah€iandition and Results of
Operations.”

We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vaother legal actions (including proceedings basedll®ged exposures to asbestos)
incidental to our past and current business ag/itAt December 31, 2012 and 2011, our cons@dlbtlance sheets included liabilities for
these legal actions of $15.2 million and $16.4 imil| respectively. These liabilities do not inaucbsts associated with legal
representation. Based on our analysis, and cairsjdéhe inherent uncertainties associated withditon, we do not believe that it is
reasonably possible that these legal actions vatiemially adversely affect our financial positimash flows or results of operations.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant as of February5, 2013

Name and Age Office Served as an Olin Officer Since
Joseph D. Rupp (62) Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 1996
Frank W. Chirumbole (54) Vice President and President, Chlor Alkali Products 2011
Stephen C. Curley (61) Vice President and Treasurer 2005
Dolores J. Ennico (60) Vice President, Human Resources 2009
John E. Fischer (57) Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2004
G. Bruce Greer, Jr. (52) Vice President, Strategic Planning and Informafieshnology 2005
John L. Mcintosh (58) Senior Vice President, Operations 1999
Thomas J. O’'Keefe (54) Vice President and President, Winchester 2011
George H. Pain (62) Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segretar 2002
Todd A. Slater (49) Vice President, Finance and Controller 2005
Kenneth A. Steel, Jr. (55) Vice President and Executive Vice President, KAeBte 2012
Robert F. Steel (57) Vice President and President, KA Steel 2012

No family relationship exists between any of thexabnamed executive officers, except Messrs. Kelgted R. Steel who are brothers.
No other family relationship exists between anyhef above named executive officers and any of mactbrs. Such officers were electec
serve, subject to the By-laws, until their respecguccessors are chosen.

All executive officers, except Messrs. Chirumb@eKeefe, K. Steel, and R. Steel and Ms. Ennicoghsarved as executive officers for

more than five years.

Frank W. Chirumbole was appointed Vice PresidedtRresident, Chlor Alkali Products effective A8, 2012, and assumed his

current duties on April 28, 2011. From October@itil April 2012, he served as President, Chltkah Products; from 2009 until Septem
2010, he served as Vice President, General MaraB&ach; from 2007 to 2009 he served as Vice Beasj Supply Management; and from
2001 to 2007 he served as Vice President, Manufagtand Engineering, all in the Chlor Alkali Praxdsi Division.

Dolores J. Ennico was elected Vice President, HUResources effective May 1, 2009. Prior to thaetand since October 2005, she
served as Corporate Vice President, Human ResouFresn March 2004 to September 2005, she servdfticasPresident, Administration for
Olin’s Winchester Division and former Metals group.

Thomas J. O’Keefe was appointed Vice PresidentPardident, Winchester effective April 26, 2012, asdumed his current duties on
April 28, 2011. From 2010 to 2011, he served a&siBent, Winchester; from 2008 to 2010, he sergediee President, Operations and
Planning and from 2006 to 2008 he was Vice Presidéanufacturing Operations, in each case, in thecWester Division. From 2001 to
2006, he was Vice President, Manufacturing and iaweging for Olin’s former Brass Division.

Kenneth A. Steel, Jr. was appointed Vice PresidadtExecutive Vice President, KA Steel effectiveglst 22, 2012. Prior to that time
and since 1980, he served as Executive Vice Prasidd<A Steel.

Robert F. Steel was appointed Vice President aaditRrnt, KA Steel effective August 22, 2012. Ptthat time and since 1980, he
served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Af3eel.
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PART Il

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, REL ATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

As of January 31, 2013, we had 4,077 record holdeosir common stock.
Our common stock is traded on the New York StockHaxge.

The high and low sales prices of our common stagkng each quarterly period in 2012 and 2011 ated below. A dividend of $0.20
per common share was paid during each of the foartgrs in 2012 and 2011.

First Second Third Fourth

2012 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Market price of common stock per New York Stock Exege composite transactions

High $ 234¢ $ 222/ $ 234t $ 223

Low 19.7¢ 18.4( 19.3¢ 19.5(
2011
Market price of common stock per New York Stock Exege composite transactions

High $ 230/ $ 27.1¢ $ 24.0¢ $ 21.7¢

Low 17.97 20.6( 17.6¢ 16.11

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of
(or Units) Purchased as Shares (or Units) that

Average Price Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased
Total Number of Shares Paid Announced Plans or Under the Plans or
Period (or Units) Purchased per Share (or Unit) Programs Programs
October 1-31, 2012 — N/A —
November 1-30, 2012 — N/A —
December 1-31, 2012 — N/A —
Total 4,605,729Y

(1) OnJuly 21, 2011, we announced a share repaecprogram approved by the board of directorthimpurchase of up to 5 million shares
of common stock that will terminate on July 21, 20Through December 31, 2012, 394,271 shares &l tepurchased, and 4,605,
shares remained available for purchase under tbgtam.
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Performance Graph

This graph compares the total shareholder returouorrommon stock with the cumulative total retafrthe Standard & Poor’'s 1000
Index (the “S&P 1000”) and a customized peer grolgix companies comprised of: Alliant Techsystems,, The Dow Chemical Company,
Axiall Corporation (formerly known as Georgia G@bérporation), Occidental Petroleum Corporation, RR@stries, Inc. and Westlake
Chemical Corporation.

Comparison of Five Year Cumulative Total Eeturn
.-'|.|1'|nng Ol I'_'nrpan.m:-n. the SEF T0OM [nde:l:. and a Feer Gﬂ:-up
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Peer Group 1) 65 k! 121 114 11%

Copyright® 2013 Sandard & Pood's 3 division of The MoGraw-Hill Compendzs Inc. All rights meervad.

Data is for the five-year period from December 3107 through December 31, 2012. The cumulativemehcludes reinvestment of
dividends. The Peer Group is weighted in accordavith market capitalization (closing stock pricaltiplied by the number of shares
outstanding) as of the beginning of each of the figars covered by the performance graph. We letdclthe weighted return for each year by
multiplying (a) the percentage that each corponrédimnarket capitalization represented of the totatket capitalization for all corporations in
the Peer Group for such year by (b) the total st@der return for that corporation for such year.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

TEN-YEAR SUMMARY

Operations

Sales

Cost of goods sold
Selling and administratior

Loss on restructuring of
businesses

Other operating income

Earnings of non-
consolidated affiliates

Interest expense

Interest and other
(expense) income

Income before taxes from
continuing operations

Income tax provision

Income from continuing
operations

Discontinued operations,
net

Cumulative effect of
accounting changes, net

Net income (loss)
Financial position

Cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments and

restricted cash

Working capital, excluding
cash and cash equivalent
and short-term investmen

Property, plant and
equipment, net

Total assets

Capitalization:
Short-term debt
Long-term debt
Shareholders’ equity

Total capitalization

Per share data

Basic:

Continuing operation

Discontinued
operations, net

Accounting changes,
net

Net income (loss)
Diluted:

Continuing operations $

Discontinued
operations, net

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
($ and shares in millions, except per share data)

$ 2,18 $1,961 $1,58¢ $1,53: $1,768 $1,277 $1,04C $ 95t $ 766 $ 702

1,74¢ 1,574 1,35( 1,227 1,371 1,03t 792 682 63¢ 58¢

177 161 134 13t 137 12¢ 12¢ 12¢ 90 78

9 (11 (34) — — — — — (10) —

8 9 2 9 1 2 7 9 6 —

3 10 3C 38 39 4€ 45 37 9 6

26 30 25 12 13 22 20 2C 20 20

(10) 17€ 2 1 (20) 12 12 2C 5 3

22¢ 38C 77 21C 25¢ 151 163 191 27 26

7€ 13¢€ 12 74 10C 5C 39 74 8 8

15C 242 65 13€ 15¢€ 101 124 117 19 18

— — — — — (110) 26 21 36 (20)

- = _ = — = = — ® _— _ @

$ 15 $ 242 $ 65 $ 13¢ $ 156 $ (9 $ 15C $ 13 $ 55 $ (29

$ 177 $ 357 $ 561 $ 45¢ $ 247 $ 33z $ 27¢ $ 304 $ 147 $ 19C

15C 76 33 91 24 (14) 22¢ 191 23z 16€&

1,03« 88t 67t 69t 63C 504 251 227 20k 20z

2,77¢ 2,45( 2,04¢ 1,932 1,72C 1,731 1,64z 1,80z 1,621 1,44¢

24 12 78 — — 1C 2 1 52 27

69C 524 41¢ 39¢ 252 24¢ 252 257 261 314

99¢ 98¢€ 83( 822 70% 664 54:% 427 35€ 17¢€

$ 1,712 $152: $1,32¢ $122( $ 957 $ 92¢ $ 797 $ 68t $ 66¢ $ 517

$ 187 $30z $08 $17¢/ $208 $13€¢ $17C $ 168 $ 027 $ 0.3

— — — — — (1.4¢) 0.3€ 0.3C 0.5% (0.39)

— — — — — — — (0.0¢) — (0.39)

$ 187 $30: $08 $ 17/ $ 206 $(012) $2.06 $1.87 $ 0.8C $(0.42

18 $29¢ $081 $17: $207 $13¢ $17C $ 168 $ 027 $ 03

— — — — — (1.4¢) 0.3€ 0.2¢ 0.52 (0.34)



Accounting changes,

net — — — — — — — (0.0¢) — (0.3¢)
Net income (loss) $ 188 $29¢ $081 $17¢ $ 207 $(012 $ 206 $ 1.8 $ 08C $(0.42
Common Cash
Dividends 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C
Market price of commor
stock:
High 23.4¢ 27.1¢ 22.3¢ 19.7¢ 30.3¢ 24 .5: 22.6¢ 25.3¢ 22.9¢ 20.5:
Low 18.4( 16.11 14.3¢ 8.97 12.52 15.97 14.22 16.6¢ 15.2( 14.97
Year end 21.5¢ 19.6¢ 20.5: 17.52 18.0¢ 19.3¢ 16.52 19.6¢ 22.0z 20.0¢
Other
Capital expenditures $ 25¢ $ 201 $ 85 $ 13¢ ¢ 18 $ 7€ $ 62 $ 62 $ 38 $ 33
Depreciation 104 97 8% 70 68 47 38 36 33 40
Common dividends paid 64 64 63 63 61 5¢ 58 57 56 47
Purchases of common
stock 3 4 — — — — — — — —
Current ratio 1.7 2.C 2.3 2.8 1.7 1.6 2.2 2.3 2.1 2.1
Total debt to total
capitalization 41.1%  35.2% 37.2% 32.6% 26.4% 28.1% 31.8% 37.1% 46.8% 65.%
Effective tax rate 33.€%  36.2% 15.7% 35.4% 38.8% 33.1% 24.2% 38.% 29.6% 30.8%
Average common shares
outstanding - diluted 81.C 80.¢ 79.¢ 78.c 76.1 74.% 72.¢ 71.€ 68.4 58.2
Shareholders 4,10( 4,40( 4,60( 4,90( 5,10(C 5,30( 5,70( 6,10( 6,40( 6,80(
Employees? 4,10( 3,80( 3,70( 3,70( 3,60( 3,60( 3,10¢ 2,90( 2,80( 2,70(

Our Selected Financial Data reflects the followlinginesses as discontinued operations: Metals éassin 2007 and Olin Aegis in
2004. Since August 31, 2007, our Selected Finhbata reflects the Pioneer acquisition. Sincertraty 28, 2011, our Selected Financial
Data reflects the acquisition of the remaining 5@P&unBelt. Since August 22, 2012, our Selectedudral Data reflects the acquisition of

Steel.

(1) Employee data exclude employees who workematrnment-owned/contractoperated facilitie:
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
BUSINESS BACKGROUND

Our operations are concentrated in three busireggaents: Chlor Alkali Products, Chemical Distribatand Winchester. Chlor Alkali
Products and Winchester are both capital intensigaufacturing businesses. Chlor Alkali operatizigs are closely tied to the general
economy. Each segment has a commodity elemettand therefore, our ability to influence priciisgquite limited on the portion of the
segment’s business that is strictly commodity. Ohllor Alkali Products and Chemical Distributiondmesses are commodity businesses
where all supplier products are similar and pricthe major supplier selection criterion. We hitdle or no ability to influence prices in this
large, global commodity market. Cyclical price 8gs, driven by changes in supply/demand, can hepabnd significant and, given capacity
in our Chlor Alkali Products business, can leadldny significant changes in our overall profitatyili Winchester also has a commodity eler
to its business, but a majority of Winchester amitlmmis sold as a branded consumer product whemestare opportunities to differentiate
certain offerings through innovative new productelepment and enhanced product performance. \&bilgpetitive pricing versus other
branded ammunition products is important, it isthetonly factor in product selection.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS AND HIGHLIGHTS
2012 Year
KA Steel Acquisitior

On August 22, 2012, we acquired privately-held Kiaeh, on a debt free basis, for $336.6 millionastt, after receiving the final
working capital adjustment of $1.9 million. The plase price is still subject to certain post-clgsdjustments related to a contingent liability.
As of the date of acquisition, KA Steel had castl eash equivalents of $26.2 million. KA Steel i @f the largest distributors of caustic soda
in North America and manufacturers and sells bleatche Midwest. As part of the acquisition, we erped $8.3 million of acquisition costs
during 2012.

For segment reporting purposes, KA Steel comptisesewly created Chemical Distribution segment. @aults for the year ended
December 31, 2012 include KA Steel sales of $156lBn and $4.5 million of segment income, whicttiudes depreciation and amortization
expense of $5.5 million, primarily associated vifie acquisition fair valuing of KA Steel.

As a result of acquiring KA Steel, we anticipatalizng approximately $35 million of annual synergiat the end of three years. These
synergies include opportunities to sell additior@limes of products we produce such as caustic $bekzch, hydrochloric acid and potassium
hydroxide through KA Steel and to optimize freigbst and logistics assets between Chlor Alkali Betgland KA Steel. Also, under the terms
of the acquisition, both parties agreed to makelaation under Section 338(h)(10) of the U.S. iImi#Revenue Code (U.S. IRC) that is
expected to result in cash tax benefits to ustthmé a net present value of approximately $60 onilli

Financing

In August 2012, we sold $200.0 million of 5.5% semotes (2022 Notes) with a maturity of August 2822. The 2022 Notes were
issued at par value. Interest will be paid semidatly beginning on February 15, 2013. The acquisitf KA Steel was partially financed with
proceeds of $196.0 million, after expenses of $dilllon, from the 2022 Notes.

In June 2012, we redeemed $7.7 million of induktiévelopment and environmental improvement taxygtebonds (industrial revenue
bonds) due in 2017. We paid a premium of $0.2 arillio the bond holders, which was included in egeexpense. We also recognized a $0.Z
million deferred gain in interest expense relatethe interest rate swaps, which were terminatédarch 2012, on these industrial revenue
bonds. In December 2012, we repaid $12.2 millioa dader the annual requirements of the SunBeltNote

On April 27, 2012, we entered into a new $265 wiillfive-year senior revolving credit facility, whiceplaced the $240 million senior
revolving credit facility and a $25 million lettef credit facility. The new credit facility will eire in April 2017. Borrowing options and
restrictive covenants are similar to those of aevpus $240 million senior revolving credit fatili The $265 million senior revolving credit
facility includes a $110 million letter of creditisfacility and a $50 million Canadian subfacility.
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Restructurings

On December 9, 2010, our board of directors appt@vplan to eliminate our use of mercury in the afacture of chlor alkali
products. Under the plan, the 260,000 tons of argreell capacity at our Charleston, TN facilitylvde converted to 200,000 tons of
membrane capacity capable of producing both patashydroxide and caustic soda. The board of dirsalso approved a plan to reconfig
our Augusta, GA facility to manufacture bleach aligtribute caustic soda, while discontinuing ctdtkali manufacturing at this site. We ba
our decision to convert and reconfigure on seviabrs. First, during 2009 and 2010 we had expeed a steady increase in the number of
customers unwilling to accept our products manuf@ct using mercury cell technology. Second, thexs federal legislation passed in 2008
governing the treatment of mercury that signifibatimits our recycling options after December 2012. We concluded that exiting mercury
cell technology production after 2012 representedraacceptable future cost risk. Further, the ecsien of the Charleston, TN plant to
membrane technology will reduce the electricitygesper ECU produced by approximately 25%. Thegitito reconfigure the Augusta, GA
facility to manufacture bleach and distribute causbda removes the highest cost production capfoitn our system. Mercury cell chlor
alkali production at the Augusta, GA facility waisebntinued at the end of September, 2012 andaheecsion at Charleston, TN was
completed in the second half of 2012 with the sssfté start-up of two new membrane cell lines. Bhastions reduced Chlor Alkali capacity
by 160,000 tons. The completion of these projelatsimates our chlor alkali production using mercesfl technology.

On November 3, 2010, we announced that we had thaddecision to relocate the Winchester centepiistnl and rifle ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @ud, MS. This relocation, when completed, is fastdo reduce Winchester's annual
operating costs by approximately $30 million. Weexct the centerfire relocation project to geneYdiechester operating cost savings of $10
million to $15 million in 2013. Consistent with thielocation decision we initiated an estimatedd$hlllion five-year project, which includes
approximately $80 million of capital spending. Thiate of Mississippi and local governments haewiged incentives which should offset
approximately 40 percent of the capital spendiimyOctober 2011, we opened the new centerfire lpéstd rifle production facility in Oxford,
MS and the pistol and rifle ammunition manufactgraguipment continues to be in the process of bedlogated and started up. During 2012
approximately 66% of Winchestsrpistol ammunition was manufactured in Oxford, M8e currently expect to complete this relocatigrtte
end of 2016. Once completed, Winchester expediate the most modern centerfire ammunition pradadacility in North America.

Our total restructuring charges for 2012, 2011 200 related to these actions were $8.5 millio®, $million and $34.2 million,
respectively. The restructuring charges includeitevoff of equipment and facility costs, accel@atof asset retirement obligations, employe
severance and related benefit costs, non-cashgueasd other postretirement benefits curtailmeatgés, lease and other contract terminatiol
costs, employee relocation costs, and facility eagts. We expect to incur approximately $16 onllof additional restructuring charges
associated with these actions through the end 16.20

Other Highlights

In 2012, Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income #2§3.2 million, an increase of 7% compared to 2@Egment income was higher
than the prior year, as a result of higher progictes and the ownership of SunBelt for the fulipe. These increases were partially offset by
decreased chlorine and caustic soda volumes. Qpgrates in Chlor Alkali Products for 2012 and 2@tere 80%.

Our 2012 ECU netbacks of approximately $575 werehigter than the 2011 netbacks of approximately0gfite to higher caustic soda
prices partially offset by lower chlorine prices.the first quarter of 2012, a caustic soda pmocegase was announced of $45 per ton and a
chlorine price increase was announced of $40 peritothe second quarter of 2012, we announcediditi@nal $60 per ton caustic soda price
increase. In the third quarter of 2012, an add#i@austic soda price increase was announced op&7ton. Finally, in the fourth quarter of
2012, an additional caustic soda price increaseanasunced for $50 per ton. The fourth quarterddf2weakness in chlorine demand resulte
in a chlorine price that declined from the thirdagier 2012 level. Chlorine prices in our systemehdeclined for six consecutive quarters and
we expect an additional decline from the fourthrtpreof 2012 to the first quarter of 2013. The chile price decline in the fourth quarter of
2012 from the third quarter of 2012 was more thiised by improved caustic soda pricing. In the fauquarter, caustic soda prices in the Olin
system reached the highest level since the seaaartieq of 2009. As a result, ECU netbacks imprdverh approximately $560 in the third
quarter of 2012 to approximately $580 in the foutiarter of 2012. While the success of the fouttarter 2012 caustic soda price increase is
not yet known, we do not believe this caustic smdee increase will have a meaningful impact onfirst quarter 2013 ECU netbacks. As a
result of the anticipated lower chlorine prices,expect first quarter 2013 ECU netbacks to be 8ligbwer than the fourth quarter 2012 level.
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Winchester segment income was $55.2 million in 2€drapared to $37.9 million in 2011. The increasedgment income compared to
last year reflects the impact of higher sellinges and increased volumes, partially offset by drigiperating costs and incremental costs
associated with our ongoing relocation of the cdinéeoperations to Oxford, MS.

Other operating income in 2012 included $4.9 millaf insurance recoveries for business interruptébated to an outage of one of our
Chlor Alkali customers in the first half of 2012.

Income before taxes for 2012 and 2011 included #&0llion and $11.4 million, respectively, of recaies from third parties for
environmental costs incurred and expensed in peoiods.

Income tax expense for 2012 included $6.6 millibtaa benefits associated with the Agricultural @teals Security Tax Credit under
Section 450 of the U.S. IRC (Section 450), whichieygartially offset by $3.6 million of tax expersssociated with remeasurement of
deferred taxes, changes in tax contingencies anelgense associated with previously undistribefehings from our Winchester Australia
Limited subsidiary. Income tax expense for 2011uded $7.3 million of adjustments associated witkraeasurement of deferred taxes due t
an increase in state tax effective rates, the atipir of statutes of limitation in federal and statrisdictions, and the finalization of our 2010
domestic and Canadian income tax returns. Incomexpense for 2011 also included a discrete defdee expense of $76.0 million relatec
the tax effect of the gain recorded on the remeamsant of our previously held 50% equity interesBimBelt.

Capital spending of $255.7 million for 2012 incldd&108.1 million for the conversion of our ChartestTN facility from mercury cell
technology to membrane technology, $58.6 milliontf@ construction of low salt, high strength ble&acilities at our McIntosh, AL;
Henderson, NV; and Niagara Falls, NY chlor alkéksand $16.1 million for our ongoing relocatidroar Winchester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations. The conversion of ouar@&ston, TN facility was completed in the secoalf bf 2012 with the successful start-up
of two new membrane cell lines and we also comgliie salt, high strength bleach facilities at Mosh, AL and Niagara Falls, NY in the
first and third quarters of 2012, respectively.

2011 Year
SunBelt Acquisition

On February 28, 2011, we acquired PolyOne’s 50%rést in SunBelt for $132.3 million in cash plus #ssumption of a PolyOne
guarantee related to the SunBelt Notes. Withabduisition, Olin now owns 100% of SunBelt. ThaBalt chlor alkali plant, which is locat:
within our Mclintosh, AL facility, has approximateBb0,000 tons of membrane technology capacity.ald@ agreed to a three year earn out,
which has no guaranteed minimum or maximum, baseti® performance of SunBelt. In conjunction with acquisition, we consolidated 1
SunBelt Notes with a fair value of $87.3 milliorr the remaining principal balance of $85.3 milliasof February 28, 2011.

During 2011, our consolidated results included $3illion of SunBelt sales and $27.2 million ofd#tbnal SunBelt pretax income
($38.7 million included in Chlor Alkali Productsgreent income; less $0.8 million of acquisition sp$4.0 million of interest expense and
$6.7 million of expense for our earn out liabiliy) the 50% interest we acquired. Finally, thel2fsults included a one-time pretax, non-
cash gain of $181.4 million associated with theeasurement of our previously held 50% equity irgeire SunBelt. In conjunction with this
remeasurement, a discrete deferred tax expensg&d #illion was recorded.

Other Highlights

In 2011, Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income 245.0 million, which more than doubled comparethv2010. Chlor Alkali
Products’ segment income included $38.7 milliomaditional income from the acquisition of the renirag 50% interest in SunBelt. Chlor
Alkali Products also realized improved product esi¢or 2011 compared to 2010. Operating rateshlor@lkali Products for 2011 and 2010
were 80% and 82%, respectively. The combinatioplafined multi-month outages by two chlorine cugtsrand a weakening of chlorine
demand negatively impacted shipment volumes in 2011

24




Our 2011 ECU netbacks of approximately $570 wefé Bgher than the 2010 netbacks of approximateR®s$4n the first quarter of
2011, three caustic soda price increases were anaduotaling $150 per ton. In March 2011, we alsnounced a $60 per ton chlorine price
increase. In the third quarter of 2011, an additicaustic soda price increase was announcedfopér ton, which replaced a late second
quarter announced caustic soda price increasesop&2ton. Finally, in the fourth quarter of 20&h, additional caustic soda price increase
announced for $80 per ton. The fourth quarter E@thacks were approximately $590, which was ttst diecline in price since the low point
in our system in the third quarter of 2009. EGithbacks in the fourth quarter declined slightlynirthe third quarter levels of approximately
$595 as chlorine prices weakened, driven by a redlievel of chlorine demand, which more than offseteases in caustic soda prices.

Winchester segment income was $37.9 million in 2€drhpared to $63.0 million in 2010. The Winchestgment income declined
from the surge levels of 2010 and 2009. The dser@a2011 compared to 2010 reflected the impabtgifer commodity metals and other
material costs, higher manufacturing costs ancemental costs associated with our ongoing relocatfahe centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations to Oxford, MS, partialfiset by higher selling prices.

Other operating income for 2011 included a gaifi2¥ million on the sale of a former manufactursitg and $1.9 million of insurance
recoveries related to our Oxford, MS and St. Gabli& facilities.

Income before taxes for 2011 and 2010 included4sddillion and $7.2 million, respectively, of recaies from third parties for
environmental costs incurred and expensed in peoiods.

Income tax expense for 2011 included $7.3 millibadjustments associated with a remeasurementfefrdd taxes due to an increas
state tax effective rates, the expiration of seulf limitation in federal and state jurisdictipaad the finalization of our 2010 domestic and
Canadian income tax returns. Income tax expens20fbl also included a discrete deferred tax ex@en$76.0 million related to the tax eff
of the gain recorded on the remeasurement of mviquisly held 50% equity interest in SunBelt. Imeptax expense for 2010 included $13.5
million of favorable adjustments associated with éxpiration of statutes of limitation in domestitd foreign jurisdictions and a reduction in
expense related to the release of a valuation alee recorded against the foreign tax credit carvwdrd deferred tax asset generated by our
Canadian operations.

In December 2011, we repaid the $75.0 million 9%2Senior Notes (2011 Notes) issued in 2001, and2&hillion due under the anm
requirements of the SunBelt Notes. These wereeradd using cash. Also during December 2011, we tite remaining $36.0 million of
variable rate Go Zone bonds that were issued i 20he associated cash was classified as a testitang-term asset. On December 31,
2011, there was a $51.7 million restricted cashriz that is required to be used to fund capitgkepts in Alabama, Mississippi, and
Tennessee.

Capital spending of $200.9 million for 2011 incldd&51.0 million for our ongoing relocation of ourizghester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations and $60.0 million for tk@version of our Charleston, TN facility from merg cell technology to membrane
technology. The capital spending for the ongoingdiester relocation of $51.0 million was partidilyanced by $31.0 million of grants
received by the State of Mississippi and local goreents. The full amounts of these grants wereived in 2011. The 2011 capital spending
also included $20.4 million for the constructioni@iv salt, high strength bleach facilities at ouclhtosh, AL; Henderson, NV; and Niagara
Falls, NY chlor alkali sites.

2010 Year
In 2010, Chlor Alkali Productsegment income was $117.2 million, a decrease ofa@¥pared with 2009. Chlor Alkali Products be
to experience improved chlorine and caustic sodaathel during 2010 and experienced an increased déwdach sales. Volumes for chlorine

and caustic soda improved 15% compared to 2009ewhiumes for bleach improved 18%. OperatinggateChlor Alkali Products for 2010
and 2009 were 82% and 70%, respectively.
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Our 2010 ECU netbacks of approximately $475 werd@®@R&r than the 2009 netbacks of approximately $52Wever, the pricing trer
was positive throughout 2010 as ECU netbacks isecaequentially from the low level of approximat®875 in the third quarter of
2009. The fourth quarter of 2010 ECU netbacks wa@proximately $515. As business conditions imptbthroughout 2010, our quarterly
chlor alkali operating rates improved year-overryeaching a 91% operating rate during the sumraerashd season. A significant portion of
the North American chlor alkali demand improvemearine from exports of products made from chlorimiveth by the energy advantage the
North American chemical producers enjoy by usingired gas as compared to crude oil. With demandbédh chlorine and caustic so
improving, price increases were announced througth@uyear. During February 2010, an $80 per trstic soda price increase was
announced. We began realizing a portion of thisegncrease in caustic soda in the second quair@010. Caustic soda demand continued t
improve, and as a result, during the third quaste2010, three additional caustic soda price ireesavere announced totaling $135 per
ton. We began realizing the benefits from theggegncreases and from contracts that re-set aananal basis in the first half of 2011.

Winchester segment income of $63.0 million in 20&Bich represented the second highest level of sagimcome in at least the last
two decades, declined 8% compared to 2009 segmeornie of $68.6 million. The higher than normaklevof commercial demand that beg
in the fourth quarter of 2008 continued throughgbeond quarter of 2010. Beginning with the tigudrter of 2010, Winchester began to
experience a decline in commercial demand fron20@9 levels. However, the second half of 2010 cencial demand remained stronger
than 2007 levels. Commercial volumes, excludingfire, for 2010 decreased approximately 12% frold@lvels.

Income before taxes for 2010 included $7.2 millddmecoveries from third parties for environmergasts incurred and expensed in
periods.

Income tax expense for 2010 included $13.5 milbbfavorable adjustments associated with the etipimaf statutes of limitation in
domestic and foreign jurisdictions and a reductioexpense related to the release of a valuatiowahce recorded against the foreign tax
credit carryforward deferred tax asset generatedunyCanadian operations.

In September 2010, we redeemed industrial revennddtotaling $18.9 million, with maturity dateskebruary 2016 and March
2016. We paid a premium of $0.4 million to the ddmwlders, which was included in interest expenste also recognized a $0.3 million
deferred gain in interest expense related to ttegént rate swaps, which were terminated in A@¥l® on these industrial revenue bonds. In
October 2010, we redeemed additional industris¢mere bonds totaling $1.8 million, with a maturigtel of October 2014.

In October 2010, we completed a financing of Go&Zand Recovery Zone tax-exempt bonds totaling $T@lidn due 2024. We had
the option to borrow up to the entire $70.0 milliora series of draw downs through December 3112@uring 2010, we drew $34.0 million
of these bonds. The proceeds from these bondeguéed to be used to fund capital project spamdinour Mcintosh, AL facility. In
December 2010, we completed a financing of Reco¥ene tax exempt bonds totaling $83.0 million du€®33 and 2035. During 2010, we
drew the entire $83.0 million of the bonds. Thegeeds from the bonds are required to be usedtbthe Charleston, TN facility mercury c
conversion and our ongoing Winchester relocatiofthe $117.0 million drawn from the Go Zone and®ery Zone bonds as of December
31, 2010, $102.0 million of the associated cashalessified as a noncurrent asset on our conselidadlance sheet as restricted cash, until
such time as we could request reimbursement offgiimg amounts used to fund the capital projectéliabama, Mississippi and Tennessee.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Healthcarewas signed into law on March 23, 2010 and theltHeare and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010 was signed into law oargh 31, 2010 (collectively the Healthcare ActEhe impact of the Healthcare Acts did
have a material effect on our consolidated findret@tements for the years ended December 31, 2014, and 2010.

CHLOR ALKALI PRODUCTS PRICING

In accordance with industry practice, we calcu@dor Alkali Productsprices on an ECU netbacks basis, reporting and/zingl prices
net of the cost of transporting the products tdamsrs to allow for a comparable means of pricegamisons between periods and with respec
to our competitors. For purposes of determiningE@QU netbacks, we use prices that we realizerasudt of sales of chlorine and caustic sod
to our customers, and we do not include the vafushlorine and caustic soda that is incorporateotier products that we manufacture and
sell.
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Quarterly and annual average ECU nethacks for 28021, and 2010 were as follows, which include S2hBCU netbacks subsequent
to February 28, 2011:

2012 2011 2010
First quarter $ 58t $ 52t $ 44C
Second quarter 57¢ 56C 47C
Third quarter 56C 59¢ 46E
Fourth quarter 58C 59C 51t
Annual average 57& 57C 47¢

As business conditions improved throughout 2010 gorarterly chlor alkali operating rates improveghy-over-year reaching a 91%
operating rate during the summer demand seasaignificant portion of the North American chlor alkdemand improvement came from
exports of products made from chlorine, drivenliyy énergy advantage the North American chemicalymers enjoy by using natural gas as
compared to crude oil. With demand for both clmerand caustic soda improving, price increases ammeunced throughout 2010. During
February 2010, an $80 per ton caustic soda prare@se was announced. We began realizing a patitris price increase in caustic soda in
the second quarter of 2010. Caustic soda demanmtthaed to improve, and as a result, during thedtquarter of 2010, three additional caustic
soda price increases were announced totaling $&8®p. We began realizing the benefits from thpgee increases and from contracts that
re-set on an annual basis in the first half of 2011

Our 2011 ECU netbacks of approximately $570 wefé Bigher than the 2010 netbacks of approximate®s$4n the first quarter of
2011, three caustic soda price increases were anaduotaling $150 per ton. In March 2011, we alsnounced a $60 per ton chlorine price
increase. In the third quarter of 2011, an add#iaaustic soda price increase was announcedtopér ton, which replaced a late second
guarter announced caustic soda price increasebop&2ton. Finally, in the fourth quarter of 204, additional caustic soda price increase
announced for $80 per ton. The fourth quarter EB@thacks were approximately $590, which was ttst diecline in price since the low point
in our system in the third quarter of 2009. EClbaeks in the fourth quarter declined slightly fréme third quarter levels of approximately
$595 as chlorine prices weakened, driven by a ediievel of chlorine demand, which more than offseteases in caustic soda prices.

Our 2012 ECU netbacks of approximately $575 werehigher than the 2011 netbacks of approximately0%$¥e to higher caustic soda
prices partially offset by lower chlorine prices.the first quarter of 2012, a caustic soda pmocegase was announced of $45 per ton and a
chlorine price increase was announced totalingggtGon. In the second quarter of 2012, we annaliaoeadditional $60 per ton caustic soda
price increase. In the third quarter of 2012, aditamhal caustic soda price increase was annouat8a@0 per ton. Finally, in the fourth quarter
of 2012, an additional caustic soda price increesg announced for $50 per ton. The fourth quaft@0d2 weakness in chlorine demand
resulted in a chlorine price that declined from tthied quarter 2012 level. Chlorine prices in oystem have declined for six consecutive
quarters and we expect an additional decline ftoerfourth quarter of 2012 to the first quarter ®13. The chlorine price decline in the fourth
quarter of 2012 from the third quarter of 2012 wase than offset by improved caustic soda pricinghe fourth quarter, caustic soda price
the Olin system reached the highest level sinces¢leend quarter of 2009. As a result, ECU netbangsoved from approximately $560 in the
third quarter of 2012 to approximately $580 in therth quarter of 2012. While the success of thetfoquarter 2012 caustic soda price
increase is not yet known, we do not believe thisstic soda price increase will have a meaningfiplaict on our first quarter 2013 ECU
netbacks. As a result of the anticipated lower ihéoprices, we expect first quarter 2013 ECU neltbdo be slightly lower than the fourth
quarter 2012 level.

PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Under ASC 715, we recorded an after-tax chargel 6.9 million ($166.8 million pretax) to sharehaisleequity as of December 31,
2012 for our pension and other postretirement plargs charge reflected a 100-basis point decrga$es plans’ discount rate, partially offset
by the favorable performance on plan assets d@@ig@. In 2011, we recorded an after-tax chargg26f0 million ($46.8 million pretax) to
shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2011 fopeunsion and other postretirement plans. Thisgeheeflected a 40-basis point decrease ir
the plans’ discount rate and an unfavorable aciliehiange related to mortality tables, partiallisef by the favorable performance on plan
assets during 2011. In 2010, we recorded an tHiecharge of $26.0 million ($42.3 million pretam)shareholders’ equity as of December 31
2010 for our pension and other postretirement plarss charge reflected a 45-basis point decrgafee plans’ discount rate, partially offset
by the favorable performance on plan assets d@@i). The non-cash charges to sharehol@epsity do not affect our ability to borrow unc
our senior revolving credit facility.
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During the third quarter of 2012, the “Moving Ahefad Progress in the 21st Century Act” became [ale new law changes the
mechanism for determining interest rates to be @izedalculating minimum defined benefit pensioarpfunding requirements. Interest rates
are determined using an average of rates of a @bpexiod, which can have the effect of increasiregannual discount rate, reducing the
defined benefit pension plan obligation, and pa&digtreducing or eliminating the minimum annuahéling requirement. The new law also
increased premiums paid to the PBGC. Based onlaargssumptions and estimates, we will not be redub make any cash contributions to
the domestic defined benefit pension plan at l#asugh 2013 and under the new law may not be redud make any additional contributions
for at least the next five years. We do have alsBwmtadian defined benefit pension plan to whichmaele $0.9 million of cash contributions
in 2012 and 2011 and we anticipate less than $mibf cash contributions in 2013. At December 2012, the projected benefit obligation
of $2,072.4 million exceeded the market value sk&sin our qualified defined benefit pension play$91.4 million.

As part of the acquisition of KA Steel, as of Det@m31, 2012, we have recorded a preliminary cgetinliability of $10.0 million for
the withdrawal from a multi-employer defined behension plan.

Components of net periodic benefit (income) costsan

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(% in millions)
Pension benefits $ (21.1) $ (22.5) $ 7.9
Other postretirement benefits 7.4 7.8 7.3

In June 2011, we recorded a curtailment charge df fillion related to the ratification of a newdiand one half year Winchester, East
Alton, IL union labor agreement. In December 2046,recorded a curtailment charge for pension hisnaf$3.2 million and a credit for oth
postretirement benefits of $0.2 million associatéith our ongoing relocation of our Winchester cefite ammunition manufacturing
operations from East Alton, IL to Oxford, MS. Tkezurtailment charges were included in restructucimarges.

In March 2010, we recorded a charge of $1.3 milaseociated with an agreement to withdraw our Hesoahe NV chlor alkali hourly
workforce from a multi-employer defined benefit pem plan.

The service cost and the amortization of prior isereost components of pension expense relateohpbogees of the operating segme
are allocated to the operating segments basedednréispective estimated census data.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(% in millions, except per share data)

Sales $ 2,184 $ 1,961.. $ 1,585.¢
Cost of goods sold 1,748.( 1,573.¢ 1,349.¢
Gross margin 436.1 387.2 236.(
Selling and administration 168.€ 160.€ 134.¢
Restructuring charges 8.t 10.7 34.2
Acquisition costs 8.2 0.€ —
Other operating income 7.€ 8.8 2.t

Operating income 258.¢ 223.¢ 69.¢
Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates 3.C 9.€ 29.¢
Interest expense 26.4 30.4 25.4
Interest income 1.C 1.2 1.C
Other (expense) income (11.3) 175.1 1kt
Income before taxes 225.2 379.¢ 76.€
Income tax provision 75.€ 137.5 12.1
Net income $ 149.¢ $ 24157 $ 64.¢
Net income per common share:

Basic $ 187 $ 3.0z $ 0.82

Diluted $ 1.8 % 29¢ $ 0.81

2012 Compared 2011

Sales for 2012 were $2,184.7 million compared t®@&1L 1 million last year, an increase of $223.diami| or 11%. Sales of the newly
acquired Chemical Distribution segment were $15lBon. Chlor Alkali Products’ sales increased $2inillion, or 2%, primarily due to the
ownership of SunBelt for the full period ($33.1 lioih), higher product prices ($21.0 million) andtigher level of bleach shipments of 11%
compared to 2011 ($13.5 million), partially offést decreased volumes of chlorine and caustic sdti 1 million) and the elimination of
intersegment sales from the Chlor Alkali Produetgnsent to the Chemical Distribution segment ($18illion). Our ECU netbacks, which
include SunBelt subsequent to February 28, 20tteased 1% compared to last year. Winchester selesased by $45.6 million, or 8%,
from 2011, primarily due to higher selling pricaslancreased shipments to domestic commercial mesty partially offset by lower shipme
to law enforcement agencies.

Gross margin increased $49.5 million, or 13%, f20d1, primarily as a result of increased Winchegtess margin ($21.2 million),
higher Chlor Alkali product prices ($21.0 milliorthe ownership of SunBelt for the full period ($&8lion), and additional gross margin
contributed by the newly acquired Chemical Disttibo segment ($8.0 million), partially offset byetimpact of decreased recoveries of $11.3
million from third parties for environmental costgurred and expensed in prior periods. Gross maga percentage of sales was 20% in
2012 and 2011.

Selling and administration expenses in 2012 in@@&8.0 million, or 5%, from 2011, primarily dueitereased salary and benefit costs
of $5.4 million, increased management incentive pensation expense of $4.1 million, which includeskrto-market adjustments on stock-
based compensation, selling and administrationresgeeof the acquired KA Steel operations of $3I8aniand the inclusion of a full period
SunBelts selling and administration expenses of $1.5 onilliThese increases were partially offset by reduecruiting and relocation costs
$4.1 million and a lower level of legal and legelated settlement expenses of $3.6 million. Bgléind administration expenses as a perce
of sales were 8% in 2012 and 2011.

Restructuring charges in 2012 and 2011 of $8.5anithnd $10.7 million, respectively, were primaidlgsociated with exiting the use of

mercury cell technology in the chlor alkali manutagg process and our ongoing relocation of oundester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @xf, MS.
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Acquisition costs in 2012 were related to the asitjon of KA Steel. Acquisition costs in 2011 weedated to the acquisition of the
remaining 50% of SunBelt.

Other operating income in 2012 decreased by $llbmfrom 2011. Other operating income in 2012lided $4.9 million of insurant
recoveries for business interruption related toatage of one of our Chlor Alkali customers in tinst half of 2012. Other operating income in
2011 included a gain of $3.7 million on the sal@ddrmer manufacturing site and $1.9 million afurance recoveries related to our Oxford,
MS and St. Gabriel, LA facilities.

The earnings of non-consolidated affiliates wer@$8illion for 2012, a decrease of $6.6 millionfr@011. On February 28, 2011, we
acquired the remaining 50% interest in SunBelnc8ithe date of acquisition, SunBelt's resultsraréonger included in earnings of non-
consolidated affiliates but are consolidated in financial statements.

Interest expense decreased by $4.0 million in 2pfitharily due to an increase of $6.2 million irp#talized interest, primarily
associated with the conversion of our Charlestdhfacility from mercury cell technology to membrateehnology, partially offset by a higher
level of debt outstanding.

Other (expense) income in 2012 and 2011 includddShillion and $6.7 million, respectively, of exyze for our earn out liability from
the SunBelt acquisition. Other (expense) incon0ibl also included a gain of $181.4 million agsutt of remeasuring our previously held
50% equity interest in SunBelt.

The effective tax rate for 2012 included a $6.68ioml benefit related to the Section 450 creditstiply offset by a $1.6 million expen:
associated with the remeasurement of deferred tax®5.3 million expense associated with changémirtontingencies and a $0.7 million
expense associated with previously undistributediegs from our Winchester Australia Limited suliaigl. After giving consideration to these
four items of $3.0 million, the effective tax rdte 2012 of 34.9% was slightly lower than the 35% | federal statutory rate, primarily due to
favorable permanent tax deductions, such as theesiicrmanufacturing deduction and tax deductibléddnds paid to the Contributing
Employee Ownership Plan (CEOP) and the utilizatiboertain state tax credits, which were partialifset by state income taxes. The effec
tax rate for 2011 included a benefit of $4.9 millielated to remeasurement of deferred taxes dae tacrease in state tax effective rates, a
$4.2 million benefit related to the expiration tdtsites of limitations in federal and state jurisidns, a $1.8 million expense associated witt
finalization of our 2010 domestic and Canadian medax returns and a deferred tax expense of $7@#liOn related to the tax effect of the
gain recorded on the remeasurement of our previdiedt 50% equity interest in SunBelt. After giginonsideration to these four items of
$68.7 million and the SunBelt pretax gain of $18hiflion, the effective tax rate of 34.8% for 20&/As lower than the 35% U.S. federal
statutory rate, primarily due to favorable permdnar deduction items, such as the domestic mahwiag deduction and tax deductible
dividends paid to the CEOP, which were partialfisef by state income taxes.

2011 Compared to 2010

Sales for 2011 were $1,961.1 million compared t&&3.9 million in 2010, an increase of $375.2 moiilior 24%. Chlor Alkali
Products’ sales increased $352.5 million, or 34#tnarily due to the inclusion of SunBelt sales @7$.5 million, higher product prices
($112.5 million), a higher level of bleach shipneeat 15% compared to 2010 ($24.4 million), and éased hydrochloric acid volumes of 12%
compared to 2010 ($36.9 million). Our ECU netbaeWsich include SunBelt subsequent to Februarn2p8], increased 20% compared to
2010. Winchester sales increased by $22.7 milbod%, from 2010, primarily due to increased steépis to domestic commercial customers,
military and international customers.

Gross margin increased $151.2 million, or 64%, f@0d0, primarily as a result of increased ChloraillProducts’ gross margin due to
the contribution from SunBelt ($53.8 million) anttreased product prices ($112.5 million), partialtiset by reduced Winchester gross ma
($23.6 million) resulting from higher commodity aather material costs. Gross margin as a percertbgales increased to 20% in 2011 fromn
15% in 2010.

Selling and administration expenses in 2011 in@@&26.2 million, or 19%, from 2010, primarily diceincreased expenses associated
with the inclusion of SunBelt's selling and admtragion expenses of $9.3 million, higher recruitargd relocation charges of $5.2 million,
increased salary and benefit costs of $5.1 mill@nunfavorable foreign currency impact of $2.4ioml, higher bad debt costs of $1.1 million,
higher consulting charges of $1.0 million and ims®d management incentive compensation of $0.lmilivhich included mark-to-market
adjustments on stock-based compensation. Selfidgadministration expenses as a percentage ofwales8% in 2011 and 2010.
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Restructuring charges in 2011 and 2010 of $10.lamiand $34.2 million, respectively, were primgrilssociated with exiting the use
mercury cell technology in the chlor alkali manutaig process by the end of 2012 and our ongadhgration of our Winchester centerfire
ammunition manufacturing operations from East Althrto Oxford, MS.

Acquisition costs in 2011 were related to the asitjon of the remaining 50% of SunBelt.

Other operating income in 2011 increased $6.3 anilfrom 2010. Other operating income for 2011udeld a gain of $3.7 million on
the sale of a former manufacturing site and $118aniof insurance recoveries related to our OxfoviE and St. Gabriel, LA facilities.

The earnings of non-consolidated affiliates weré$fillion for 2011, a decrease of $20.3 millioarfr 2010, primarily due to the
acquisition of the remaining 50% interest in SunBeht was completed on February 28, 2011. Sinealate of acquisition, SunBelt’s results
are no longer included in earnings of non-constdidaffiliates but are consolidated in our consaikd financial statements.

Interest expense increased by $5.0 million in 2@titnarily due to a higher level of outstanding tlethich includes the SunBelt Notes,
partially offset by lower interest rates.

Other (expense) income in 2011 included a pretax @fe$181.4 million as a result of remeasuring previously held 50% equity
interest in SunBelt, partially offset by $6.7 nali of expense for our earn out liability from thenBelt acquisition. Other (expense) income in
2010 included a $1.4 million recovery from an irtwesnt in corporate debt securities that was writimn 2008.

The effective tax rate for 2011 included a berefi$4.9 million related to remeasurement of defétexes due to an increase in state ta
effective rates, a $4.2 million benefit relatedte expiration of statutes of limitations in fedeaad state jurisdictions, a $1.8 million expense
associated with the finalization of our 2010 doneshd Canadian income tax returns and a defeaedxpense of $76.0 million related to the
tax effect of the gain recorded on the remeasurenfesur previously held 50% equity interest in Beit. After giving consideration to these
four items of $68.7 million and the SunBelt pretmin of $181.4 million, the effective tax rate @.8% for 2011 was lower than the 35% U.S.
federal statutory rate, primarily due to favorapégmanent tax deduction items, such as the donmastieifacturing deduction and tax
deductible dividends paid to the CEOP, which wemially offset by state income taxes. The effeetax rate for 2010 included a $9.2 mill
reduction in expense associated with the expiraifastatutes of limitation in domestic and forejgrisdictions, and a $4.3 million reduction in
expense related to the release of a valuation aliee recorded against the foreign tax credit carvwdrd deferred tax asset generated by our
Canadian operations. After giving consideratioth&se two items of $13.5 million, the effectivéerfor 2010 of 33.3% was lower than the
35% U.S. federal statutory rate primarily due teofable tax benefits of permanent tax deductiomstesuch as the domestic manufacturing
deduction and tax deductible dividends paid toGEOP, which were offset in part by state incomesax
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SEGMENT RESULTS

We define segment results as income (loss) befibeedst expense, interest income, other operatimnie, other (expense) income, and

income taxes and include the results of non-codatdd affiliates. Consistent with the guidancA8C 280 “Segment Reporting” (ASC 280),
we have determined it is appropriate to includediberating results of non-consolidated affiliateshie relevant segment financial results.
Intersegment sales of $18.1 million for the yeateghDecember 31, 2012, representing the sale sficaoda, bleach and hydrochloric acid to
Chemical Distribution from Chlor Alkali Productg, @arices that approximate market, have been elitathirom Chlor Alkali Products segment

sales.

Years ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

Sales: ($ in millions)

Chlor Alkali Products $ 1,410.t $ 1,389.0 % 1,036.¢
Chemical Distribution 156.% — —
Winchester 617.¢€ 572.( 549.:
Total sales $ 2,184." $ 1,961.. $ 1,585.¢
Income before taxes:
Chlor Alkali Products? $ 2632 % 245.C % 117.2
Chemical Distribution 4t — —
Winchester 55.2 37.¢ 63.C
Corporate/Other:
Pension incom& 27.2 27.¢ 24.€
Environmental expengd (8.9 (7.9 9.
Other corporate and unallocated costs (70.9) (66.€) (64.2)
Restructuring charge$ (8.5 (20.9) (34.2)
Acquisition cost$® (8.9 (0.9 —
Other operating incom@ 7.€ 8.8 2.5
Interest expens@ (26.9) (30.9) (25.9)
Interest income 1.C 1.2 1.C
Other (expense) incontd (11.9) 175.1 1.5

Income before taxes $ 225 $ 3794 § 76.€

(1) Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates arguded in the Chlor Alkali Products segment resoidissistent with management’s
monitoring of the operating segment. The earnfry® non-consolidated affiliates were $3.0 milli&9.6 million and $29.9 million for
the years ended 2012, 2011 and 2010, respecti@tyfebruary 28, 2011, we acquired the remainir®g Blerest in SunBelt. Since the
date of acquisition, SunBelt’s results are no lorigeluded in earnings of non-consolidated affémbut are consolidated in our
consolidated financial statements.

(2) The service cost and the amortization of psEnvice cost components of pension expense refiatibe employees of the operating
segments are allocated to the operating segmessl lan their respective estimated census dateoti#dr components of pension costs
are included in corporate/other and include iteothss the expected return on plan assets, inmyssand recognized actuarial gains
and losses. Pension income for the year endedi28ll@led a charge of $1.3 million associated \aithagreement to withdraw our
Henderson, NV chlor alkali hourly workforce frommaulti-employer defined benefit pension plan.

(3) Environmental expense for the years ended,220P1 and 2010 included $0.1 million, $11.4 miiliand $7.2 million, respectively, of
recoveries from third parties for costs incurred arpensed in prior periods. Environmental expéngecluded in cost of goods sold in
the consolidated statements of operations.

(4) Restructuring charges for the years ended ,2Z80P1 and 2010 were primarily associated withiegithe use of mercury cell technology

in the chlor alkali manufacturing process and augaing relocation of our Winchester centerfire amition manufacturing operations
from East Alton, IL to Oxford, MS.

32




(5) Acquisition costs in 2012 were related to dlequisition of KA Steel. Acquisition costs in 20Wgre related to the acquisition of the
remaining 50% of SunBelt.

(6) Other operating income for the year ended 20&®Rded $4.9 million of insurance recoveriesiiasiness interruption related to an
outage at one of our Chlor Alkali customers infirgt half of 2012. Other operating income for frear ended 2011 included a gain of
$3.7 million on the sale of a former manufactursitg and $1.9 million of insurance recoveries eglab our Oxford, MS and St. Gabr
LA facilities.

(7) Interest expense was reduced by capitalizeddst of $7.4 million, $1.2 million and $0.9 mlfi for the years ended 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively.

(8) Other (expense) income for the year ended 2022011 included $11.5 million and $6.7 millioespectively, of expense for our earn
out liability from the SunBelt acquisition. Othexpense) income for the year ended 2011 also iedlacpretax gain of $181.4 million
as a result of remeasuring our previously held 80ty interest in SunBelt. The income tax pravisfor the year ended 2011 incluc
a $76.0 million discrete deferred tax expense @salt of the remeasurement of the SunBelt investm®ther (expense) income for the
year ended 2010 included a $1.4 million recovenynfia $26.6 million investment in corporate debusiies, whose full value we
written off in 2008.

Chlor Alkali Products
2012 Compared to 2011

Chlor Alkali Products’ sales for 2012 were $1,41iflion compared to $1,389.1 million for 2011, imrease of $21.7 million, or
2%. The significant factors impacting the saleseéase were higher product prices ($21.0 milliorg ecreased SunBelt sales of $33.1 millior
for the additional two months of our ownership.e&th volumes increased 11% for 2012 compared tgdas, which increased sales by $13.5
million. These increases were partially offsetdegreased volumes of chlorine and caustic sod&wpfahich decreased sales by $19.1 million
and the elimination of intersegment sales fromQ@héor Alkali Products segment to the Chemical Diistiion segment ($18.1 million). Our
ECU netbacks, which include SunBelt subsequenttoiary 28, 2011, were approximately $575 for 2€drdpared to approximately $570
2011. Freight costs included in the ECU netbankesiased 4% for 2012, compared to last year, piiyrdue to higher railroad freight rates.
Our operating rate for 2012 and 2011 was 80%. Weudis product prices in more detail above undeloiCklkali Products Pricing.”

Chlor Alkali Products generated segment income263%2 million for 2012, compared to $245.0 millifam 2011, an increase of $18.2
million. Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income waigher primarily due to higher product prices (¥2tillion) and higher SunBelt earnings
for the additional two months of our ownership @#illion), primarily related to higher ECU netbacand $7.5 million of additional income
on the remaining 50% interest we acquired. Theseases were partially offset by decreased volyftek 1 million).

2011 Compared to 2010

Chlor Alkali Products’ sales for 2011 were $1,388illion compared to $1,036.6 million for 2010, imsrease of $352.5 million, or
34%. The acquisition of SunBelt contributed sae$170.5 million for 2011. Chlor Alkali Productsales, excluding SunBelt, increased
$182.0 million, or 18%. The sales increase wamarily due to higher product prices ($112.5 mil)ioBleach volumes increased 15% for
2011 compared to 2010, which increased sales byl$2dlion and hydrochloric acid volumes incread@d6 compared to 2010, which
increased sales by $36.9 million. Chlorine andstiaisoda volumes increased 1% from 2010. Our B€acks, which include SunBelt
subsequent to February 28, 2011, were approxim@gQ for 2011 compared to approximately $475 fiif® Freight costs included in the
ECU netbacks increased 20% for 2011 compared t0,3@imarily due to higher railroad freight rate@ur operating rate for 2011 was 80%
compared to our operating rate of 82% in 2010. AWiEL operating rate was affected by the combinaifgplanned multi-month outages by
two chlorine customers and a weakening of chlod@mand. We discuss product prices in more detail@binder “Chlor Alkali Products
Pricing.”

Chlor Alkali Products posted segment income of $24#illion for 2011, compared to $117.2 million 2010, an increase of $127.8
million, or 109%. Chlor Alkali Products’ segmentbme was higher primarily due to higher produatgs ($112.5 million), higher SunBelt
earnings ($53.8 million) and increased volumesQ$8illion). The higher SunBelt earnings primarnigtated to $38.7 million of additional
income on the remaining 50% interest we acquiredragher ECU netbacks. These increases were ladféset by increased operating costs
($46.5 million), primarily raw materials and elécity.
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Chemical Distribution

For segment reporting purposes, KA Steel comptlsesiewly created Chemical Distribution segmene KA Steel results of
operations have been included in our consolidatedlts for the period subsequent to the effectate df the acquisition. Our results for 2012
include KA Steel sales of $156.3 million and $4.#8ion of segment income, which includes depreoatand amortization expense of $5.5
million, primarily associated with the acquisiti€air valuing of KA Steel.

Winchester
2012 Compared to 2011

Winchester sales were $617.6 million for 2012 comagdo $572.0 million for 2011, an increase of $4fillion, or 8%. Sales of
ammunition to domestic commercial customers wegbdri by $49.8 million. This increase was partialtiset by a reduction in shipments to
law enforcement agencies of $5.0 million. Shipregatmilitary and international customers were caraple to last year.

Winchester reported segment income of $55.2 mill@r2012 compared to $37.9 million for 2011, acraase of $17.3 million, or
46%. The increase in segment income in 2012 cosalpar2011 reflected the impact of higher selliniggs ($20.1 million) and increased
volumes ($8.2 million). These increases were partidfset by higher operating costs ($9.2 millipimcluding incremental costs associated
with our ongoing relocation of the centerfire amition manufacturing operations to Oxford, MS, ahd impact of higher commodity and
other material costs ($1.8 million). The increméntssts associated with our ongoing relocatiorhefdenterfire operations to Oxford, MS
increased in 2012 compared to 2011 by $1.4 million.

2011 Compared to 2010

Winchester sales were $572.0 million for 2011 coragdo $549.3 million for 2010, an increase of $2aillion, or 4%. Sales of
ammunition to domestic commercial customers inaeé&10.2 million, shipments to military and intefonal customers increased $7.9 mill
and $7.2 million, respectively, and shipments ttustrial customers, who primarily supply the comstion sector, increased $1.2
million. These increases were partially offsetdyer shipments to law enforcement agencies of &8li&n.

Winchester reported segment income of $37.9 mill@r2011 compared to $63.0 million for 2010, ardase of $25.1 million, or
40%. The decrease in segment income in 2011 cadpar2010 reflected the impact of higher commontigtal and other material costs
($25.1 million), higher operating costs ($15.3 ioil) including incremental costs associated withangoing relocation of the centerfire
ammunition manufacturing operations to Oxford, M&tially offset by higher selling prices ($15.7llioh). The incremental costs associated
with our ongoing relocation of the centerfire opienas to Oxford, MS increased in 2011 comparedd®®2by $4.0 million.

Corporate/Other
2012 Compared to 2011

For 2012, pension income included in corporatefotvees $27.2 million compared to $27.8 million f@12. On a total company basis,
defined benefit pension income for 2012 was $21iltlom compared to $22.5 million for 2011. Pensionome on a total company basis for
2011 included a curtailment charge of $1.1 mill&msociated with our ongoing relocation of our Wistler centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @xf, MS, which was included in the restructuringrgfes for 2011.

Charges to income for environmental investigatorg eemedial activities were $8.3 million for 201@&wpared to $7.9 million for 2011,
which included $0.1 million and $11.4 million, respively, of recoveries from third parties for costcurred and expensed in prior
periods. Without these recoveries, charges tonmector environmental investigatory and remediaiviteds would have been $8.4 million for
2012 compared to $19.3 million for 2011. Theseagbs related primarily to expected future investigaand remedial activities associated
with past manufacturing operations and former westposal sites.
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For 2012, other corporate and unallocated coste %&0.7 million compared to $66.6 million for 20&h, increase of $4.1 million, or
6%. The increase was primarily due to increasedtastirement obligation and legacy site chard&2at million, the elimination of
intersegment profits in inventory on sales from @fdor Alkali Products segment to the Chemical ftistion segment of $1.1 million, higher
stock-based compensation of $1.0 million, primardgulting from mark-to-market adjustments and &igdalary and benefit costs of $0.9
million. These increases were partially offset Hgwaer level of legal and legal-related settlemexpiense of $1.4 million.

2011 Compared to 2010

For 2011, pension income included in corporatefotras $27.8 million compared to $24.6 million f@1D. Pension income for 2010
included a charge of $1.3 million associated wittagreement to withdraw our Henderson, NV chloalatkourly workforce from a multi-
employer defined benefit pension plan. On a tobahpany basis, defined benefit pension income @d2vas $22.5 million compared to $1
million for 2010. Pension income on a total comphasis for 2011 and 2010 included curtailment geaof $1.1 million and $3.2 million,
respectively, associated with our ongoing reloeatibour Winchester centerfire ammunition manufeotyoperations from East Alton, IL to
Oxford, MS, which were included in the restructgrcharges for 2011 and 2010.

Charges to income for environmental investigatarg eemedial activities were $7.9 million for 201dngpared to $9.1 million for 2010,
which included $11.4 million and $7.2 million, respively, of recoveries from third parties for costcurred and expensed in prior
periods. Without these recoveries, charges tonrector environmental investigatory and remediaivét@s would have been $19.3 million for
2011 compared with $16.3 million for 2010. Thebarges related primarily to expected future ingegtiry and remedial activities associated
with past manufacturing operations and former weisposal sites.

For 2011, other corporate and unallocated coste %&6.6 million compared to $64.2 million for 2050, increase of $2.4 million, or
4%. The increase was primarily due to higher gadad benefit costs of $2.6 million, increased tisstEement obligation and legacy site
charges of $1.2 million, an unfavorable foreignrency impact of $1.0 million and higher consulteigarges of $0.5 million. These increases
were partially offset by a lower level of legal dedal-related settlement expenses of $2.6 mibind decreased management incentive
compensation of $0.5 million, primarily due to maokmarket adjustments on stock-based compensation.

2013 OUTLOOK

Net income in the first quarter of 2013 is projelcte be in the $0.40 to $0.45 per diluted shargeaompared with $0.48 per diluted
share in the first quarter of 2012.

In Chlor Alkali Products, the first quarter of 2048gment earnings are expected to decrease comyitinetie first quarter of 2012
earnings of $74.4 million. The expected declineggment earnings anticipates lower ECU netbacksoavet chlorine and caustic soda
shipment volumes. The fourth quarter of 2012 wesagre chlorine demand resulted in a chlorine pitiegt declined from the third quarter 2C
level. Chlorine prices in our system have declifeedsix consecutive quarters and we expect an iaddit decline from the fourth quarter of
2012 to the first quarter of 2013. The chlorineerilecline in the fourth quarter of 2012 from thiedt quarter of 2012 was more than offset by
improved caustic soda pricing. In the fourth quartaustic soda prices in the Olin system reachedighest level since the second quarter of
2009. As a result, ECU netbacks improved from apiprately $560 in the third quarter of 2012 to apgmately $580 in the fourth quarter of
2012. While the success of the fourth quarter 28di#stic soda price increase is not yet known, wealdelieve this caustic soda price incr
will have a meaningful impact on our first quar2éxl3 ECU netbacks. As a result of the anticipabeel chlorine prices, we expect first
quarter 2013 ECU netbacks to be slightly lower ttrenfourth quarter 2012 level.

Chemical Distribution first quarter 2013 segmenmhéewys are expected to increase compared withaietf quarter of 2012 earnings of
$2.6 million. As a result of acquiring KA Steel, waticipate realizing approximately $35 millionarfinual synergies at the end of three years
and $7 million to $10 million of synergies in 20I3ese synergies include opportunities to selltaatthl volumes of products we produce s
as caustic soda, bleach, hydrochloric acid andspaten hydroxide through KA Steel and to optimizsdht cost and logistics assets between
the Chlor Alkali Products and KA Steel businesses.
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Winchester first quarter 2013 segment earninge®pected to improve significantly compared with fingt quarter of 2012 segment
earnings of $10.8 million. Higher commercial volesrand increased selling prices are forecast titiyedg impact the first quarter of 2013
compared to the first quarter of 2012. Beginninguad the time of the November 2012 presidentiaitela, consumer purchases of
ammunition surged significantly above normal demigwels. The surge in demand has been across Alimafhester's commercial product
offerings. The increase in commercial demand caitiustrated by the increase in Winchester’'s conuiaibacklog, which was $310.9 million
at January 31, 2013 compared to $138.3 millionetenber 31, 2012 and $37.6 million at January 8122Winchester anticipates that higher
than normal levels of demand for its commerciat@orers will continue at least into the third quad&2013. Winchester also anticipates that
the price of commodity metals in 2013 will be comgide with 2012.

In October 2011, Winchester opened the new cerggufstol and rifle production facility in Oxford)S and the pistol and rifle
ammunition manufacturing equipment continues tinttee process of being relocated and started upnB 2012, approximately 66% of
Winchester's pistol ammunition was manufacture®iiord, MS. This relocation, which is forecast odompleted in 2016, is forecast to
reduce Winchester's annual operating costs by ajmpedely $30 million. We expect the centerfire @tion project to generate Winchester
operating costs savings of $10 million to $15 miilin 2013.

We anticipate that 2013 charges for environmentatstigatory and remedial activities will be in $E8 million to $22 million
range. We do not believe that there will be reciegeof environmental costs incurred and expensgudior periods in 2013.

We expect defined benefit pension plan income 320 be similar to the 2012 level. Based on dan assumptions and estimates, we
will not be required to make any cash contributitmeur domestic defined benefit pension plan ih®8nd under the new law, we may not be
required to make any additional contributions foleast five years. We do have a small Canadifinet®benefit pension plan to which we
made contributions of $0.9 million in both 2012 &6l 1, and we anticipate cash contributions of fleaa $5 million in 2013.

During the first quarter of 2013, we are anticipgtpretax restructuring charges of approximately $3illion, primarily associated with
our ongoing relocation of our Winchester centerdinemunition manufacturing operations from East Altih to Oxford, MS and exiting the
use of mercury cell technology in the chlor alkainufacturing. We are expecting total pretax vestiring charges for 2013 related to these
projects to be approximately $10 million. We exjtedncur additional restructuring charges thro2g 6 totaling approximately $6 million
related to our ongoing relocation of our Winchestmterfire ammunition manufacturing operationsrfigast Alton, IL to Oxford, MS.

In 2013, we expect our capital spending to be @$h00 million to $130 million range, which incldgpending for a low salt high
strength bleach facility and a hydrochloric acigh@xsion project at our Henderson, NV chlor alkiéddi and spending for our ongoing relocat
of Winchester centerfire ammunition manufacturipgmtions. We expect the Henderson, NV projeckseetoompleted during the first half of
2013. We expect 2013 depreciation and amortizaigrense to be in the $135 million to $140 milliange.

We believe the 2013 effective tax rate will behr 85% to 37% range.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Cash outlays (receipts): ($ in millions)
Remedial and investigatory spending (charged terve$ $ 258 % 23 % 15.7
Recoveries from third parties (0.2 (11.9 (7.2
Capital spending i1z 2.t 1.3
Plant operations (charged to cost of goods sold) 25.1 26.1 24.1
Total cash outlays $ 52 § 405 $ 33.€

Cash outlays for remedial and investigatory adésiassociated with former waste sites and pasatipes were not charged to income
but instead were charged to reserves establishestiétn costs identified and expensed to incomeiar gears. Cash outlays for normal plant
operations for the disposal of waste and the ojperaind maintenance of pollution control equipmamd facilities to ensure compliance with
mandated and voluntarily imposed environmentaligjustandards were charged to income.
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Total environmental-related cash outlays in 20X2eased compared to 2011, primarily driven by desed recoveries from third parties
of costs incurred and expensed in prior periodstallenvironmental-related cash outlays in 201tdased compared to 2010, primarily driven
by remedial and investigatory spending due to tty@émentation of a remedial action plan at a formaste disposal site in 2011, partially
offset by increased recoveries from third partiesasts incurred and expensed in prior periodsallenvironmental-related cash outlays for
2013 are estimated to be approximately $50 millafrwhich approximately $21 million is expecteddi® spent on investigatory and remedial
efforts, approximately $2 million on capital proig@nd approximately $27 million on normal planemions. Remedial and investigatory
spending is anticipated to be lower in 2013 that?2due to completing a remedial action plan armér waste disposal site in
2012. Historically, we have funded our environnaéctpital expenditures through cash flow from agiens and expect to do so in the future.

Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isitestigation and remediation, capital projectsl aarmal plant operations are
expected to range between $45 million to $65 mmlliwer the next several years, $15 million to $3%on of which is for investigatory and
remedial efforts, which are expected to be chaeggdnst reserves recorded on our consolidated tmkstreet. While we do not anticipate a
material increase in the projected annual levelusfenvironmentatelated cash outlays, there is always the podsibiiat such an increase n
occur in the future in view of the uncertainties@sgated with environmental exposures.

Our liabilities for future environmental expendigrwere as follows:

December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(% in millions)

Beginning balance $ 163.1 $ 167.€ $ 166.]
Charges to income 8.4 19.: 16.2
Remedial and investigatory spending (25.5) (23.9) (15.9)
Currency translation adjustments 0.2 0.3 0.¢

Ending balance $ 146 % 163.2 $ 167.¢

In the United States, the establishment and impheatien of federal, state, and local standardegulate air, water and land quality
affect substantially all of our manufacturing ldoas. Federal legislation providing for regulatimithe manufacture, transportation, use, and
disposal of hazardous and toxic substances, anelddiation of contaminated sites, has imposed adhditicegulatory requirements on industry,
particularly the chemicals industry. In additiamplementation of environmental laws, such as thedvrce Conservation and Recovery Act
and the Clean Air Act, has required and will conério require new capital expenditures and willéase plant operating costs. Our Canadiar
facility is governed by federal environmental laagsministered by Environment Canada and by provircigironmental laws enforced by
administrative agencies. Many of these laws ameparable to the U.S. laws described above. Weamphste minimization and pollution
prevention programs at our manufacturing sites.

We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufagjuacilities and former waste
disposal sites. Associated costs of investigaaoy remedial activities are provided for in accomawith generally accepted accounting
principles governing probability and the abilityrsasonably estimate future costs. Our abilitgstimate future costs depends on whether oul
investigatory and remedial activities are in prétiary or advanced stages. With respect to unaskelaims, we accrue liabilities for costs t
in our experience, we may incur to protect ourriggés against those unasserted claims. Our aclalddies for unasserted claims amounted
to $2.4 million at December 31, 2012. With resgedisserted claims, we accrue liabilities baserboredial investigation, feasibility study,
remedial action and operation, maintenance andtoramgy (OM&M) expenses that, in our experience,may incur in connection with the
asserted claims. Required site OM&M expenses siimated and accrued in their entirety for requpedods not exceeding 30 years, which
reasonably approximates the typical duration offmrm site OM&M. Charges or credits to income forastigatory and remedial efforts w
material to operating results in 2012, 2011 and28d may be material to operating results in uggars.
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Environmental provisions charged (credited) to mepwhich are included in cost of goods sold, veeréollows:

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
($ in millions)
Charges to income $ 84 $ 19.5 % 16.3
Recoveries from third parties of costs incurred explensed in prior periods (0.3) (11.9) (7.9)
$ 82 % 7¢ $ 9.1

Total environmental expense

These charges relate primarily to remedial andstigatory activities associated with past manufi@eguoperations and former waste
disposal sites.

Our total estimated environmental liability at #ved of 2012 was attributable to 71 sites, 17 ofclwhiere USEPA National Priority List
(NPL) sites. Ten sites accounted for 77% of omirenmental liability and, of the remaining 61 sit@o one site accounted for more than 3%
of our environmental liability. At seven of thentsites, part of the site is subject to a remadiadstigation and another part is in the long-term
OM&M stage. At two of these ten sites, a remeitiabstigation is being performed. The one remarsite is in long-term OM&M. All ten
sites are either associated with past manufactaiegations or former waste disposal sites. Ndribeoten largest sites represents more than
21% of the liabilities reserved on our consolidatathnce sheet at December 31, 2012 for future@mwiental expenditures.

Our consolidated balance sheets included liakslitbe future environmental expenditures to investigand remediate known sites
amounting to $146.5 million at December 31, 2012 $163.3 million at December 31, 2011, of whicR%5 million and $132.3 million,
respectively, were classified as other noncuriabilities. Our environmental liability amountsdiot take into account any discounting of
future expenditures or any consideration of inscearecoveries or advances in technology. Thebd#itias are reassessed periodically to
determine if environmental circumstances have cbdmond/or remediation efforts and our estimatelafted costs have changed. As a result
of these reassessments, future charges to incombemaade for additional liabilities. Of the $18@nillion included on our consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2012 for future @mviental expenditures, we currently expect toagti$84.3 million of the reserve for future
environmental expenditures over the next 5 yedi®,%million for expenditures 6 to 10 years in thieire, and $43.3 million for expenditures
beyond 10 years in the future. These estimatesudnject to a number of risks and uncertaintiesleasribed in Item 1A “Risk Factors—
Environmental Costs.”

Environmental exposures are difficult to assessifanerous reasons, including the identificatiom@iv sites, developments at sites
resulting from investigatory studies, advancegahhology, changes in environmental laws and réigniand their application, changes in
regulatory authorities, the scarcity of reliabléadgertaining to identified sites, the difficulty assessing the involvement and financial
capability of other PRPs, our ability to obtain trdyutions from other parties and the lengthy tipegiods over which site remediation
occurs. It is possible that some of these mafteesoutcomes of which are subject to various uaggfes) may be resolved unfavorably to us,
which could materially adversely affect our finaadgdosition or results of operations. At Decentbkr2012, we estimate it is reasonably
possible that we may have additional contingentrenmental liabilities of $40 million in additiomtthe amounts for which we have already
recorded as a reserve.
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LEGAL MATTERS AND CONTINGENCIES

We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vatega actions (including proceedings based orgatleexposures to asbestos) incide
to our past and current business activities. Werilge some of these matters in Item 3—"Legal Redioeys.” At December 31, 2012 and
2011, our consolidated balance sheets includeditie® for these legal actions of $15.2 millionda$16.4 million, respectively. These
liabilities do not include costs associated witlillerepresentation. Based on our analysis, ansidering the inherent uncertainties associatec
with litigation, we do not believe that it is reasdly possible that these legal actions will matsriadversely affect our financial position, cast
flows or results of operations.

During the ordinary course of our business, comtimoges arise resulting from an existing condit&ityation, or set of circumstances
involving an uncertainty as to the realization gfassible gain contingency. In certain instanceh ®s environmental projects, we are
responsible for managing the cleanup and remediafi@n environmental site. There exists the fil#tgi of recovering a portion of these
costs from other parties. We account for gainiogeicies in accordance with the provisions of A0 “Contingencies” (ASC 450) and
therefore do not record gain contingencies andgmize income until it is earned and realizable.

LIQUIDITY, INVESTMENT ACTIVITY AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

Cash Flow Data

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Provided by (used for) ($ in millions)

Gain on remeasurement of investment in SunBelt $ — 3 (1819 % =
Net operating activities 279.2 215.¢ 115t
Capital expenditures (255.%) (200.9) (85.9)
Business acquired in purchase transaction, nedsif acquired (310.9 (123.9) —
Restricted cash activity, net 39.¢ 50.3 (102.0
Net investing activities (512.9 (259.6 (159.%)
Long-term debt borrowings (repayments), net 180.1 (51.2) 96.:
Earn out payment - SunBelt (15.9 — —
Net financing activities 93.€ (110.9) 44.:

Operating Activities

For 2012, cash provided by operating activitieséased by $63.3 million from 2011, primarily duehigher earnings and a decrease in
working capital in 2012. For 2012, working capiiiaicreased $18.4 million compared to an increa§2®f0 million in 2011. The decrease in
2012 was primarily due to decreased inventoriegl@t9 million, primarily at Winchester. The 201Zkdrom operations was also impacted by
a $13.1 million decrease in cash tax payments.

For 2011, cash provided by operating activitieseased by $100.4 million from 2010, primarily doehigher earnings, partially offset
by a larger increase in working capital. In 20dibrking capital increased $22.0 million comparethven increase of $9.7 million in
2010. Receivables increased during 2011 by $2@l@mas a result of higher sales in the fourttagar of 2011 compared to
2010. Inventories increased from December 31, 291%17.0 million, partially due to our ongoingaeétion of our Winchester centerfire
ammunition manufacturing operations from East Altanto Oxford, MS. Accounts payable and accruedilities increased from December
31, 2010 by $15.6 million. The 2011 cash from afiens was also impacted by a $47.4 million incedascash tax payments. In 2011, we
made cash contributions to our Canadian qualifefthdd benefit pension plan of $0.9 million commhwéth $9.8 million in 2010.
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Capital Expenditures

Capital spending was $255.7 million, $200.9 milliand $85.3 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respelit Capital spending for 2012
and 2011 included $108.1 million and $60.0 millicgspectively, for the conversion of our CharlesttN facility from mercury cell
technology to membrane technology and $58.6 millind $20.4 million, respectively, for the constroitof low salt, high strength bleach
facilities at our MclIntosh, AL, Henderson, NV anéabiara Falls, NY chlor alkali sites. Capital spergdior 2012 and 2011 also included $16.1
million and $51.0 million, respectively, for ourgoing relocation of our Winchester centerfire amitian manufacturing operations. The
capital spending for the ongoing Winchester reliocatvas partially financed by $31 million of gramovided by the State of Mississippi and
local governments. The full amounts of these grardre received in 2011. Capital spending in 28&Mided bleach manufacturing and ble
shipping by railroad expansion projects at threewfChlor Alkali facilities. Capital spending wa45%, 206%, and 100% of depreciation in
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The conversion of our Charleston, TN facility wasnpleted in the second half of 2012 with the susftgstart-up of two new
membrane cell lines. We also completed low sadffy Istrength bleach facilities at Mcintosh, AL aniddéra Falls, NY in the first and third
quarters of 2012, respectively, and expect the m@ntalow salt, high strength facility at HendersdtV to be completed during the first qua
of 2013. These three new facilities will increas&l bleach manufacturing capacity by an additi&@@ over 2011 capacity. These low salt,
high strength bleach facilities manufacture bleaith approximately twice the concentration, whittosld significantly reduce transportation
costs.

In 2013, we expect our capital spending to be é$th00 million to $130 million range, which incldspending for a low salt, high
strength bleach facility and a hydrochloric acigh@xsion project at our Henderson, NV chlor alkiéddi and spending for our ongoing relocat
of Winchester centerfire ammunition manufacturipgmtions. We expect the Henderson, NV projeckeetoompleted during the first half of
2013.

Investing Activities

On August 22, 2012, we acquired KA Steel and paghof $310.4 million, after receiving the finalkimg capital adjustment of $1.9
million, net of $26.2 million of cash acquired. Tperchase price is still subject to certain possitlg adjustments related to a contingent
liability.

On February 28, 2011, we acquired the remaining B@@test in SunBelt and paid cash of $123.4 mmllimet of $8.9 million of cash
acquired.

In 2011 and 2010, we drew $36.0 million and $11illion, respectively, of Go Zone and Recovery Zdwoads issued in 2010. The
proceeds of these bonds are required to be udeddacapital projects in Alabama, Mississippi, drehnessee. As of December 31, 2012,
$11.9 million of the proceeds have not been usedaa classified as a noncurrent asset on our tidater balance sheet as restricted cash. |
2012, 2011 and 2010, we utilized $39.8 million, $8@iillion and $15.0 million, respectively, of t® Zone and Recovery Zone proceeds to
fund qualifying capital spending.

During 2012 and 2011, we entered into sale/leasetransactions for caustic soda barges and chloaihears that we acquired during
2012 and 2011. In 2012 and 2011, we received posfrom the sales of $4.4 million and $3.2 miljicespectively.

Financing Activities

In August 2012, we sold $200.0 million of 2022 Noweith a maturity date of August 15, 2022. The 2D@2es were issued at par value.
Interest will be paid semi-annually beginning obfeary 15, 2013. The acquisition of KA Steel wadipfly financed with proceeds of $196.0
million, after expenses of $4.0 million, from th@22 Notes.

In June 2012, we redeemed industrial revenue bimtakng $7.7 million with a maturity date of 20\K.e paid a premium of $0.2
million to the bond holders, which was includedriterest expense. We also recognized a $0.2 mitleferred gain in interest expense related
to the interest rate swap, which was terminatddanch 2012, on these industrial revenue bonds.

In December 2012 and 2011, we repaid $12.2 mitioa under the annual requirements of the SunBe&dNén December 2011, we
also repaid the $75.0 million 2011 Notes, whichaee due.
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In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥one bonds totaling $83.0 million due 2033 26d5. During December
2010, we drew the entire $83.0 million of the banés of December 31, 2012, $11.9 million of theqeeds remain with the trustee and are
classified as a noncurrent asset on our consotidziance sheet as restricted cash, until suchéaswee request reimbursement of qualifying
amounts used for our ongoing Winchester relocation.

In October 2010, we completed a financing of Go&Zand Recovery Zone bonds totaling $70.0 millioa 8024. We drew $36.0
million of these bonds in 2011 and $34.0 millior2®10. As of December 31, 2012, all proceeds baea utilized for capital project spending
at our Mclntosh, AL facility.

In September 2010, we redeemed industrial revennddtotaling $18.9 million, with maturity dateskebruary 2016 and March
2016. We paid a premium of $0.4 million to the &dmwlders, which was included in interest expenste also recognized a $0.3 million
deferred gain in interest expense related to ttegént rate swaps, which were terminated in A@l® on these industrial revenue bonds. In
October 2010, we redeemed additional industris¢mere bonds totaling $1.8 million, with a maturigtel of October 2014.

During 2012, we paid $18.5 million for the earn celaaited to the 2011 SunBelt performance. The 2@ttt out payment included $15.3
million that was recognized as part of the origimaichase price. The $15.3 million is includeddmancing activity in the statement of cash
flows.

In 2012, 2011 and 2010, we issued 0.1 million;rillion; and 0.2 million shares with a total valog$1.4 million, $9.3 million and $3
million, respectively, representing stock optiorsreised. In addition, during 2012, 2011 and 20®jssued zero; zero; and 0.6 million sh
of common stock, respectively, with a total valdieero, zero and $10.2 million, respectively, te tBlin CEOP. Effective September 23, 2(
our CEOP began to purchase shares in the open niatleu of our issuing shares to satisfy the stwgent in our common stock resulting fr
employee contributions, our matching contributicesirement contributions and re-invested dividenB#fective February 1, 2011, we
reinstated the match on all salaried and certambargained hourly employees’ contributions, whield previously been suspended effective
January 1, 2010.

We purchased and retired 0.2 million shares in 20422011, with a total value of $3.1 million artiZmillion, respectively, under the
share repurchase program approved by our boardexftors on July 21, 2011.

The percent of total debt to total capitalizatiooreased to 41.7% at December 31, 2012, from 3ai2¢éar-end 2011 and 37.4% at
yearend 2010. The 2012 increase was primarily dwehigher level of longerm debt at December 31, 2012 resulting from ¢kadnce of th
2022 Notes. The 2011 decrease from 2010 was doeply to higher shareholders’ equity resultingnfrthe net income for the year ended
December 31, 2011, partially offset by a higheelef long-term debt at December 31, 2011.

Dividends per common share were $0.80 in 2012, 20t112010. Total dividends paid on common stoc&warted to $64.1 million,
$64.0 million and $63.3 million in 2012, 2011 ar@llP, respectively. On January 25, 2013, our boadirectors declared a dividend of $0.20
per share on our common stock, payable on MarcRA13 to shareholders of record on February 113201

The payment of cash dividends is subject to therei®on of our board of directors and will be daetared in light of then-current
conditions, including our earnings, our operatiang, financial condition, our capital requiremeatsl other factors deemed relevant by our
board of directors. In the future, our board @édiors may change our dividend policy, including frequency or amount of any dividend, in
light of then-existing conditions.

LIQUIDITY AND OTHER FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Our principal sources of liquidity are from casldamash equivalents, restricted cash, cash flow fsperations, and short-term

borrowings under our senior revolving credit fagili Additionally, we believe that we have accesthe debt and equity markets.
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Cash flow from operations is variable as a rediuitath the seasonal and the cyclical nature ofoprating results, which have been
affected by seasonal and economic cycles in matiyeoindustries we serve, such as the vinyls, areth, bleach, ammunition and pulp and
paper. The seasonality of the ammunition busingkigsh is typically driven by the fall hunting seas and the seasonality of the vinyls and
bleach businesses, which are stronger in periodsaoher weather, typically cause working capitafltctuate between $50 million to $100
million over the course of the year. Cash flownfroperations is affected by changes in ECU seplimces caused by the changes in the
supply/demand balance of chlorine and caustic segalting in the chlor alkali business having ffigant leverage on our earnings and cash
flow. For example, assuming all other costs rencaimstant and internal consumption remains apprataty the same, a $10 per ECU selling
price change equates to an approximate $15 maliorual change in our revenues and pretax profinwkeare operating at full capacity.

For 2012, cash provided by operating activitieseased by $63.3 million from 2011, primarily duenigher earnings and a decrease in
working capital in 2012. For 2012, working capitacreased $18.4 million compared to an increa$2®0 million in 2011. The decrease in
2012 was primarily due to decreased inventorie&l@t9 million, primarily at Winchester. The 201Zhdrom operations was also impacted by
a $13.1 million decrease in cash tax payments.

Capital spending was $255.7 million, $200.9 milliand $85.3 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respelit Capital spending for 2012
and 2011 included $108.1 million and $60.0 millicgspectively, for the conversion of our Charlestt facility from mercury cell
technology to membrane technology and $58.6 millind $20.4 million, respectively, for the constiroitof low salt, high strength bleach
facilities at our MclIntosh, AL, Henderson, NV anéabiara Falls, NY chlor alkali sites. Capital spegdior 2012 and 2011 also included $16.]
million and $51.0 million, respectively, for ourgoing relocation of our Winchester centerfire amitian manufacturing operations. The
capital spending for the ongoing Winchester reliocatvas partially financed by $31 million of gramovided by the State of Mississippi and
local governments. The full amounts of these grardre received in 2011. Capital spending in 28&ided bleach manufacturing and ble
shipping by railroad expansion projects at threewfChlor Alkali facilities. Capital spending wa45%, 206%, and 100% of depreciation in
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The conversion of our Charleston, TN facility wasnpleted in the second half of 2012 with the susftgstart-up of two new
membrane cell lines. We also completed low sadffy Istrength bleach facilities at Mcintosh, AL aniddéra Falls, NY in the first and third
quarters of 2012, respectively, and expect the m@ntalow salt, high strength facility at HendersdtV to be completed during the first qua
of 2013. These three new facilities will increas&l bleach manufacturing capacity by an additi&@@ over 2011 capacity. These low salt,
high strength bleach facilities manufacture bleaith approximately twice the concentration, whittosld significantly reduce transportation
costs.

In 2013, we expect our capital spending to be @$h00 million to $130 million range, which incldgpending for a low salt high
strength bleach facility and a hydrochloric acigh@xsion project at our Henderson, NV chlor alkiédd and spending for our ongoing relocat
of Winchester centerfire ammunition manufacturipgmtions. We expect the Henderson, NV projeckeetoompleted during the first half of
2013.

The overall use of cash of $139.6 million in 2012rarily reflects the acquisition of KA Steel anapital spending for the conversion of
our Charleston, TN facility, our low salt, highestigth bleach facilities, and our ongoing relocattbour Winchester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations, partially offset by tmegeeds from the issuance of the 2022 Notes. Basedir December 31, 2012 unrestricted
cash balance of $165.2 million, the restricted dzlhnce of $11.9 million, and the availabilityagfproximately $233.3 million of liquidity
from our senior revolving credit facility, we belie we have sufficient liquidity to meet our shagtrh and long-term needs. Additionally, we
believe that we have access to the debt and eqpaitigets.

On July 21, 2011, our board of directors authoriaesthare repurchase program for up to 5 milliomeshaf common stock that will
terminate in three years for any remaining shac¢yet repurchased. We purchased and retired llidmshares in 2012 and 2011 under this
program, at a cost of $3.1 million and $4.2 millioespectively. As of December 31, 2012, we hadlmsed a total of 0.4 million shares un
this program and 4.6 million shares remained aigbhdrto be purchased. The repurchases will beteffiefrom time to time on the open
market, or in privately negotiated transactions.

In August 2012, we sold $200.0 million of 2022 Noteith a maturity date of August 15, 2022. The 2D@2es were issued at par value.

Interest will be paid semi-annually beginning obfeary 15, 2013. The acquisition of KA Steel wadipfly financed with proceeds of $196.0
million, after expenses of $4.0 million, from thex@2 Notes.
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In June 2012, we redeemed industrial revenue bimtakng $7.7 million with a maturity date of 20\K.e paid a premium of $0.2
million to the bond holders, which was includedriterest expense. We also recognized a $0.2 millefarred gain in interest expense related
to the interest rate swap, which was terminatddanch 2012, on these industrial revenue bonds.

Pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated Dec2g)i997, SunBelt sold $97.5 million of Guaradt&enior Secured Notes due
2017, Series O, and $97.5 million of Guaranteeddd&ecured Notes due 2017, Series G. We referege notes as the SunBelt Notes. The
SunBelt Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.23%peum, payable semi-annually in arrears on each d2rand December 22. Beginning on
December 22, 2002 and each year through 2017, $uisBequired to repay $12.2 million of the SunBébtes, of which $6.1 million is
attributable to the Series O Notes and of whicH $illion is attributable to the Series G Notea.cbnjunction with the SunBelt acquisition,
we consolidated the SunBelt Notes with a fair valfi$87.3 million for the remaining principal batanof $85.3 million as of February 28,
2011. In December 2012 and 2011, $12.2 million repsid on these SunBelt Notes.

In December 2011, we repaid the $75.0 million 2Blbtes, which became due in 2011.

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥one tax-exempt bonds totaling $41.0 milliore @035. The bonds were
issued by the Industrial Development Board of tioei@y of Bradley and the City of Cleveland, TN (Futhority) pursuant to a trust indent
between the TN Authority and U. S. Bank Nationat@ddation, as trustee. The bonds were sold to Batik, National Association (PNC
Bank), as administrative agent for itself and adsyate of participating banks, in a private placemender a Credit and Funding Agreement
dated December 27, 2010, between us and PNC Bamdceeds of the bonds were loaned by the TN Authtrius under a loan agreement,
whereby we are obligated to make loan paymentsad@ N Authority sufficient to pay all debt serviaed expenses related to the bonds. Our
obligations under the loan agreement and relatésl bear interest at a fluctuating rate based ordborinterBank Offered Rate (LIBOR). The
financial covenants in the credit agreement mitinose in our senior revolving credit facility. Thends may be tendered to us (without
premium) periodically beginning November 1, 20T3uring December 2010, we drew $41.0 million of lomds. The proceeds from the
bonds are required to be used to fund capital prgjgending for our Charleston, TN facility mercasil conversion and were fully utilized as
of December 31, 2012.

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥one tax-exempt bonds totaling $42.0 milliore @033. The bonds were
issued by the Mississippi Business Finance CorjmrgMS Finance) pursuant to a trust indenture betwMS Finance and U. S. Bank
National Association, as trustee. The bonds welett®e PNC Bank as administrative agent for itselfl a syndicate of participating banks,
private placement under a Credit and Funding Ageserdated December 1, 2010, between us and PNC Buokeeds of the bonds were
loaned by MS Finance to us under a loan agreem#agt,eby we are obligated to make loan payments3dfiance sufficient to pay all debt
service and expenses related to the bonds. Oigatibhs under the loan agreement and relatedbeseinterest at a fluctuating rate based or
LIBOR. The financial covenants in the credit agneat mirror those in our senior revolving credifidy. The bonds may be tendered to us
(without premium) periodically beginning November2D15. During December 2010, we drew $42.0 mmillbd the bonds. The proceeds from
the bonds are required to be used to fund capitgq spending for our ongoing relocation of thengtester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to &, MS. As of December 31, 2012, $11.9 milliortted proceeds remain with the trustee
and are classified as a noncurrent asset on ogotidated balance sheet as restricted cash, wctil 8me as we request reimbursement of
qualifying amounts used for the Oxford, MS Wincleeselocation.

In October 2010, we completed a financing of tagregt bonds totaling $70.0 million due 2024. Thadminclude $50.0 million of Go
Zone and $20.0 million of Recovery Zone. The bondse issued by the Industrial Development Autlyasft Washington County, AL (AL
Authority) pursuant to a trust indenture betweemAlh Authority and U. S. Bank National Associati@s, trustee. The bonds were sold to F
Bank as administrative agent for itself and a syaid of participating banks, in a private placemanter a Credit and Funding Agreement
dated October 14, 2010, between us and PNC Bardce®ds of the bonds were loaned by the AL Authaatus under a loan agreement,
whereby we are obligated to make loan paymentse@t Authority sufficient to pay all debt serviaad expenses related to the bonds. Our
obligations under the loan agreement and relatéal bear interest at a fluctuating rate based orORB The financial covenants in the credit
agreement mirror those in our senior revolving itriatility. The bonds may be tendered to us (aithpremium) periodically beginning
November 1, 2015. We had the option to borrowaughé entire $70.0 million in a series of draw dewrough December 31, 2011. We d
$36.0 million of the bonds in 2011 and $34.0 millia 2010. The proceeds from the bonds are redjtirde used to fund capital project
spending at our Mcintosh, AL facility and were julltilized as of December 31, 2012.
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In September 2010, we redeemed industrial reveonddtotaling $18.9 million, with maturity dateske#bruary 2016 and March
2016. We paid a premium of $0.4 million to the ddmwlders, which was included in interest expenste also recognized a $0.3 million
deferred gain in interest expense related to ttegant rate swaps, which were terminated in A@¥l® on these industrial revenue bonds. In
October 2010, we redeemed additional industris¢mere bonds totaling $1.8 million, with a maturigtel of October 2014.

On April 27, 2012, we entered into a new $265 wilfive-year senior revolving credit facility, whiceplaced the $240 million senior
revolving credit facility and a $25 million lettef credit facility. The new senior revolving creétility will expire in April, 2017. At
December 31, 2012, we had $233.3 million availailder our $265 million senior revolving credit fidgi because we had issued $31.7
million of letters of credit under a $110 millionkfacility. The new senior revolving credit fagilialso has a $50 million Canadian
subfacility. Under the senior revolving creditifiig, we may select various floating rate borrogiaptions. The actual interest rate paid on
borrowings under the senior revolving credit fagils based on a pricing grid which is dependeminughe leverage ratio as calculated unde
terms of the facility at the end of the prior fisgaarter. The facility includes various customeegtrictive covenants, including restrictions
related to the ratio of debt to earnings beforerest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortizgeerage ratio) and the ratio of earnings
before interest expense, taxes, depreciation amdtaation to interest expense (coverage ratio))mg@liance with these covenants is
determined quarterly based on the operating casi¥sffor the last four quarters. We were in comm@@&with all covenants and restrictions
under all our outstanding credit agreements aseginber 31, 2012 and 2011, and no event of défadlbccurred that would permit the
lenders under our outstanding credit agreemerdsdelerate the debt if not cured. In the futuue,ability to generate sufficient operating cast
flows, among other factors, will determine the amiswavailable to be borrowed under these facilitiés of December 31, 2012, there were nc
covenants or other restrictions that limited oufitgito borrow.

At December 31, 2012, we had total letters of ¢reti$35.8 million outstanding, of which $31.7 riolh were issued under our $265
million senior revolving credit facility. The lefts of credit were used to support certain leerga debt, certain workers compensation insur
policies, and certain international pension fundieguirements.

Our current debt structure is used to fund ourregs operations. As of December 31, 2012, wedragltérm borrowings, including tt
current installment, of $713.7 million, of which¥8.9 million was at variable rates. Annual matesitof long-term debt are $23.6 million in
2013, $12.2 million in 2014, $12.2 million in 2018,45.6 million in 2016, $15.1 million in 2017 aadotal of $505.0 million
thereafter. Commitments from banks under our serilving credit facility are an additional soerof liquidity.

In June 2012, we terminated $73.1 milliofinterest rate swaps with Wells Fargo that haehtentered into on the SunBelt Notes in |
2011. The result was a gain of $2.2 million whichH e recognized through 2017. As of December2811,2, $1.8 million of this gain was
included in long-term debt. In March 2012, Citibaekminated $7.7 million of interest rate swapanindustrial development and
environmental improvement tax-exempt bonds dueiti72The result was a gain of $0.2 million , whiebuld have been recognized through
2017. In June 2012, the industrial revenue bonds wexrleemed by us, and as a result, the remaidirzgriillion deferred gain was recognized
in interest expense during 2012. In April 2010jHgzihk terminated $18.9 million of interest rate pwan our industrial revenue bonds due in
2016. The result was a gain of $0.4 million, whiebuld have been recognized through 2016. In Seme 2010, the industrial revenue bond:
were redeemed by us, and as a result, the rema#0i3gmillion gain was recognized in interest exggeduring 2010.

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate sveap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delttligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents is Citibank, a major financial
institution. In October 2011, we entered into $4#8ion of interest rate swaps with equal and cpfgoterms as the $125 million variable
interest rate swaps on the 6.75% senior notes @@ 2016 Notes). We have agreed to pay a fixexitoea counterparty who, in turn, pays us
variable rates. The counterparty to this agreernsesiso Citibank. The result was a gain of $Itillion on the $125 million variable interest
rate swaps, which will be recognized through 20A6.of December 31, 2012, $8.4 million of this gaias included in long-term debt. In
October 2011, we ddesignated our $125 million interest rate swapttihd previously been designated as fair value éed@he $125 millio
variable interest rate swaps and the $125 millieedf interest rate swaps do not meet the criteridaédge accounting. All changes in the fair
value of these interest rate swaps are recordedrtly in earnings.
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In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgoswea $75 million of our underlying fixed-rate deltigations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents was Citibank. In January 2009, we
entered into a $75 million fixed interest rate swagh equal and opposite terms as the $75 millianable interest rate swaps on the 2011
Notes. We agreed to pay a fixed rate to a couatrpvho, in turn, paid us variable rates. Thenterparty to this agreement was Banl
America, N.A. (Bank of America), a major financiastitution. The result was a gain of $7.9 million the $75 million variable interest rate
swaps, which was recognized through 2011. In Jg2@09, we de-designated our $75 million interag swaps that had previously been
designated as fair value hedges. The $75 millammble interest rate swaps and the $75 millioadiinterest rate swap did not meet the cri
for hedge accounting. All changes in the fair eatdi these interest rate swaps were recorded d¢lyriarearnings.

We have registered an undetermined amount of se@with the SEC, so that, from time-to-time, waynissue debt securities,
preferred stock and/or common stock and associededhnts in the public market under that registrastatement.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Our operating lease commitments are primarily &lroad cars but also include distribution, wareting and office space and data
processing and office equipment. Virtually non®of lease agreements contain escalation claustemrent provisions. Assets under capita
leases are not significant.

In conjunction with the St. Gabriel, LA conversiand expansion project, which was completed in dloeth quarter of 2009, we entered
into a twenty-year brine and pipeline supply agreetwith PetroLogistics Olefins, LLC (PetroLogisjc PetroLogistics installed, owns and
operates, at its own expense, a pipeline supplyiimg to the St. Gabriel, LA facility. BeginningbMember 2009, we are obligated to make a
fixed annual payment over the life of the contafc$2.0 million for use of the pipeline, regardlethe amount of brine purchased. We also
have a minimum usage requirement for brine of $@ldon over the first five-year period of the coatt. We have met or exceeded the
minimum brine usage requirements since the incefdhe contract. After the first five-year perjdte contract contains a buy out provision
exercisable by us for $12.0 million.

Our long-term contractual commitments, including tm and off-balance sheet arrangements, consiéted following:

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(% in millions)
Debt obligations $ 7137 % 236 % 244 % 160.7 $ 505.(
Interest payments under debt obligations and
interest rate swap agreemefits 273.( 37.4 72.1 59.: 104.2
Contingent tax liability 41.¢ 11.C 7.1 2.t 21.2
Quialified pension plan contributioffs 1.C 1.C — — —
Non-qualified pension plan payments 66.2 6.2 17.¢ 10.: 31.¢€
Postretirement benefit payments 67.¢ 6.C 11.t 10.7 39.€
Off-Balance Sheet Commitments:
Noncancelable operating leases 268.¢ 54.7 86.¢ 60.5 66.€
Purchasing commitments:
Raw materials 98.1 62.2 35.k 0.2 —
Capital expenditures 13.7 13.7 — — —
Utilities 1kt 11 0.2 0.1 —
Total $ 1545, $ 217.C $ 255.¢ % 304.. $ 768.7

(@) For the purposes of this table, we have asddoreall periods presented that there are no obsingthe principal amount of any variable
rate debt from the amounts outstanding on Dece®he2012 and that there are no changes in thefrateshose in effect at December
31, 2012 which ranged from 0.26% to 8.875%.
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(b) These amounts are only estimated paymentsnasguan annual expected rate of return on pendamassets of 8.0%, and a discount
rate on pension plan obligations of 3.9%. Thesienased payments are subject to significant vasiaind the actual payments may be
more than the amounts estimated. Given the inheraertainty as to actual minimum funding requiesits for qualified defined bene
pension plans, no amounts are included in thietidslany period beyond one year. Based on theufunding requirements, we will
not be required to make any cash contributionkeéadomestic defined benefit pension plan at léastigh 2013. We do have a small
Canadian defined benefit pension plan to which vaeler0.9 million of cash contributions in 2012 20d 1 and we anticipate less than
$5 million of cash contributions in 2013. See di&gion on “Moving Ahead for Progress in the 213ttGey Act” in “Pension Plans” in
the notes to consolidated financial statementseim I8.

Non-cancelable operating leases and purchasing ¢omemts are utilized in our normal course of busgfr our projected needs. For
losses that we believe are probable and whichsasima&ble, we have accrued for such amounts in onsalidated balance sheets. In addition
to the table above, we have various commitmentscantingencies including: defined benefit and peigement healthcare plans (as describe
below), environmental matters (see “Environmentaltetrs” included in ltem 7—*Management’s Discussionl Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”), and litigatclaims (see Item 3—"Legal Proceedings”).

We have several defined benefit and defined cautidh pension plans, as described in the “PensiansP note in notes to consolidated
financial statements in Item 8. We fund the defibenefit pension plans based on the minimum ansaequired by law plus such amounts
deem appropriate. We have postretirement hea#ttdans that provide health and life insurance fitsne certain retired employees and their
beneficiaries, as described in the “PostretirerBamtefits” note in the notes to consolidated finahstatements in Iltem 8. These other
postretirement plans are not pre-funded and exgeargepaid by us as incurred.

We also have standby letters of credit of $35.8ionilof which $31.7 million have been issued threwyr senior revolving credit
facility. At December 31, 2012, we had $233.3 imillavailable under our senior revolving creditiligc

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based upon mwsatidlated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with acoc@uptinciples generally accepted in the Unitedé&ta The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgriat affect the reported amounts of assetslilias, sales and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiegniiicant estimates in our consolidated finansi@tements include goodwill recoverability,
environmental, restructuring and other unusual stditigation, income tax reserves including deddrtax asset valuation allowances, pension
postretirement and other benefits and allowancedobtful accounts. We base our estimates on prperience, facts and circumstances anc
other assumptions. Actual results may differ friin@se estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect the more significant judgments and esémased in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but is reviewed for inmpaent annually in the fourth quarter and/or whé&oumstances or other events
indicate that impairment may have occurred. Omudganl, 2012, we adopted Accounting Standards ép@eBU) 2011-08 “Testing Goodwill
for Impairment” (ASU 2011-08), which permits erggito make a qualitative assessment of whetheniore likely than not that a reporting
unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amobafore applying the two-step goodwill impairmerstteCircumstances that could trigger an
impairment test and are considered as part of uhétgtive assessment that could trigger the tvep-ghpairment test include, but are not
limited to: a significant adverse change in theibess climate; a significant adverse legal juddgrresiverse cash flow trends; an adverse a
or assessment by a government agency; unanticipatagetition; decline in our stock price; and angfigant restructuring charge within a
reporting unit. We define reporting units at thesibess segment level or one level below the basisegment, which for our Chlor Alkali
Products segment are the U.S. operations and Ganagerations. For purposes of testing goodwilirfqpairment, goodwill has been
allocated to these reporting units to the exterglétes to each reporting unit. Based upon oulitgtise assessment, it is more likely than not
that the fair value of our reporting units are geeghan their carrying amounts as of Decembef812. No impairment charges were recorde
for 2012, 2011 or 2010.

In 2011 and 2010, prior to the adoption of ASU 208] we used a discounted cash flow approach teldpithe estimated fair value of
a reporting unit. Management judgment was requimateveloping the assumptions for the discountshdlow model. We also corroborated
our discounted cash flow analysis by evaluatingaaket-based approach that considers earnings bieterest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA) multiples from a representatsample of comparable public companies in thenated industry. An impairment wot
be recorded if the carrying amount exceeded thmattd fair value.

The discount rate, profitability assumptions, terahigrowth rate and cyclical nature of our chldadilbusiness were the material
assumptions utilized in the discounted cash flovdehaised to estimate the fair value of each repguinit. The discount rate reflected a
weighted-average cost of capital, which was catedl®ased on observable market data. Some of da¢adsuch as the risk free or treasury



rate and the pretax cost of debt) were based omérket data at a point in time. Other data (sagthe equity risk premium) were ba
upon market data over time for a peer group of cmes in the chemical manufacturing industry witharket capitalization premium added,
as applicable.
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The discounted cash flow analysis required estispassumptions and judgments about future evétis.analysis used our internally
generated long-range plan. Our discounted cashdlmalysis used the assumptions in our long-rateye gbout terminal growth rates,
forecasted capital expenditures, and changesiumgfwtorking capital requirements to determine thplied fair value of each reporting
unit. The long-range plan reflects managementrjuelg, supplemented by independent chemical indastayyses which provide multi-year
chlor alkali industry operating and pricing foreisas

We believe the assumptions used in our goodwillaiimpent analysis are appropriate and result inoressle estimates of the implied
fair value of each reporting unit. However, givha economic environment and the uncertaintiesrdégg the impact on our business, there
can be no assurance that our estimates and aseus)ptiade for purposes of our goodwill impairmestihg, will prove to be an accurate
prediction of the future. If our assumptions retijag future performance are not achieved, we magqeired to record goodwill impairment
charges in future periods. It is not possiblénat time to determine if any such future impairmeméarge would result or, if it does, whether
such charge would be material.

Environmental

Accruals (charges to income) for environmental eratare recorded when it is probable that a ligltilas been incurred and the amoun
of the liability can be reasonably estimated, bagssh current law and existing technologies. Themeunts, which are not discounted and ar
exclusive of claims against third parties, are sigjd periodically as assessments and remediafiorissprogress or additional technical or le
information becomes available. Environmental castscapitalized if the costs increase the valub@property and/or mitigate or prevent
contamination from future operations. Environméotests and recoveries are included in costs oflgaold.

Environmental exposures are difficult to assessifonerous reasons, including the identificatiom®iv sites, developments at sites
resulting from investigatory studies, advancegahhology, changes in environmental laws and réignisand their application, changes in
regulatory authorities, the scarcity of reliabléadgertaining to identified sites, the difficulty &ssessing the involvement and financial
capability of other PRPs and our ability to obte@gmtributions from other parties and the lengthyetiperiods over which site remediation
occurs. It is possible that some of these mafteesoutcomes of which are subject to various uaggres) may be resolved unfavorably to us,
which could materially adversely affect our finaadgosition, cash flows or results of operations.

Pension and Postretirement Plans

We account for our defined benefit pension plardsraam-pension postretirement benefit plans usitgagial models required by ASC
715. These models use an attribution approactgtrarally spreads the financial impact of changéke plan and actuarial assumptions ove
the average remaining service lives of the empleyed¢he plan. Changes in liability due to changesctuarial assumptions such as discount
rate, rate of compensation increases and mortaktyvell as annual deviations between what wasressand what was experienced by the
plan are treated as gains or losses. The prinaipderlying the required attribution approach &t #amployees render service over their ave
remaining service lives on a relatively smooth asid, therefore, the accounting for benefits ehumgler the pension or non-pension
postretirement benefits plans should follow the saefatively smooth pattern. Substantially allidedl benefit pension plan participants are nc
longer accruing benefits; therefore, actuarial gaind losses are amortized based upon the reméifieimxpectancy of the inactive plan
participants. For the years ended December 32 20d 2011, the average remaining life expectahtyeoinactive participants in the defined
benefit pension plan was 18 years.

One of the key assumptions for the net periodisimncalculation is the expected long-term rateetiirn on plan assets, used to
determine the “market-related value of assetsfie(Tmarket-related value of assets” recognizeedifices between the plardctual return ar
expected return over a five year period). The ireguise of an expected long-term rate of returthermarket-related value of plan assets ma
result in recognized pension income that is greatégss than the actual returns of those plartagsany given year. Over time, however, the
expected long-term returns are designed to appateithe actual long-term returns and, therefomlrén a pattern of income and expense
recognition that more closely matches the pattétheservices provided by the employees. As diffees between actual and expected re
are recognized over five years, they subsequestigi@te gains and losses that are subject to aatosti over the average remaining life
expectancy of the inactive plan participants, adeed in the preceding paragraph.

We use long-term historical actual return inforraafithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of long-term

investment returns and inflation by reference tiemal sources to develop the expected long-tetenafareturn on plan assets as of Decembel
31
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The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomangension postretirement benefit plan accountfigct the rates available on high-
quality fixed-income debt instruments on DecemliepBeach year. The rate of compensation incrisasased upon our long-term plans for
such increases. For retiree medical plan accagniie review external data and our own historicahds for healthcare costs to determine the
healthcare cost trend rates.

Changes in pension costs may occur in the futueetdehanges in these assumptions resulting framauic events. For example,
holding all other assumptions constant, a 100-hasist decrease or increase in the assumed longrtge of return on plan assets would have
decreased or increased, respectively, the 2018atkbenefit pension plan income by approximatefy.&million. Holding all other
assumptions constant, a 50-basis point decreahe iiscount rate used to calculate pension indom2012 and the projected benefit
obligation as of December 31, 2012 would have desee pension income by $0.4 million and increaBegtojected benefit obligation by
$114.0 million. A 50-basis point increase in thigcdunt rate used to calculate pension income@&22and the projected benefit obligation as
of December 31, 2012 would have increased pensmme by $1.5 million and decreased the projecésetfit obligation by $112.0
million. For additional information on long-terrates of return, discount rates and projected hemihcosts projections, see “Pension Plans”
and “Postretirement Benefits” in the notes to tbesolidated financial statements.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standd&dard (FASB) issued ASU 2013-02, which amends 23C This update adds
new disclosure requirements about reclassificatiaiof accumulated other comprehensive incomeudtiag) the effects of these
reclassifications on net income. This update isati¥e for fiscal years beginning after December2l8.2 with early adoption permitted. This
update will not have a material effect on our céidsded financial statements.

In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-02 “Testimdefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairmef&SU 2011-02) which amends
ASC 350 “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other” (ASC 350his update permits entities to make a qualigahssessment of whether it is more
likely than not that an indefinite-lived intangitdsset’s fair value is less than its carrying amdefore performing a quantitative impairment
test. If an entity concludes that it is not makelly than not that the fair value of the indef@ltved intangible asset is less than its carrying
amount, it would not be required to perform thergitative test for that asset. This update isaive for fiscal years beginning after
September 15, 2012 with early adoption permittdte adopted the provisions of ASU 2012-02 during20his update did not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial steats.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08chlvaimends ASC 350. This update permits entiti@sake a qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely than nat ghreporting unit’s fair value is less than ésrging amount before applying the two-step
goodwill impairment test. If an entity concludést it is not more likely than not that the failw@of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, it would not be required to perform the-step impairment test for that reporting unit. Wfwopted the provisions of ASU 2011-08 on
January 1, 2012. This update did not have a nadtefifect on our consolidated financial statements.

During 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05 “Pres@matf Comprehensive Income” (ASU 2011-05) and AB11-12 “Deferral of
the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presemtatif Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumula@tther Comprehensive Income in
Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05" (ASU 2@2}).- These updates require entities to presemsita net income and other
comprehensive income either in one continuousrsetg referred to as the statement of compreheirsieene, or in two separate, but
consecutive, statements of net income and othepreimensive income. We retrospectively adoptegbtbeisions of ASU 2011-05 and ASU
2011-12 on January 1, 2012. These updates requiogdfication of our consolidated financial statertsgpresentation. These updates did not
have a material effect on our consolidated findrstetements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04 “AmendragatAchieve Common Fair Value Measurement andl@ssce Requirements
in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs,” (ASU 2011-04), which ame#&C 820 “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosug&ST 820). This update
clarifies the existing guidance and amends the ingrdsed to describe many of the requirements $1 GAAP for measuring fair value and
for disclosing information about fair value measueats. This update became effective for us onalgriy 2012. This update did not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial steats.
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In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-29 “D&ae of Supplementary Pro Forma Information fasiBess
Combinations” (ASU 2010-29), which amends ASC 8B&isiness CombinationsASC 805). This update clarified that an entitydgquired tc
disclose pro forma revenue and earnings as thdwghusiness combination that occurred during theentperiod had occurred as of the
beginning of the comparable prior annual reporpagod only. In addition, this standard expandsshpplemental pro forma disclosures to
include a description of the nature and amount atiemial nonrecurring pro forma adjustments direatlyibutable to the business combination
included in the reported pro forma revenue andiegsn We adopted the provisions of ASU 2010-29amuary 1, 2011. The adoption of this
update required additional disclosures for our &itijons of KA Steel and the remaining 50% equitierest in SunBelt. This update did not
have a material effect on our consolidated findrat@ements.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

ASC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging” (ASC 815) reqdiemn entity to recognize all derivatives as eitiwgets or liabilities in the
statement of financial position and measure thoseuments at fair value. We use hedge accoufriagment for substantially all of our
business transactions whose risks are covered dsiiative instruments. The accounting treatnoérhanges in fair value is dependent u
whether or not a derivative instrument is desighat® a hedge and, if so, the type of hedge. Firaliwes designated as a fair value hedge
changes in the fair value of both the derivativd e hedged item are recognized in earnings.d€avatives designated as a cash flow hedge
the change in fair value of the derivative is redmgd in other comprehensive loss until the hedtged is recognized in earnings. Ineffective
portions are recognized currently in earnings. dafized gains and losses on derivatives not quadjfior hedge accounting are recognized
currently in earnings. All derivatives recognizaecearnings impact the expense line item on ouschated statement of operations that is
consistent with the nature of the underlying hedged.

We enter into forward sales and purchase conttagtsanage currency risk resulting from purchasesate commitments denominated
in foreign currencies (principally Canadian dobland Australian dollar). All of the currency dettives expire within one year and are for
United States dollar equivalents. At December2B1,2 and 2011, we had no forward contracts to loigelb foreign currencies.

We use cash flow hedges for certain raw materidlearergy costs such as copper, zinc, lead, elégtrgnd natural gas to provide a
measure of stability in managing our exposure toepfituctuations associated with forecasted puretia$ raw materials and energy costs usec
in our manufacturing process. For derivative msients that are designated and qualify as a cashhiédge, the change in fair value of the
derivative is recognized as a component of othermrehensive loss until the hedged item is recoghiz® earnings. Gains and losses on the
derivatives representing hedge ineffectivenessearegnized currently in earnings. Losses on skftleires contracts were $6.5 million ($4.0
million, net of taxes) in 2012, which were includactost of goods sold. Gains on settled futumgracts were $10.3 million ($6.3 million, 1
of taxes), and $8.8 million ($5.4 million, net akes) in 2011 and 2010, respectively, which weckided in cost of goods sold. At December
31, 2012, we had open positions in futures corgrémbugh 2017 totaling $114.2 million (2011—$10&iflion). If all open futures contracts
had been settled on December 31, 2012, we woule fenognized a pretax gain of $7.6 million.

At December 31, 2012, accumulated other comprebemnsss included a gain, net of taxes, in fair gadm commodity forward contracts
of $4.7 million. If commodity prices were to remait the levels they were at December 31, 2012Zpappately $3.1 million of deferred gair
net of tax, would be reclassified into earningsmyithe next twelve months. The actual effect amings will be dependent on commaodity
prices when the forecasted transactions occuDekember 31, 2011, accumulated other compreheltsigencluded a loss, net of taxes, in
value on commodity forward contracts of $5.3 miilio

We use interest rate swaps as a means of manag@ngst expense and floating interest rate expdsusptimal levels. The accounting
for gains and losses associated with changesrindaie of the derivative and the effect on thesobidated financial statements will depend on
the hedge designation and whether the hedge istietfan offsetting changes in fair value of cakiwfs of the asset or liability being
hedged. For derivative instruments that are daseghand qualify as a fair value hedge, the galoss on the derivative as well as the
offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attabié to the hedged risk are recognized in curremtiegs. We include the gain or loss on the
hedged items (fixed-rate borrowings) in the same ifem, interest expense, as the offsetting loggim on the related interest rate swaps. As
of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the total notiomadunt of our interest rate swaps designated asdhie hedges were zero and $80.8 mil
respectively.
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In March 2010, we entered into interest rate svaap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delitligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthvwequal and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabér interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese Gbunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 millianthe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicivhwill be recognized through 2016. As of
December 31, 2012, $8.4 million of this gain waduded in long-term debt. In October 2011, we dsighated our $125 million interest rate
swaps that had previously been designated asdhiewhedges. The $125 million variable interett savaps and the $125 million fixed intel
rate swaps do not meet the criteria for hedge adewy All changes in the fair value of these iet# rate swaps are recorded currently in
earnings.

In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgpswa $75 million of our underlying fixed-rate defiigations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpeig us fixed rates. In January 2009, we entarera $75 million fixed interest rate swap w
equal and opposite terms as the $75 million vagiaiterest rate swaps on the 2011 Notes. We agogeal a fixed rate to a counterparty who
in turn, paid us variable rates. The result wgaia of $7.9 million on the $75 million variabletémest rate swaps, which was recognized
through 2011. In January 2009, we de-designate& i million interest rate swaps that had previpbgen designated as fair value
hedges. The $75 million variable interest ratepssend the $75 million fixed interest rate swaprthtl meet the criteria for hedge
accounting. All changes in the fair value of thederest rate swaps were recorded currently iniegs.

The fair value of our derivative asset and liapibalances were:

December 31,

2012 2011
(% in millions)
Other current assets $ 7€ $ =
Other assets 8.3 13.¢
Total derivative asset $ 15¢ $ 13.¢
Accrued liabilities $ — 10.z
Other liabilities — 1.0
Long-term debt 10.z 12.7
Total derivative liability $ 10z $ 23.¢

The ineffective portion of changes in fair valusuked in zero credited to earnings for the yeaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010.

Our foreign currency forward contracts, certain owrdity derivatives, and our $125 million fixed avatiable interest rate swaps did
meet the criteria to qualify for hedge accountifidie effect on operating results of items not dyalg for hedge accounting was a charge of
$2.0 million, $1.7 million and $0.8 million in 2012011 and 2010, respectively.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafseir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoing
investing and financing activities, and our openagi that use foreign currencies. The risk of tassbe assessed from the perspective of
adverse changes in fair values, cash flows anddgarnings. We have established policies andepoes governing our management of
market risks and the use of financial instrumeatsanage exposure to such risks.

Energy costs including electricity used in our ChAdkali Products segment, and certain raw matergad energy costs, namely copper,
lead, zinc, electricity, and natural gas used prilja our Winchester and Chemical Distributiorgsgents are subject to price
volatility. Depending on market conditions, we neyer into futures contracts and put and callosptiontracts in order to reduce the impa
commodity price fluctuations. As of December 3212, we maintained open positions on futures cotgrataling $114.2 million ($105.6
million at December 31, 2011). Assuming a hypatatL0% increase in commodity prices, which angenily hedged, as of December 31,
2012, we would experience a $11.4 million ($10.6iom at December 31, 2011) increase in our costheéntory purchased, which would be
substantially offset by a corresponding increaghénvalue of related hedging instruments.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates phn@aria result of our investing and financing dtigg. The effect of interest rates on
investing activity is not material to our consotield financial position, results of operations, aslt flows. Our current debt structure is used tc
fund business operations, and commitments from$anker our senior revolving credit facility arsaurce of liquidity. As of December 31,
2012, we had long-term borrowings of $713.7 mill{8536.4 million at December 31, 2011) of which $Bmillion ($155.9 million at
December 31, 2011) was issued at variable rates.
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In June 2012, we terminated $73.1 milliohinterest rate swaps with Wells Fargo that haehbentered into on the SunBelt Notes in |
2011. The result was a gain of $2.2 million whichHi e recognized through 2017. As of December28i1,2, $1.8 million of this gain was
included in long-term debt.

In March 2012, Citibank terminated $7.7 millioninferest rate swaps on our industrial revenue bduesn 2017. The result was a gain
of $0.2 million , which would have been recognitedugh 2017. In June 2012, the industrial revebnreds were redeemed by us, and as a
result, the remaining $0.2 million deferred gairsweacognized in interest expense during 2012.

In April 2010, Citibank terminated $18.9 million witerest rate swaps on our industrial revenue balu@ in 2016. The result was a ¢
of $0.4 million, which would have been recognizertigh 2016. In September 2010, the industrisgmee bonds were redeemed by us, al
a result, the remaining $0.3 million gain was retpegd in interest expense in 2010.

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate sveap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delttligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthwequal and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabér interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese Gbunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 millianthe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicivhwill be recognized through 2016. As of
December 31, 2012, $8.4 million of this gain waduded in long-term debt. In October 2011, we dsighated our $125 million interest rate
swaps that had previously been designated asdhiewhedges. The $125 million variable interett savaps and the $125 million fixed intel
rate swaps do not meet the criteria for hedge adewy All changes in the fair value of these iet# rate swaps are recorded currently in
earnings.

In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgpswa $75 million of our underlying fixed-rate defiigations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpeid us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseagents was Citibank. In January 2009, we
entered into a $75 million fixed interest rate swagh equal and opposite terms as the $75 millianable interest rate swaps on the 2011
Notes. We agreed to pay a fixed rate to a couatrpvho, in turn, paid us variable rates. Thenterparty to this agreement was Banl
America, a major financial institution. The reswhs a gain of $7.9 million on the $75 million \aie interest rate swaps, which was
recognized through 2011.

Assuming no changes in the $155.9 million of vdeatate debt levels from December 31, 2012, weres# that a hypothetical change
of 100-basis points in the LIBOR interest ratesrfr012 would impact annual interest expense by gillln.

The following table reflects the swap activity teldto certain debt obligations:

Swa
Underlying Debt Instrument AmouFr)n Date of Swap December 31, 2012
(% in millions) Olin Pays Floating Rate:
6.75%, due 2016 $ 65.C March 2010 3.54.5%®
6.75%, due 2016 $ 60.C March 2010 3.54.5%®@
Olin Receives Floating Ra
6.75%, due 2016 $ 65.C October 2011 3.54.5%®
6.75%, due 2016 $ 60.( October 2011 3.54.5%®@

(&) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the watifall within the range show
These interest rate swaps reduced interest exjpgrs@.4 million, $7.2 million and $7.0 million iM22, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

If the actual change in interest or commoditiesipg is substantially different than expected,ibeimpact of interest rate risk or
commodity risk on our cash flow may be materialffedtent than that disclosed above.

We do not enter into any derivative financial ingtients for speculative purposes.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMEN TS:

This report includes forward-looking statementfieJe statements relate to analyses and other iafiemthat are based on
management’s beliefs, certain assumptions madeamagement, forecasts of future results and cuesgrectations, estimates and projections
about the markets and economy in which we and atiows segments operate. The statements contaiileid report that are not statement
historical fact may include forward-looking statertsethat involve a number of risks and uncertagntie

We have used the words “anticipate,” “intend,” “nidigxpect,” “believe,” “should,” “plan,” “estimatg “project,” “forecast,”
“optimistic” and variations of such words and siniexpressions in this report to identify such fam¢looking statements. These statements
are not guarantees of future performance and ievodrtain risks, uncertainties and assumptions;hwaie difficult to predict and many of
which are beyond our control. Therefore, actuatomes and results may differ materially from thossters expressed or implied in such
forward-looking statements. We undertake no olibgeto update publicly any forwalddoking statements, whether as a result of futusnts
new information or otherwise.

The risks, uncertainties, and assumptions involaexlir forward-looking statements include thosedésed under Iltem 1A—"Risk

Factors”. You should consider all of our forwaoaking statements in light of these factors. Idiaon, other risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we consider immaltenald affect the accuracy of our forward-lookisigtements.
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Item 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPP LEMENTARY DATA
MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIA L REPORTING

The management of Olin Corporation is responsitee§tablishing and maintaining adequate interaatrol over financial
reporting. Olin’s internal control system was desid to provide reasonable assurance to the corgpaaypagement and board of directors
regarding the preparation and fair presentatigoutslished financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how welsidmed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, efmse systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurande negpect to financial statement preparation apdgntation, and may not prevent or detect
all misstatements.

Management's assessment of the effectivenesserhatcontrol over financial reporting did not inde consideration of the internal
controls of KA Steel, which was acquired on Aug2®f 2012. KA Steel financial results are includediin’s consolidated financial stateme
and constituted total assets of $379.7 million at&nber 31, 2012 and $156.3 million of sales ferythar then ended.

The management of Olin Corporation has assessezffdativeness of the company’s internal contra@rofinancial reporting as of
December 31, 2012, except for KA Steel. In makhig assessment, we used the criteria set forthdZ ommittee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOhiernal Control—Integrated Framewotk guide our analysis and assessment. Base
on our assessment as of December 31, 2012, theary'spinternal control over financial reporting weffective based on those criteria.

Our independent registered public accountants, KRMB, have audited and issued a report on ournaterontrols over financial
reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ John E. Fischer
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of OlinpgDaoation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Olin Corporation and subsidiaries &=oember 31, 2012 and 2011,
and the related consolidated statements of opesmtammprehensive income, shareholders’ equitycastl flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2012. Wehale audited Olin Corporation’s internal contreépfinancial reporting as of December
31, 2012, based orcriteria established imternal Control - Integrated Frameworlssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidns
the Treadway Commission (COSO). Olin Corporation&anagement is responsible for these consolidataddial statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportjrand for its assessment of the effectivenesstefrial control over financial reporting, includ
in the accompanying Management Report on Interoaki®©l over Financial Reporting. Our responsipilg to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and an opinio@km Corporation’s internal control over financrajporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thetstmlobtain reasonable assurance about whethén#reial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all evél respects. Our audits of the
consolidated financial statements included exarginim a test basis, evidence supporting the amaunatslisclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsg significant estimates made by managementgaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. Our audit of internal mmiver financial reporting included obtaining amderstanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a maltereakness exists, and testing and evaluatiagidsign and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. @uitsaalso included performing such other proceslasewe considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits progideasonable basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogdiis a process designed to provide reasonablessesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantegeinerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fittgal reporting includes those policies and procesthat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financékstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and @jige reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companysats that could have a material effect on thentiizd statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of Olin
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 312 201 2011, and the results of its operations @nchsh flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2012, in conifipwith U.S. generally accepted accounting pptes. Also in our opinion, Olin
Corporation maintained, in all material respecffgative internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2012, based on criteria
established imnternal Control - Integrated Framewoigsued by the COSO.

Management’s assessment of the effectivenesserhaltcontrol over financial reporting did not inde consideration of the internal
controls of K.A. Steel Chemicals Inc. (KA Steelhieh was acquired on August 22, 2012. KA Steelrf@ial results are included in Olin
Corporation’s consolidated financial statements enstituted total assets of $379.7 million at Deber 31, 2012 and $156.3 million of sales
for the year then ended. Our audit of internal cardver financial reporting of Olin Corporatiorsalexcluded an evaluation of the internal
control over financial reporting of KA Steel.

/sl KPMG LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
February 25, 2013
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31
(In millions, except per share data)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net:
Trade
Other
Income taxes receivable
Inventories
Current deferred income taxes
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Prepaid pension costs
Restricted cash
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Goodwill
Total assets
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Current installments of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Accrued pension liability
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, par value $1 per share:
Authorized, 120.0 shares;
Issued and outstanding, 80.2 shares (80.1 in 2011)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part of the consolidateshial statements.
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2012 2011
$ 165.; $ 304.¢
279. 220.¢

19.€ 16.

8.2 0.7

195.1 176.¢€

61.2 50.¢

20.2 10.2

749.1 780.

1,034. 885.

2.1 19.2

11.€ 51.7

9.1 —

224.1 85.€

747.1 627.

$ 2,777 $ 2,449 (
$ 236 $ 12.2
174.5 149.7

7.€ —

228. 237.c

434.( 399.]

690.1 524.;

164.: 59.1

110.4 99.€

380. 381.¢

1,779. 1,463.¢

80. 80.1

856.1 852.(

(371.9 (294.)

433.2 347.¢

998. 985.¢

$ 2,777 $ 2,449 ¢




Sales
Operating expenses:
Cost of goods sold
Selling and administration
Restructuring charges
Acquisition costs
Other operating income
Operating income
Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates
Interest expense
Interest income
Other (expense) income
Income before taxes
Income tax provision
Net income
Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Average common shares outstanding:
Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part of the consolidatesh€ial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended December 31

(In millions, except per share data)

2012 2011 2010
$ 2,184, $ 1,961.. $ 1,585.¢
1,748.( 1,573.¢ 1,349.¢

168.¢€ 160.¢€ 134.2

8.5 10.7 34.:

8.2 0.8 —

7.€ 8.8 2.

258.¢ 223.¢ 69.¢

3.C 9.6 29.¢

26.4 30.£ 25.¢

1.C 1.2 1.C

(11.9 175.1 1.5

225.: 379.2 76.¢

75.€ 137.7 12.1

$ 149.6 $ 2417 $ 64.€
$ 1.87 $ 3.0 $ 0.82
$ 1.85 $ 2.9¢ $ 0.81
80.1 80.( 79.:

81.C 80.¢ 79.¢
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Years ended December 31

(In millions)
2012 2011 2010

Net income $ 149.¢ $ 2415 $ 64.¢

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments 0.2 1.4 0.¢
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative contracts 10.C (16.9) —
Pension and postretirement liability adjustmengs, n (201.9 (29.0 (26.0)
Amortization of prior service costs and actuarisdes 14t 12.1 11c¢
Total other comprehensive loss, net of tax (77.7) (32.9 (13.¢)
Comprehensive income $ 728§ 2098 % 51.2

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part of the consolidateh€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In millions, except per share data)

Common Stock

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Shares Par Paid-In Comprehensive Retained Shareholders’
Issued Value Capital Loss Earnings Equity
Balance at January 1, 2010 787 $ 787 $ 823.1 (248.9) $ 168.7 $ 822.:
Net income — — — — 64.¢ 64.¢
Other comprehensive loss — — — (13.6 — (13.¢)
Dividends paid:

Common stock ($0.80 per share) — — — — (63.9) (63.9)
Common stock issued for:

Stock options exercised 0.2 0.2 2.8 — — 3.1

Employee benefit plans 0.€ 0.€ 9.€ — — 10.z

Other transactions 0.1 0.1 2.2 — — 2.3
Stock-based compensation — — 4.5 — — 4.t
Balance at December 31, 2010 79.€ 79.€ 842.: (261.9) 170.Z 830.:
Net income — — — — 241.5 241.%
Other comprehensive loss — — — (32.9 — (32.9
Dividends paid:

Common stock ($0.80 per share) — — — — (64.0) (64.0
Common stock repurchased and retired  (0.2) (0.2 (4.0 — — (4.2
Common stock issued for:

Stock options exercised 0.5 0.t 8.8 — — 9.3

Other transactions 0.2 0.2 3.€ — — 3.€
Stock-based compensation — — 1.3 — — 1.2
Balance at December 31, 2011 80.1 80.1 852.C (294.2) 347.¢ 985.¢
Net income — — — — 149.¢ 149.¢
Other comprehensive loss — — — (77.7) — (77.0)
Dividends paid:

Common stock ($0.80 per share) — — — — (64.7) (64.7)
Common stock repurchased and retired  (0.2) (0.2 (2.9 — — (3.1
Common stock issued for:

Stock options exercised 0.1 0.1 1.3 — — 1.4

Other transactions 0.2 0.2 2.4 — — 2.€
Stock-based compensation — — 3.2 — — 3.8
Balance at December 31, 2012 80.z $ 80.z $ 856.1 $ (371:) $ 433.2 % 998.<

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part of the consolidateh€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31
(In millions)

Operating Activities
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashcasth equivalents provided by

(used for) operating activities:
Gain on remeasurement of investment in SunBelt
Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates
Gains on disposition of property, plant and equipime
Stock-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred taxes
Write-off of equipment and facility included in tascturing charges
Qualified pension plan contributions
Qualified pension plan income
Change in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Income taxes receivable/ payable
Inventories
Other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Other assets
Other noncurrent liabilities
Other operating activities
Net operating activities
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures
Business acquired in purchase transaction, neasif acquired
Proceeds from sale/leaseback of equipment
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant andigment
Distributions from affiliated companies, net
Restricted cash activity, net
Other investing activities
Net investing activities
Financing Activities
Long-term debt:
Borrowings
Repayments
Earn out payment - SunBelt
Issuance of common stock
Common stock repurchased and retired
Stock options exercised
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Dividends paid
Deferred debt issuance costs
Net financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Cash paid (received) for interest and income taxes:

2012 2011 2010
$ 149.6 $ 2417 $ 64.
— (181.9) —
(3.0) (9.6) (29.9
2.1) (6.2) (1.9)
6.2 5.8 6.7
110.€ 99.2 86.¢
42.F 92. 11.2
— — 17.
(0.9) 0.9) (9.9)
(24.9) (26.9) (21.6)
1.2 (26.2) (3.6)
0.1 5. 13.2
17.€ (17.0) (31.9)
(0.1) 0.6 (1.7)
(0.7) 15.€ 14.1
0.2 (0.2) 2.0
17.9 25.€ 2.0
— (2.9) 0.5
279. 215.¢ 115.¢
(255.7) (200.9) (85.9)
(310.9) (123.9) —
4.4 3.2 —
8.6 7.8 3.1
1.3 1. 23.
39. 50.2 (102.0)
(0.9) 1.4 0.9
(512.9) (259.6) (159.7)
200.( 36.C 117.
(19.9 (87.9) (20.%)
(15.9) — —
— — 9.2
3.1) 4.2) —
1.3 8.2 2.9
0.7 1. 0.2
(64.1) (64.0) (63.9)
(6.0) — (1.0
93. (110.9) 44.7
(139.6 (153.9) 0.1
304.¢ 458.¢ 458.
$ 165.. $ 304.6 $ 458.¢




Interest $ 222 % 24¢ $ 24.¢

Income taxes, net of refunds $ 28.4 % 415 $ (5.9

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part of the consolidatesh€ial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorpted in 1892. We are a manufacturer concentiatédee business segments: Chlor
Alkali Products, Chemical Distribution and Wincherst Chlor Alkali Products, with nine U.S. manufaatg facilities and one Canadian
manufacturing facility, produces chlorine and causbda, hydrochloric acid, hydrogen, bleach présland potassium hydroxide. Chemical
Distribution, with twentyseven owned and leased terminal facilities, maruffas bleach products and distributes caustic dddach product:
potassium hydroxide and hydrochloric acid. Wincaeswith its principal manufacturing facilities iast Alton, IL and Oxford, MS, produces
and distributes sporting ammunition, reloading comemts, small caliber military ammunition and comats, and industrial cartridges.

On August 22, 2012, we acquired 100% of privateydHKA Steel, whose operating results are includatie accompanying financial
statements since the date of the acquisition. E@ment reporting purposes, KA Steel comprises ¢hdyncreated Chemical Distribution
segment. KA Steel is one of the largest distritgitifrcaustic soda in North America and manufactaressells bleach in the Midwest.

On February 28, 2011, we acquired PolyOne’s 50%raést in the SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership, whige refer to as SunBelt. The
SunBelt chlor alkali plant, which is located withoor McIntosh, AL facility, has approximately 350@tons of membrane technology
capacity. Previously, we had a 50% ownership @#ein SunBelt, which was accounted for using thetg method of
accounting. Accordingly, prior to the acquisitieve included only our share of SunBelt resultsamags of norconsolidated affiliates. Sin
the date of acquisition, SunBelt's results arear@eér included in earnings of non-consolidatediafés but are consolidated in our
accompanying financial statements.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets requires estimates and assumptions that affeaunts reported and disclosed in
the financial statements and related notes. Actgllts could differ from those estimates.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include tw@ants of Olin Corporation and all majority-owrsdbsidiaries. Investment in our
affiliates are accounted for on the equity methédcordingly, we include only our share of earningdosses of these affiliates in consolidatec
net income. Certain reclassifications were madwiter year amounts to conform to the 2012 presiema

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized on sales of product diftleethe goods are shipped and the risks of owighsve passed to the
customer. Shipping and handling fees billed tdamers are included in sales. Allowances for estit returns, discounts and rebates are
recognized when sales are recorded and are basations market data, historical trends and infdaromafrom customers. Actual returns,
discounts and rebates have not been materiallgrdift from estimates.

Cost of Goods Sold and Selling and Administratigpehses
Cost of goods sold includes the costs of invensory, related purchasing, distribution and warehmusosts, costs incurred for shipp
and handling, depreciation and amortization expesisted to these activities, and environmentalediation costs and recoveries. Selling anc
administration expenses include personnel costxded with sales, marketing and administratiesearch and development, legal and legal
related costs, consulting and professional senfees, advertising expenses, depreciation expetsed to these activities and other similar
costs and foreign currency translation.
Other Operating Income
Other operating income consists of miscellaneosaifmg income items, which are related to ourtess activities, and gains (losses)

on disposition of property, plant and equipment.
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Included in other operating income were the follogvi

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
($ in millions)
Gains on disposition of property, plant and equiptneet $ 21 % 14 $ 1.1
Amortization of 2007 gain on intangible asset ¢edeognized through 2012) 0.2 1.2 1.2
Gains on sale of land — 0.2 —
Gains on dispositions of former manufacturing fties — 3.7 —
Gains on insurance recoveries 4.¢ 1.¢ —
Other 0.2 0.2 0.2
Other operating income $ 7€ $ 8& $ it

The gains on disposition of property, plant andigapent in 2012 and 2011 were primarily associatét the Charleston, TN
conversion project, which was completed in the sddualf of 2012, and in 2010 were primarily asstmawith the St. Gabriel, LA facility
conversion and expansion project, which was coraglet the fourth quarter of 2009. The gain on iaeae recoveries in 2012 was associatec
with business interruption related to an outagers of our Chlor Alkali customers in the first haff2012. The gains on insurance recoveris
2011 related to our Oxford, MS and St. Gabriel, fiagilities.

Other (Expense) Income

Other (expense) income consists of non-operatiognte items which are not related to our primaryiriess activities. Other (expense)
income in 2012 and 2011 included $11.5 million &6d7 million , respectively, of expense for ourreaut liability from the SunBelt
acquisition. Other (expense) income in 2011 alstuited a pretax gain of $181.4 million as a restitemeasuring our previously held 50%
equity interest in SunBelt. Other (expense) incam2010 included a $1.4 million recovery from & million investment in corporate debt
securities, whose full value was written off in 8300

Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency for our Canadian subsidmis the U.S. dollar; accordingly, gains and Isgssulting from balance sheet
translations are included in selling and adminigira Other foreign affiliates’ balance sheet amtsiare translated at the exchange rates in

effect at year-end, and operations statement are@uattranslated at the average rates of excharegailing during the year. Translation
adjustments are included in accumulated other cehgusive loss.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments, with a maturity dfitee months or less at the date of purchase, asdayed to be cash equivalents.

Short-Term Investments

We classify our marketable securities as availédresale, which are reported at fair market valuthwinrealized gains and losses
included in accumulated other comprehensive lasisphapplicable taxes. The fair value of markktaecurities is determined by quoted
market prices. Realized gains and losses on slagestments, as determined on the specific ifleation method, and declines in value of
securities judged to be other-than-temporary arieidted in other (expense) income in the consolitlatatements of operations. Interest and
dividends on all securities are included in intehresome and other (expense) income, respectively.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

We evaluate the collectibility of accounts recelediased on a combination of factors. We estiraatallowance for doubtful accounts
as a percentage of net sales based on historidalddzt experience. This estimate is periodicadiysted when we become aware of a specific
customer’s inability to meet its financial obligatis (e.g., bankruptcy filing) or as a result ofroyes in the overall aging of accounts
receivable. While we have a large number of custsrthat operate in diverse businesses and areagtucglly dispersed, a general economic
downturn in any of the industry segments in whighaperate could result in higher than expectedultsfaand, therefore, the need to revise
estimates for the provision for doubtful accourgsld occur.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or raankith cost being determined principally by tedlar value last-in, first-out (LIFO)
method of inventory accounting. Cost for othereintories has been determined principally by theagescost (primarily Chemical
Distribution inventories, operating supplies, spaaets and maintenance parts) method. Elemerusse$ in inventories include raw materials,
direct labor and manufacturing overhead.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at ddspreciation is computed on a straigihe basis over the estimated useful lives o
related assets. Interest costs incurred to finerpenditures for major long-term construction ect§ are capitalized as part of the historical
cost and included in property, plant and equipnaeidt are depreciated over the useful lives of tletae assets. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the term of the lease or the eséichaseful life of the improvement, whichever isrgio Start-up costs are expensed as
incurred. Expenditures for maintenance and reagsharged to expense when incurred while this adsignificant improvements, which
extend the useful life of the underlying asset,cagitalized.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impent when conditions indicate that the carryiadues of the assets may not be
recoverable. Such impairment conditions includextended period of idleness or a plan of dispoEaduch impairment indicators are present
or other factors exist that indicate that the dagyamount of an asset may not be recoverable etermine whether impairment has occurred
through the use of an undiscounted cash flow aisaffghe lowest level for which identifiable cdlbws exist. The amount of impairment
loss, if any, is measured by the difference betwhemet book value of the assets and the estinfiaitedalue of the related assets.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash, which is restricted as to withélaw usage, is classified separately from cashcastl equivalents on our consolidated
balance sheet. A portion of the proceeds of thelbassued by Alabama, Mississippi and Tennessaag avith their accrued interest income,
remain with a trustee and are classified on ousclidated balance sheet as a noncurrent assesuatiltime as we request reimbursement of
qualifying amounts used to fund capital projectdiabama, Mississippi and Tennessee. As of Dece®be?2012, there remained an $11.9
million restricted cash balance that is requireeéaised to fund capital projects in Mississippi.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We record the fair value of an asset retiremerigatibn associated with the retirement of a targlbhg-lived asset as a liability in the
period incurred. The liability is measured at disated fair value and is adjusted to its presehteven subsequent periods as accretion expen:
is recorded. The corresponding asset retiremests @ve capitalized as part of the carrying amotitite related long-lived asset and
depreciated over the asset’s useful life. Asg@traent obligations are reviewed annually in therth quarter and/or when circumstances or
other events indicate that changes underlyingenant assumptions may have occurred.

62




The activity of our asset retirement obligation easfollows:

December 31,

2012 2011
($ in millions)
Beginning balance $ 67.¢ $ 70.t
Accretion 4.8 5.C
Spending (8.0 (7.3
Currency translation adjustments 0.2 (0.2
KA Steel acquisition 0.4 —
Adjustments 2.t (0.2
Ending balance $ 67.6 $ 67.¢

At December 31, 2012 and 2011 , our consolidatéghba sheets included an asset retirement obligafi$46.5 million and $55.9
million , respectively, which were classified ab@t noncurrent liabilities.

In 2012, we had net adjustments that increaseddbet retirement obligation by $2.5 million , whighre primarily comprised of
increases in estimated costs for certain asse®)1h, we had net adjustments that decreased skeratirement obligation by $0.1 million ,
due to a favorable settlement of our $1.5 millikfigation at one site offset by increased estimatesis for certain assets.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consistsrefgn currency translation adjustments, pensionpstretirement liability
adjustments, pension and postretirement amortizatigrior service costs and actuarial lossesungtalized gains (losses) on derivative
contracts, and net unrealized gains (losses) oketable securities. We do not provide for U.Some taxes on foreign currency translation
adjustments since we do not provide for such taxegndistributed earnings for foreign subsidiatiest have been permanently reinvested.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but is reviewed for inmpaent annually in the fourth quarter and/or whé@oumstances or other events
indicate that impairment may have occurred. Qudsy 1, 2012, we adopted ASU 2011-08 which peranitiies to make a qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely than nat ghreporting unit’s fair value is less than ésrging amount before applying the two-step
goodwill impairment test. Circumstances that cdtilgher an impairment test and are considered apthe qualitative assessment that coulc
trigger the two-step impairment test include, bret@ot limited to: a significant adverse changthmbusiness climate; a significant adverse
legal judgment; adverse cash flow trends; an advaction or assessment by a government agencyticipated competition; decline in our
stock price; and a significant restructuring chasgghin a reporting unit. We define reporting unitt the business segment level or one level
below the business segment, which for our ChloaAIRroducts segment are the U.S. operations anddian operations. For purposes of
testing goodwill for impairment, goodwill has beatocated to these reporting units to the exterglétes to each reporting unit. Based upon
our qualitative assessment, it is more likely thahthat the fair value of our reporting units greater than their carrying amounts as of
December 31, 2012. No impairment charges were dedofior 2012, 2011 or 2010 .

In 2011 and 2010, prior to the adoption of ASU 208] we used a discounted cash flow approach teldpithe estimated fair value of
a reporting unit. Management judgment was requimateveloping the assumptions for the discountshdlow model. We also corroborated
our discounted cash flow analysis by evaluatingaaket-based approach that considers EBITDA muklifilem a representative sample of
comparable public companies in the chemical ingustém impairment would be recorded if the carryamgount exceeded the estimated fair
value.

The discount rate, profitability assumptions, teratigrowth rate and cyclical nature of our chldadilbusiness were the material
assumptions utilized in the discounted cash flovdehaised to estimate the fair value of each repguinit. The discount rate reflected a
weighted-average cost of capital, which was catedl®ased on observable market data. Some of da¢adsuch as the risk free or treasury
rate and the pretax cost of debt) were based om#nket data at a point in time. Other data (asthe equity risk premium) were based upor
market data over time for a peer group of companiéise chemical manufacturing industry with a nedr&apitalization premium added, as
applicable.
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The discounted cash flow analysis required estisp@agsumptions and judgments about future evédtis.analysis used our internally
generated long-range plan. Our discounted cashdlmalysis used the assumptions in our long-rateye gbout terminal growth rates,
forecasted capital expenditures, and changestumgfwtorking capital requirements to determine thplied fair value of each reporting
unit. The long-range plan reflects managementjuelg, supplemented by independent chemical indastayyses which provide multi-year
chlor alkali industry operating and pricing foreisas

Given the economic environment and the uncertamégarding the impact on our business, there earotassurance that our estimates
and assumptions, made for purposes of our goodwplhirment testing, will prove to be an accuratediction of the future. If our assumptic
regarding future performance are not achieved, &g Ine required to record goodwill impairment charigefuture periods. It is not possible
this time to determine if any such future impairmemarge would result or, if it does, whether sobhrge would be material.

Changes in the carrying value of goodwill were@kivs:

Chlor Alkali Chemical
Products Distribution Total
($ in millions)
Balance at January 1, 2011 $ 300.: $ — 3 300.:
Acquisition activity 327.1 — 327.1
Balance at December 31, 2011 627.2 — 627 .
Acquisition activity — 119.7 119.5
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 627.¢ $ 1197 $ 747.1
Other Assets
Included in other assets were the following:
December 31,
2012 2011
(% in millions)
Investments in non-consolidated affiliates $ 292 $ 27.€
Intangible assets (less accumulated amortizatic18f4 million and $6.9 million, respectively) 152.5 19.2
Deferred debt issuance costs 17.t 14.2
Interest rate swaps 8.2 13.¢
Other 16.: 10.¢
Other assets $ 2241 $ 85.€
Intangible assets consisted of the following:
December 31,
2012 2011
Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated
Useful Lives Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net
($ in millions)
Customers, customer contra
and relationships (10-15years) $ 152¢ $ (12.2 $ 1407 $ 24¢ % 5.9 $ 19«
KA Steel trade name (indefinite) 10.¢ — 10.¢ — — —
Other (4-10 years) & (1.2 11 1.2 (2.0) 0.2
Total intangible assets $ 166.1 $ (13.49 $ 1527 $ 26.1 $ 6.9 $ 19.2
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The August 22, 2012 valuation of identifiable ingéie assets that were obtained from the KA Steglisition included $128.0 million
associated with customers, customer contractselatianships and are being amortized over ten y@aes straight-line basis, $10.9 million
associated with the KA Steel trade name, which mameent estimates to have an indefinite useful dife] $0.4 million associated with a
favorable lease agreement that will be amortizest tve remaining lease term (approximately fourgean a straight line basis. The February
28, 2011 valuation of identifiable intangible assiat were obtained from the SunBelt acquisitrariuded $5.8 million associated with
customers, customer contracts and relationshipsienbeing amortized over fifteen years on a ditdige basis. The identifiable intangible
assets obtained from the Pioneer acquisition iredu®19.0 million associated with customers, custanatracts and relationships and are
being amortized over fifteen years on a straighe-basis and $1.2 million associated with inteyndéiveloped and purchased software and we
amortized over five years on a straight-line bagimortization expense was $6.5 million in 2012 ,%million in 2011 and $1.5 million in
2010 . We estimate that amortization expenseheilapproximately $14.6 million in each of the nextr years and approximately $ 14.5
million in 2017. Intangible assets are reviewedifigpairment annually in the fourth quarter andidren circumstances or other events indicat
that impairment may have occurred.

During 2012, we adopted ASU 2012-02 which permitities to make a qualitative assessment of wheatliemore likely than not that
an indefinite-lived intangible asset’s fair valigdess than its carrying amount before performiggiantitative impairment test. Circumstances
that could trigger an impairment test and are a®rsid as part of the qualitative assessment thed togger a quantitative impairment test
include, but are not limited to: a significant adse change in the business climate; a signifisdwérse legal judgment including asset specifi
factors; adverse cash flow trends; an adverseraoti@assessment by a government agency; unanédigampetition; decline in our stock
price; and a significant restructuring charge withireporting unit. Based upon our qualitative sssent, it is more likely than not that the fair
value of our indefinitdived intangible asset is greater than its carrgngpunt as of December 31, 2012. No impairmentuofrttangible asse
were recorded in 2012, 2011 or 2010.

Environmental Liabilities and Expenditures

Accruals (charges to income) for environmental eratare recorded when it is probable that a ligltilas been incurred and the amoun
of the liability can be reasonably estimated, bagssh current law and existing technologies. Tlemeunts, which are not discounted and ar
exclusive of claims against third parties, are sigjd periodically as assessment and remediation®ffrogress or additional technical or legal
information becomes available. Environmental castscapitalized if the costs increase the valub@property and/or mitigate or prevent
contamination from future operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are provided for differences betwherfinancial statement and tax bases of assdtiadnilities using enacted tax rates
effect for the year in which the differences arpepted to reverse. A valuation allowance is preditb offset deferred tax assets if, based on
the available evidence, it is more likely than tihatt some or all of the value of the deferred tssets will not be realized.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafseir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoing
investing and financing activities, and our openagi that use foreign currencies. The risk of tassbe assessed from the perspective of
adverse changes in fair values, cash flows anddgarnings. We have established policies andepoes governing our management of
market risks and the use of financial instrumeatsiiinage exposure to such risks. We use hedgeraouoptreatment for substantially all of
our business transactions whose risks are coveiag derivative instruments. The hedge accountegtment provides for the deferral of
gains or losses (included in other comprehensisg)lon derivative instruments until such time asrtlated transactions occur.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable is the principal financial mstent which subjects us to a concentration ofitresk. Credit is extended based
upon the evaluation of a customer’s financial ctadiand, generally, collateral is not requiredn€entrations of credit risk with respect to
receivables are somewhat limited due to our latgeber of customers, the diversity of these custehirrsinesses and the geographic
dispersion of such customers. The majority ofagounts receivable are derived from sales dendedna U.S. dollars. We maintain an
allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the @rpecollectibility of all trade receivables.
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Fair Value

Fair value is defined as the price at which antass@d be exchanged in a current transaction beEtvi@owledgeable, willing parties or
the amount that would be paid to transfer a ligbtth a new obligor, not the amount that would b&lo settle the liability with the
creditor. Where available, fair value is basedbservable market prices or parameters or deringed $uch prices or parameters. Where
observable prices or inputs are not available,atéddn models are applied. These valuation teclasigovolve some level of management
estimation and judgment, the degree of which issddpnt on the price transparency for the instrumeninarket and the instruments’
complexity.

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value ia tonsolidated balance sheets are categorized bpsedhe level of judgment associated
with the inputs used to measure their fair valbiéerarchical levels, defined by ASC 820, and disectlated to the amount of subjectivity
associated with the inputs to fair valuation ofsth@ssets and liabilities, are as follows:

Level 1 — Inputs were unadjusted, quoted pricesctive markets for identical assets or liabiligéthe measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted prices inclugretevel 1) were either directly or indirectly aygable for the asset or
liability through correlation with market data Aetmeasurement date and for the duration of theument's anticipated life.

Level 3 — Inputs reflected management’s best eséirabwhat market participants would use in pricihg asset or liability at
the measurement date. Consideration was givaretdgk inherent in the valuation technique andrifleinherent in the inputs
to the model.

Retirement-Related Benefits

We account for our defined benefit pension plardsraam-pension postretirement benefit plans usitgagial models required by ASC
715. These models use an attribution approactgtrerally spreads the financial impact of changéke plan and actuarial assumptions ove
the average remaining service lives of the empleyed¢he plan. Changes in liability due to chanigesctuarial assumptions such as discount
rate, rate of compensation increases and mortaktyvell as annual deviations between what wasressand what was experienced by the
plan are treated as gains or losses. The prinaipderlying the required attribution approach &t #mployees render service over their ave
remaining service lives on a relatively smooth asid, therefore, the accounting for benefits ehrmgler the pension or non-pension
postretirement benefits plans should follow the saefatively smooth pattern. Substantially allidedl benefit pension plan participants are n
longer accruing benefits; therefore, actuarial gaind losses are amortized based upon the reméifieimxpectancy of the inactive plan
participants. For the years ended December 322 26d 2011 , the average remaining life expectahtlye inactive participants in the defined
benefit pension plan was 18 years.

One of the key assumptions for the net periodisimncalculation is the expected long-term rateetiirn on plan assets, used to
determine the “market-related value of assets.& Tharket-related value of assets” recognizes iiffees between the plan’s actual return an
expected return over a five year period. The meguiuse of an expected long-term rate of returthermarket-related value of plan assets may
result in a recognized pension income that is greatless than the actual returns of those plaetasn any given year. Over time, however,
the expected long-term returns are designed tooappate the actual long-term returns and, theref@sult in a pattern of income and expens
recognition that more closely matches the pattétheservices provided by the employees. As difiees between actual and expected re
are recognized over five years, they subsequestigi@gte gains and losses that are subject to aatowti over the average remaining life
expectancy of the inactive plan participants, acdeed in the preceding paragraph.

We use long-term historical actual return inforraafithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of long-term
investment returns and inflation by reference tiemal sources to develop the expected long-tetenafareturn on plan assets as of Decembel
31

The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomangension postretirement benefit plan accountfigct the rates available on high-
quality fixed-income debt instruments on DecemldenBeach year. The rate of compensation incrisasased upon our long-term plans for
such increases. For retiree medical plan accagniie review external data and our own historicahds for healthcare costs to determine the
healthcare cost trend rates.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We measure the cost of employee services receiverichange for an award of equity instruments, siscstock options, performance
shares, and restricted stock, based on the gramfaiavalue of the award. This cost is recogdiager the period during which an employee i
required to provide service in exchange for therdywthe requisite service period (usually the vespieriod). An initial measurement is made
of the cost of employee services received in exghdar an award of liability instruments based tsrcurrent fair value and the value of that
award is subsequently remeasured at each repaoiditegthrough the settlement date. Changes iwvdaie of liability awards during the
requisite service period are recognized as comtienszost over that period.

The fair value of each option granted, which typjcaests ratably over three years, but not lessithne year, was estimated on the dat:
of grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricingdalowith the following weighted-average assumptions

2012 2011 2010
Dividend yield 3.65% 4.32% 4.32%
Risk-free interest rate 1.3¢% 3.05% 3.0(%
Expected volatility 43% 42% 42%
Expected life (years) 7.C 7.C 7.C
Grant fair value (per option) $ 6.5 % 54¢ % 4.61
Exercise price $ 219 % 18.7¢  $ 15.6¢
Shares granted 480,25( 575,00( 803,75(

Dividend yield was based on a historical averagisk-free interest rate was based on zero coup8nTfeasury securities rates for the
expected life of the options. Expected volatilitgs based on our historical stock price movemestsye believe that historical experience is
the best available indicator of the expected viithati Expected life of the option grant was basedhistorical exercise and cancellation
patterns, as we believe that historical experiéntiee best estimate for future exercise patterns.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02, tvlaimends ASC 220. This update adds new discl@sgrerements about
reclassifications out of accumulated other compnsive income including the effects of these redii@ssions on net income. This update is
effective for fiscal years beginning after Decemb®gy 2012 with early adoption permitted. This updaill not have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-02 which mdseASC 350. This update permits entities to n@afaalitative assessment of
whether it is more likely than not that an indefxlived intangible asset’s fair value is less titarcarrying amount before performing a
guantitative impairment test. If an entity cona@sdhat it is not more likely than not that the failue of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is
less than its carrying amount, it would not be remlito perform the quantitative test for that asSehis update is effective for fiscal years
beginning after September 15, 2012, with early &idagpermitted. We adopted the provisions of ASU202 during 2012. This update did
not have a material effect on our consolidatednfoiea statements.

In September 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011-08, whinbrads ASC 350. This update permits entities toeneagualitative assessment
of whether it is more likely than not that a repagtunit’s fair value is less than its carrying ambbefore applying the two-step goodwill
impairment test. If an entity concludes that ihdig more likely than not that the fair value afegorting unit is less than its carrying amount, it
would not be required to perform the two-step impaint test for that reporting unit. We retrospeadii adopted the provisions of ASU 2011-
08 on January 1, 2012. This update did not havatarial effect on our consolidated financial staats.

During 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05 and ASW1202. These updates require entities to presemssiof net income and other
comprehensive income either in one continuousrsetg referred to as the statement of compreheirsieene, or in two separate, but
consecutive, statements of net income and othepmimensive income. We retrospectively adoptegbtbeisions of ASU 2011-05 and ASU
2011-12 on January 1, 2012. These updates requiogification of our consolidated financial statertsgoresentation. These update did not
have a material effect on our consolidated findrete@tements.
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In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, which adseASC 820. This update clarifies the existinglgnce and amends the
wording used to describe many of the requirememt$.5. GAAP for measuring fair value and for disitg information about fair value
measurements. This update became effective fonusnuary 1, 2012. This update did not have ariabéffect on our consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-29, whimends ASC 805. This update clarified that dityeis required to disclose
pro forma revenue and earnings as though the msownbination that occurred during the currenibgenad occurred as of the beginning of
the comparable prior annual reporting period orfyaddition, this standard expands the supplerhpntaforma disclosures to include a
description of the nature and amount of materialreourring pro forma adjustments directly attrililéato the business combination included
in the reported pro forma revenue and earnings.atdpted the provisions of ASU 2010-29 on JanuaB011. The adoption of this update
required additional disclosures for our acquistiaf KA Steel and the remaining 50% equity interesgunBelt. This update did not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial stzats.

ACQUISITIONS
KA Steel Acquisitior

On August 22, 2012, we acquired 100% of privatal{diKA Steel, on a debt free basis, for $336.6iamlin cash, after receiving the
final working capital adjustment of $1.9 millioThe purchase price is still subject to certain ypbssing adjustments related to a contingent
liability. As of the date of acquisition, KA Stelehd cash and cash equivalents of $26.2 million .S¢&el is one of the largest distributors of
caustic soda in North America and manufacturerssatid bleach in the Midwest.

The acquisition was partially financed with proceémm the $200.0 million of 2022 Notes sold on Asg22, 2012 with a maturity date
of August 15, 2022. Proceeds from the 2022 Note® $£96.0 million , after expenses of $4.0 million

For segment reporting purposes, KA Steel comptlsesiewly created Chemical Distribution segmene KA Steel results of
operations have been included in our consolidatedlts for the period subsequent to the effectate df the acquisition. Our results for the
year ended December 31, 2012 include KA Steel sdi$156.3 million and $4.5 million of segment incoméich includes depreciation and
amortization expense of $5.5 million , primarilysesiated with the acquisition fair valuing of KAest.
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The transaction has been accounted for using tipgisiton method of accounting which requires, amother things, that assets
acquired and liabilities assumed be recognizeleit fair values as of the acquisition date. Whalized our purchase price allocation during
the fourth quarter of 2012, except for resolvingpatingent liability related to the withdrawal fraammulti-employer defined benefit pension
plan. The adjustments to the purchase price allmtitom September 30, 2012 were primarily the ltesfifinalizing estimates for property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and goadiik following table summarizes the allocatiorthef purchase price to KA Steel's assets
and liabilities:

August 22, 2012

(% in millions)
Total current assets $ 128.1
Property, plant and equipment 25.1
Deferred taxes 1.€
Intangible assets 139.:
Total assets acquired 294.1
Total current liabilities 64.2
Other liabilities 10.4
Total liabilities assumed 74.€
Net identifiable assets acquired 219t
Goodwill 119.7
Fair value of net assets acquired $ 339.C
Supplemental Data
Cash paid $ 336.¢
Olin trade accounts receivable from KA Steel 2.€
Total fair value of consideration $ 339.2

Included in total current assets are cash and eqsivalents of $26.2 million and receivables of $63illion with a contracted value of
$63.5 million . Included in other liabilities is @tcrued contingent liability of $10.0 million fore withdrawal from a multi-employer defined
benefit pension plan.

Based on final valuations, we allocated $128.0iomilbf the purchase price to intangible assetdingldao customers, customer contracts
and relationships, which management estimateswe aaiseful life of ten years, $10.9 million toangible assets associated with the KA Stee
trade name, which management estimates to havelefinite useful life, and $0.4 million associateith a favorable lease agreement that will
be amortized over the remaining life of the leasent(approximately four years) on a straight liasib. These identifiable intangible assets
were included in other assets. Based on final Viains, $119.7 million was assigned to goodwill,alwhich is deductible for tax
purposes. The primary reasons for the acquiséihthe principal factors that contributed to a 8t#&el purchase price that resulted in the
recognition of goodwill are the expanded capabitlitynarket and sell caustic soda, bleach, potaskidroxide, and hydrochloric acid, as well
as the geographic diversification the KA Steel tamss provide us, and the strengthened positidhérindustrial bleach segment.

Goodwill and the indefinite-lived trade name intéolg asset recorded in the acquisition are not &neat but will be reviewed for
impairment annually in the fourth quarter and/oewltircumstances or other events indicate thatinngat may have occurred.
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The following pro forma summary presents the cosddrstatement of income as if the acquisition of$4&el had occurred on January
1, 2010 (unaudited).

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(% in millions, except per share data)
Sales $ 2,462t $ 2,351 % 1,854.¢
Net income 160.1 240.( 62.€
Net income per common share:
Basic $ 20C $ 3.0 % 0.7¢
Diluted $ 1.9¢ $ 297 $ 0.7¢

The pro forma statements of income were preparséidoan historical financial information and havemadjusted to give effect to pro
forma adjustments that are (i) directly attribuéatd the transaction, (ii) factually supportablé &iii) expected to have a continuing impact on
the combined results. The pro forma statemenitsooine use estimates and assumptions based omation available at the
time. Management believes the estimates and asgumapo be reasonable; however, actual resultsdifésr significantly from this pro forma
financial information. The pro forma informatiannot intended to reflect the actual results thatld have occurred had the companies
actually been combined during the periods presenté pro forma data reflect the application @& tbllowing adjustments:

< Additional amortization expense related to thie Yalue of acquired identifiable intangible asse$8.0 million , $12.4 millioranc
$10.1 million for the years ended December 31, 202021 and 2010 , respectively).

e Additional depreciation expense related to thie Yalue adjustment to property, plant and equipinad conforming KA Sted
useful lives to ours ( $0.2 million , $0.3 millioand $0.5 million for the years ended December 31,22 2011 and 2010
respectively).

« Increase in interest expense related to the 20&2s issued in conjunction with this acquisito$i7.1 million , $11.0 millionanc
$11.0 million for the years ended December 31, 202021 and 2010 , respectively).

< Elimination of intersegment sales of caustic sodd hleach to KA Steel from Chlor Alkali Products @ices that approxime
market ( $23.2 million , $45.2 million , and $27Tlion for the years ended December 31, 2012, 281d 2010 , respectively).

< Elimination of transaction costs incurred in 20hattare directly related to the transaction, anshatohave a continuing impact
our combined operating results ( $8.3 million foe tyear ended December 31, 2012).

In addition, the pro forma data reflect the taceeffof all of the above adjustments. The pro fotaxgprovision reflects an increase
(decrease) of $1.1 million , $(6.0) million and F)7million for the years ended December 31, 2@024,1 and 2010 , respectively, associated
with the incremental pretax income, the fair vahigfustments for acquired intangible assets andgptppplant and equipment, and the interest
expense of the $200.0 million senior notes issnambnjunction with this acquisition, which reflethe marginal tax of the adjustments in the
various jurisdictions where such adjustments oeclrr

SunBelt Acquisition

On February 28, 2011, we acquired PolyOne’s 50%r@st in SunBelt for $132.3 million in cash plus gssumption of a PolyOne
guarantee related to the SunBelt Notes. Withahguisition, Olin owns 100% of SunBelt. The SuriBglor alkali plant, which is located
within our Mclintosh, AL facility, has approximateBb0,000 tons of membrane technology capacity.ald@ agreed to a three year earn out,
which has no guaranteed minimum or maximum, baseti® performance of SunBelt. In addition, duriihg second quarter of 2011, we
remitted to PolyOne $6.0 million , which represen5®%of distributable cash generated by SunBelt fronudanl, 2011 through February
2011.

Pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated Dec2&)i997, SunBelt sold $97.5 million of Guaradt&enior Secured Notes due
2017, Series O, and $97.5 million of Guaranteedd®&ecured Notes due 2017, Series G. The Sugedts bear interest at a rate of 7.23%
per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on &ah 22 and December 22. Beginning on Decemhe&@®2 and each year through 2017,
SunBelt is required to repay $12.2 million of thenBelt Notes, of which $6.1 million is attributalitethe Series O Notes and of which $6.1
million is attributable to the Series G Notes.ctmjunction with the acquisition, we consolidated SunBelt Notes with a fair value of $87.3
million for the remaining principal balance of $8%nillion as of February 28, 2011.
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We have guaranteed the Series O Notes, and PolyDné&rmer SunBelt partner, has guaranteed thie$S€r Notes, in both cases
pursuant to customary guaranty agreements. Wedgreed to indemnify PolyOne for any payments beiotosts under the guarantee in fi
of the purchasers of the Series G Notes, to thenéxiny payments or other costs arise from a defawither breach under the SunBelt
Notes. If SunBelt does not make timely paymentthenSunBelt Notes, whether as a result of a faitarpay on a guarantee or otherwise,
holders of the SunBelt Notes may proceed agairsasisets of SunBelt for repayment.

From January 1, 2011 to February 28, 2011, we dexb$6.3 million of equity earnings of non-consat&tl affiliates for our 50%
ownership in SunBelt. The value of our investmarBunBelt was $(0.8) million . We remeasured equity interest in SunBelt to fair value
upon the close of the transaction. As a resulttegegnized a pretax gain of $181.4 million , whiehs classified in other (expense) income in
our consolidated statement of operations. In awijan with this remeasurement, a discrete defe@ara@éxpense of $76.0 million was
recorded.

The transaction has been accounted for using tipgisiton method of accounting which requires, agother things, that assets
acquired and liabilities assumed be recognizeleit fair values as of the acquisition date. Whalized our purchase price allocation during
the second quarter of 2011. The following tabimsarizes the final allocation of the purchase pricBunBelt’s assets and liabilities:

February 28,
2011

(% in millions)
Total current assets $ 37.€
Property, plant and equipment 87.4
Deferred income taxes 0.4
Other assets 5.&
Total assets acquired 131.2
Total current liabilities 427
Long-term debt 75.1
Other liabilities 27.¢
Total liabilities assumed 145.¢
Less: Investment in SunBelt (0.9
Net liabilities assumed (13.9
Liabilities for uncertainties 48.:
Gain on remeasurement of investment in SunBelt (181.9)
Goodwill 327.1
Fair value of total consideration $ 180.¢

Included in total current assets are cash and egsivalents of $8.9 million . Included in totalrcent liabilities is $12.2 million of
current installments of long-term debt.

Based on final valuations, we allocated $5.8 millad the purchase price to intangible assets rgJdab customers, customer contracts
and relationships, which management estimateswvte haiseful life of fifteen years. These idenkifeintangible assets were included in other
assets. Based on final valuations, $327.1 millias assigned to goodwill. For tax purposes, $168llbn of the goodwill is deductible. The
goodwill represents the fair value of SunBelt tisdh addition to the fair values of the other assets acquired. The primary reason for the
acquisition and the principal factors that contrélalito a SunBelt purchase price that resultedarrélsognition of goodwill is the strategic fit
with our Chlor Alkali operations and SunBelt's l@@st membrane capacity.
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For segment reporting purposes, SunBelt has betrdied in Chlor Alkali Products. The SunBelt réswf operations have been
included in our consolidated results for the pesadsequent to the effective date of the acquisitiOur consolidated results for the year ende
December 31, 2011 included $170.5 million of SunBales and $27.2 million of additional SunBelttpreincome ( $38.7 million included in
Chlor Alkali Products segment income; less $0.8iomlof acquisition costs, $4.0 million of interestpense and $6.7 million of expense for
our earn out liability) on the 50% interest we dogg. The following pro forma summary presentsdbedensed statements of income as if th
acquisition of SunBelt had occurred on Januar0102unaudited).

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010
(% in millions, except per share data)
Sales $ 1,987« $ 1,743.:
Net income 140.¢ 80.¢
Net income per common share:
Basic $ 1.7¢ % 1.0Z
Diluted $ 174 % 1.01

The pro forma statements of income were preparsedan historical financial information and haverbadjusted to give effect to pro
forma adjustments that are (i) directly attribuéatd the transaction, (ii) factually supportablé &iii) expected to have a continuing impact on
the combined results. The pro forma statemenitsooine use estimates and assumptions based omation available at the
time. Management believes the estimates and asgumapo be reasonable; however, actual resultsdifésr significantly from this pro forma
financial information. The pro forma informationeats not reflect any cost savings that might beeagtu from operating the business under a
single owner and is not intended to reflect the@atesults that would have occurred had the comparctually been combined during the
periods presented. The pro forma data reflecagiptication of the following adjustments:

« Elimination of the pretax gain resulting fromethemeasurement of our previously held 568&tiity interest in SunBelt, which
considered non-recurring ( $181.4 million for theay ended December 31, 2011).

< Additional amortization expense related to thie ¥alue of acquired identifiable intangible assge$0.1 million and $0.3 milliofor
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respect

« Reduction of depreciation expense related tofélirevalue adjustment to property, plant and emept ( $1.0 million ands5.€
million for the years ended December 31, 2011 dd2respectively).

« Reduction in interest expense as a result akasing the carrying value of acquired debt ohiiget to its estimated fair values(.1
million and $0.5 million for the years ended Decem®1, 2011 and 2010, respectively).

« Additional accretion expense for the earn caibility that was recorded as a result of the adtiis( $0.4 million and$2.7 millior
for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 201k cteely).

< Elimination of transaction costs incurred in 20hattare directly related to the transaction, andhaiohave a continuing impact
our combined operating results ( $0.8 million foe tyear ended December 31, 2011).

In addition, the pro forma data reflect the taeeffof all of the above adjustments. The pro fotaxaprovision for the year ended
December 31, 2011 reflects a reduction of $76.0anilelated to the elimination of the gain resultifrom the remeasurement of our
previously held 50% equity interest in SunBelt.eTdro forma tax provision reflects an increase28$nillion and $7.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectivelgciassd with the incremental pretax income anddirevalue adjustments for acquired
intangible assets, property, plant and equipmedttla@ SunBelt Notes, which reflects the marginalafthe adjustments in the various
jurisdictions where such adjustments occur
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RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

On December 9, 2010 , our board of directors apgt@/plan to eliminate our use of mercury in theuf@cture of chlor alkali
products. Under the plan, the 260,000 tons of orgrcell capacity at our Charleston, TN facilitylvde converted to 200,000 tons of
membrane capacity capable of producing both patashydroxide and caustic soda. The board of dirsalso approved plans to reconfigure
our Augusta, GA facility to manufacture bleach aligtribute caustic soda, while discontinuing ctdtkali manufacturing at this site. We ba
our decision to convert and reconfigure on seviabrs. First, during 2009 and 2010 we had expeed a steady increase in the number of
customers unwilling to accept our products manuf@ct using mercury cell technology. Second, thexs federal legislation passed in 2008
governing the treatment of mercury that signifibatimits our recycling options after December 2012. We concluded that exiting mercury
cell technology production after 2012 representedraacceptable future cost risk. Further, the ecsien of the Charleston, TN plant to
membrane technology will reduce the electricitygesper ECU produced by approximately 25% . Thegigtito reconfigure the Augusta, GA
facility to manufacture bleach and distribute causbda removes the highest cost production capfoitn our system. Mercury cell chlor
alkali production at the Augusta, GA facility waisebntinued at the end of September, 2012 andaheecsion at Charleston, TN was
completed in the second half of 2012 with the sssfté start-up of two new membrane cell lines. Bhastions reduced our chlor alkali
manufacturing capacity by 160,000 tons. The corigaiatf these projects eliminates our chlor alkatiquction using mercury cell technology.
We recorded a pretax restructuring charge of $@8liion associated with these actions in the fouptiarter of 2010. The restructuring charge
included write-off of equipment and facility cost&celeration of asset retirement obligations, eyg# severance and related benefit costs ar
lease and other contract termination costs. Foy#ars ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 , wedextadditional pretax restructuring
charges of $2.3 million and $2.8 million for empé&yseverance and related benefit costs, leasetlamdoontract termination costs and facility
exit costs. We expect to incur additional restidog charges through 2013 of approximately $6iamilrelated to the implementation of plans
to exit the use of mercury cell technology in théoc alkali manufacturing process.

On November 3, 2010 , we announced that we madeettision to relocate the Winchester centerfiréopend rifle ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @ud, MS. This relocation, when completed, is fastdo reduce Winchester's annual
operating costs by approximately $30 million . €istent with this decision we initiated an estindg@10 million five-year project, which
includes approximately $80 million of capital spenyd The State of Mississippi and local governradrgve provided incentives which should
offset approximately 40 percent of the capital sjyeg. We currently expect to complete this rel@mraby the end of 2016. We recorded a
pretax restructuring charge of $6.2 million asstedawith these actions in the fourth quarter of®@0The restructuring charge included
employee severance and related benefit costs and-aash pension and other postretirement berefitailment charge. For the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 , we recorded additjmeséx restructuring charges of $6.2 million a@d)¥million for employee severance and
related benefits costs, a non-cash pension cugatitharge, employee relocation costs and fa@htycosts. These 2012 and 2011
restructuring charges related primarily to thefiadtion of a new five and one half year WincheskEast Alton, IL union labor agreement. We
expect to incur additional restructuring chargesulh 2016 of approximately $10 million relatedhe transfer of these operations.
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The following table summarizes the 2012 and 201i/iacby major component of these 2010 restructgractions and the remaining
balances of accrued restructuring costs as of DeeeB1, 2012:

Employee
severance Lease and
and job Pension and other other contract Employee
related postretirement termination relocation Facility
benefits benefits curtailment costs costs exit costs Total
($ in millions)

Balance January 1, 2011 $ 6. $ — 3 1C $ — 3 — 3 7.C
2011 restructuring charges 6.4 1.1 — 2.2 1.C 10.7
Amounts utilized (1.7 (1.3 (0.2) (2.2) (2.0 (5.6

Balance at December 31, 2011 11.2 — 0.8 — — 12.1
2012 restructuring charges 4.1 — 0.1 2.2 2.1 8.t
Amounts utilized (1.9 — (0.5) (2.2 (2.7 (6.7)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 135§ — 04 §$ — — § 13

The following table summarizes the cumulative restiring charges of these 2010 restructuring astmpnmajor component through
December 31, 2012:

Chlor Alkali
Products Winchester Total
($ in millions)
Write-off of equipment and facility $ 175§ — 17.5
Employee severance and job related benefits 5.€ 10.¢ 16.t
Facility exit costs 8.8 1.C 9.8
Pension and other postretirement benefits curtaitme — 41 4.1
Employee relocation costs 0.1 4.3 4.4
Lease and other contract termination costs 1.1 — 1.1
Total cumulative restructuring charges $ 331 § 205§ 53.

As of December 31, 2012, we have incurred cashrelipges of $11.2 million and non-cash charges2®.$ million related to these
restructuring actions. The remaining balance & $illion is expected to be paid out in 2013 tiglo 2016.
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EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted income per share are computativiging net income by the weighted average nundf@ommon shares
outstanding. Diluted net income per share reflédedilutive effect of stock-based compensation.

Years ended December 31,

Computation of Income per Share 2012 2011 2010
(In millions, except per share data)
Net income $ 149.¢ $ 2415 $ 64.¢
Basic shares: 80.1 80.C 79.2
Basic net income per share $ 187 $ 3.0z $ 0.8
Diluted shares:
Basic shares 80.1 80.(C 79.2
Stock-based compensation 0.6 0.8 0.7
Diluted shares 81.C 80.¢ 79.¢
Diluted net income per share $ 1.8t § 29¢ § 0.81

The computation of dilutive shares from stock-basemipensation does not include 1.0 million , 0.89iom and 1.3 million shares in
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, as their effecld have been anti-dilutive.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable consigiéthe following:

December 31,

2012 2011
(% in millions)
Beginning balance $ 32 % 4.8
Provisions charged 0.7 0.8
Write-offs, net of recoveries (0.9) (2.9
Ending balance $ 3€ § 3.2
INVENTORIES
December 31,
2012 2011
(% in millions)
Supplies $ 36.2 % 35.C
Raw materials 70.t 75.7
Work in process 25.2 31.¢
Finished goods 141.C 111.5
273.1 254
LIFO reserves (78.0 (77.9)
Inventories $ 195.1 $ 176.€

In conjunction with the acquisition of KA Steel, wbtained inventories with a fair value of $36.4liom , as of August 22, 2012. In
conjunction with the acquisition of SunBelt, we @ibed inventories with a fair value of $4.0 millipas of February 28, 2011. Inventories
valued using the LIFO method comprised 54% and @28e total inventories at December 31, 2012 &2 If the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method of inventory accounting had been used, itovers would have been $78.0 million and $77.7iomlhigher than that reported at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

December 31,

Useful Lives 2012 2011
(% in millions)
Land and improvements to land 10-20 Years $ 155.¢ % 149.¢
Buildings and building equipment 10- 30 Years 204.: 183.¢
Machinery and equipment 3-15 Years 1,739.! 1,540.:
Leasehold improvements 2.5 2.5
Construction in progress 96.1 153.:
Property, plant and equipment 2,198.: 2,029.«
Accumulated depreciation (1,164.0) (1,144.0)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,034.0 § 885.4

The weighted average useful life of machinery amagipgment at December 31, 2012 was 10 years. Dgi@tiexpense was $104.4
million , $97.4 million and $85.4 million for 20,2011 and 2010 , respectively. Leased assetdaagsd and included above are not
significant. Interest capitalized was $7.4 millio$1.2 million and $0.9 million for 2012 , 2011daR010 , respectively. Maintenance and
repairs charged to operations amounted to $124lbmj $135.7 million and $128.8 million in 2012011 and 2010 , respectively.

The consolidated statements of cash flows for #syended December 31, 2012 , 2011 and 201Qudeatla $17.4 million , $(23.7)
million and $2.3 million , respectively, increaske¢rease) to capital expenditures, with the coording change to accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, related to purchases of prigpgalant and equipment included in accounts payabDecember 31, 2012 , 2011 and 2010 .

We entered into sale/leaseback transactions faticasoda barges and chlorine railcars that weissdjduring 2012 and 2011 for $4.4
million and $3.2 million , respectively, for theams ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 .

INVESTMENTS—AFFILIATED COMPANIES
Prior to the acquisition of SunBelt, we held a 56#nership interest, which was accounted for udiegetquity method of accounting.

On November 16, 2007, we purchased for cash a6 $iilion equity interest in a limited liability copany that owns a bleach and
related chemical manufacturing facility (bleachnjoienture). As part of the investment we als@esdt into several commercial agreements,
including agreements by which we will supply rawtenils and services, and we will have marketirgpoasibility for bleach and caustic sc

We hold a 9.1% limited partnership interest in B#as Storage Company, Ltd. (Bay Gas), an Alabamigelihpartnership, in which
EnergySouth, Inc. (EnergySouth), which was acquime2D08 by Sempra Energy, is the general partritkr imterest of 90.9% . Bay Gas owns,
leases, and operates underground gas storagelatatingipeline facilities, which are used to prevgtorage in the Mcintosh, AL area and
delivery of natural gas to EnergySouth customers.

The following table summarizes our investmentsunmon-consolidated equity affiliates:

December 31,

2012 2011
(% in millions)
Bay Gas $ 195 $ 17.1
Bleach joint venture 9.8 10.t
Investments in equity affiliates $ 29.2 % 27.€
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The following table summarizes our equity earniafjeon-consolidated affiliates:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
($ in millions)
SunBelt $ — % 6.2 $ 26.€
Bay Gas 24 24 2.2
Bleach joint venture 0.€ 0.6 1.1
Equity earnings of non-consolidated affiliates $ 3C § 9€ $ 29.¢

We received net distributions from our non-consatkd affiliates of $1.3 million , $1.9 million ai$23.6 million for 2012 , 2011 and
2010, respectively.

DEBT
Credit Facility

On April 27, 2012, we entered into a new $265 wilfive-year senior revolving credit facility, whiceplaced the $240 million senior
revolving credit facility and a $25 million lettef credit facility. The new senior revolving creéitility will expire in April, 2017. At
December 31, 2012, we had $233.3 million availaiider our $265 million senior revolving credit fidgi because we had issued $31.7
million of letters of credit under a $110 millionkfacility. The new senior revolving credit fagflialso has a $50 million Canadian subfacility.
Under the senior revolving credit facility, we msslect various floating rate borrowing options.e®ttual interest rate paid on borrowings
under the senior revolving credit facility is baseda pricing grid which is dependent upon theflage ratio as calculated under the terms of
the facility at the end of the prior fiscal quartdrhe facility includes various customary restvietcovenants, including restrictions related to
the ratio of debt to earnings before interest expetaxes, depreciation and amortization (leverati@) and the ratio of earnings before interes
expense, taxes, depreciation and amortizationtéodst expense (coverage ratio). Compliance Wighd covenants is determined quarterly
based on the operating cash flows for the last qoarters. We were in compliance with all coveaantd restrictions under all our outstandinc
credit agreements as of December 31, 2012 and ,281d no event of default had occurred that woelthit the lenders under our outstanding
credit agreements to accelerate the debt if na@dcutn the future, our ability to generate suffiti operating cash flows, among other factors,
will determine the amounts available to be borroweder these facilities. As of December 31, 2@4&re were no covenants or other
restrictions that limited our ability to borrow.

At December 31, 2012, we had total letters of ¢refi$35.8 million outstanding, of which $31.7 riolh were issued under our $265
million senior revolving credit facility. The letts of credit are used to support certain long-t@eivt, certain workers compensation insurance
policies and certain international pension fundieguirements.
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Long-Term Debt

December 31,

2012 2011
Notes payable: (% in millions)

Variable-rate Go Zone bonds, due 2024 (1.72% an@P4.at December 31, 201

and 2011, respectively) $ 50.C $ 50.C
Variable-rate Recovery Zone bonds, due 2024-2032% and 1.78% at

December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively) 103.( 103.(
Variable-rate Industrial development and environtakimprovement obligations

due 2025 (0.26% and 0.67% at December 31, 2012@ht, respectively, ant

includes interest rate swaps of $0.3 million in 201 2 10.€
5.5%, due 2022 200.( —
6.5%, due 2013 11.4 11.4
6.75%, due 2016 (includes interest rate swaps @f $llion and $10.5 million in

2012 and 2011, respectively) 133.¢ 135.t
7.23%, SunBelt Notes due 2013-2017 (includes unaredrfair value premium c

$1.1 million and $1.6 million and interest rate pwaf $1.8 million and $1.9

million in 2012 and 2011, respectively) 63.€ 76.€

8.875%, due 2019 (includes unamortized discou0d million in 2012 and

$1.0 million in 2011) 149.1 149.(

Total debt 713.7 536.<
Amounts due within one year 23.€ 12.2

Total long-term debt $ 690.1 $ 524.2

In August 2012, we sold $200.0 million of 2022 Noteith a maturity date of August 15, 2022. The 2BR2es were issued at par value.
Interest will be paid semi-annually beginning obikry 15, 2013. The acquisition of KA Steel waripHy financed with proceeds of $196.0
million , after expense of $4.0 million , from tB622 Notes.

In June 2012, we redeemed $7.7 million of induktemenue bonds due in 2017. We paid a premiunOd hillion to the bond holders,
which was included in interest expense. We alsogeized a $0.2 million deferred gain in interegtense related to the interest rate swaps,
which were terminated in March 2012, on these itrthlsevenue bonds.

Pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated Dec2g)997, SunBelt sold $97.5 million of Guaradt&enior Secured Notes due
2017, Series O, and $97.5 million of Guaranteeddd&ecured Notes due 2017, Series G. The Suhgedis bear interest at a rate of 7.23%
per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on &ach 22 and December 22. Beginning on Decemhe&2 and each year through 2017,
SunBelt is required to repay $12.2 million of thenBelt Notes, of which $6.1 million is attributalitethe Series O Notes and of which $6.1
million is attributable to the Series G Notes.ctmjunction with the SunBelt acquisition, we coindated the SunBelt Notes with a fair value of
$87.3 million for the remaining principal balande$85.3 million as of February 28, 2011. In Decem®012 and 2011, $12.2 million was
repaid on these SunBelt Notes.

In December 2011, we repaid the $75.0 million 2Bbtes, which became due in 2011.

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥one tax-exempt bonds totaling $41.0 milliore @035. The bonds were
issued by the TN Authority pursuant to a trust intdee between the TN Authority and U. S. Bank NadiloAssociation, as trustee. The bonds
were sold to PNC Bank, as administrative agenit$etf and a syndicate of participating banks, pri@ate placement under a Credit and
Funding Agreement dated December 27, 2010, betweamd PNC Bank. Proceeds of the bonds were Idandte TN Authority to us under
a loan agreement, whereby we are obligated to naakepayments to the TN Authority sufficient to mldebt service and expenses relate
the bonds. Our obligations under the loan agreémahrelated note bear interest at a fluctuatitg based on LIBOR. The financial
covenants in the credit agreement mirror thosauimsenior revolving credit facility. The bonds mag tendered to us (without premium)
periodically beginning November 1, 2015. DuringcBmber 2010, we drew $41.0 million of the bondhe Proceeds from the bonds are
required to be used to fund capital project spemétin our Charleston, TN facility mercury cell cargion and were fully utilized as of
December 31, 2012.
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In December 2010, we completed a financing of ReppZone tax-exempt bonds totaling $42.0 millioe @®33. The bonds were
issued by MS Finance pursuant to a trust inderitet&een MS Finance and U. S. Bank National Assiociaas trustee. The bonds were sold
to PNC Bank, as administrative agent for itself arsyndicate of participating banks, in a privdseement under a Credit and Funding
Agreement dated December 1, 2010, between us a@dBiNk. Proceeds of the bonds were loaned by M&nee to us under a loan
agreement, whereby we are obligated to make logmeats to MS Finance sufficient to pay all debt/ger and expenses related to the
bonds. Our obligations under the loan agreemeatalated note bear interest at a fluctuating bateed on LIBOR. The financial covenants ir
the credit agreement mirror those in our senioolkgrg credit facility. The bonds may be tendetedis (without premium) periodically
beginning November 1, 2015. During December 20#drew $42.0 million of the bonds. The proceedmfthe bonds are required to be
used to fund capital project spending for our ongoklocation of the Winchester centerfire ammonitnanufacturing operations from East
Alton, IL to Oxford, MS. As of December 31, 20%2,1.9 million of the proceeds remain with the teesand are classified as a noncurrent
asset on our consolidated balance sheet as redtdash, until such time as we request reimburseafeualifying amounts used for the
Oxford, MS Winchester relocation.

In October 2010, we completed a financing of tagregt bonds totaling $70.0 million due 2024. Thadminclude $50.0 million of Go
Zone and $20.0 million of Recovery Zone. The bondse issued by the AL Authority pursuant to atiindenture between the AL Authority
and U. S. Bank National Association, as trustele Bonds were sold to PNC Bank, as administratiemtfor itself and a syndicate of
participating banks, in a private placement und@redit and Funding Agreement dated October 140 2064tween us and PNC Bank. Proci
of the bonds were loaned by the AL Authority tounsler a loan agreement, whereby we are obligatathie loan payments to the AL
Authority sufficient to pay all debt service andberses related to the bonds. Our obligations uth@dioan agreement and related note bear
interest at a fluctuating rate based on LIBOR. fiti@ncial covenants in the credit agreement mitihose in our senior revolving credit
facility. The bonds may be tendered to us (withmeéimium) periodically beginning November 1, 20M8e had the option to borrow up to the
entire $70.0 million in a series of draw downs tigh December 31, 2011. We drew $36.0 million efltonds in 2011 and $34.0 million in
2010. The proceeds from the bonds are requiree tesed to fund capital project spending at oumitbah, AL facility and were fully utilized
as of December 31, 2012.

In September 2010, we redeemed industrial reveanddtotaling $18.9 million , with maturity datelsFebruary 2016 and March
2016. We paid a premium of $0.4 million to the ddmwlders, which was included in interest expenste also recognized a $0.3 million
deferred gain in interest expense related to ttegént rate swaps, which were terminated in A@l® on these industrial revenue bonds. In
October 2010, we redeemed additional industriaémere bonds totaling $1.8 million , with a matudste of October 2014.

Annual maturities of long-term debt are $23.6 roillin 2013 , $12.2 million in 2014 , $12.2 milliom2015 , $145.6 million in 2016 ,
$15.1 million in 2017 and a total of $505.0 millitrereafter.

We have entered into interest rate swaps, as distlbelow, whereby we agree to pay variable araifrates to a counterparty who, in
turn, pays us fixed and variable rates. In alesabe underlying index for variable rates is fliensonth LIBOR. Accordingly, payments are

settled every six months and the terms of the s\waepshe same as the underlying debt instruments.

The following table reflects the swap activity teldto certain debt obligations:

Swa
Underlying Debt Instrument AmouFr)n Date of Swap December 31, 2012
(% in millions) Olin Pays Floating Rate:
6.75%, due 2016 $ 65.C March 2010 3.5-4.5%®
6.75%, due 2016 $ 60.C March 2010 3.5-4.5%@
Olin Receives Floating Ra
6.75%, due 2016 $ 65.C October 2011 3.5-4.5%®
6.75%, due 2016 $ 60.( October 2011 3.5-4.5%@

(&) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the watifall within the range show
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In March 2010, we entered into interest rate svaap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delitligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthwequal and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabér interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese Gbunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 millianthe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicivhwill be recognized through 2016. As of
December 31, 2012, $8.4 million of this gain waduded in long-term debt. In October 2011, we dsighated our $125 million interest rate
swaps that had previously been designated asdhiehedges. The $125 million variable interet savaps and the $125 millidined interes
rate swaps do not meet the criteria for hedge adewy All changes in the fair value of these iet# rate swaps are recorded currently in
earnings.

In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgpswa $75 million of our underlying fixed-rate defiigations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpeid us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseaagents was Citibank. In January 2009, we
entered into a $75 million fixed interest rate swagh equal and opposite terms as the $75 millianable interest rate swaps on the 2011
Notes. We agreed to pay a fixed rate to a couatrpvho, in turn, paid us variable rates. Thenterparty to this agreement was Banl
America. The result was a gain of $7.9 milliontba $75 million variable interest rate swaps, whi@s recognized through 2011.

In June 2012, we terminated $73.1 millioiinterest rate swaps with Wells Fargo that haehtentered into on the SunBelt Notes in |
2011. The result was a gain of $2.2 million whichH e recognized through 2017. As of December2811,2, $1.8 million of this gain was
included in long-term debt.

Our loss in the event of nonperformance by thesateoparties could be significant to our finangiakition and results of
operations. These interest rate swaps reducegattexpense by $3.4 million , $7.2 million andGillion for 2012 , 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The difference between interest paid interest received is included as an adjusthoeinterest expense.

PENSION PLANS

Most of our employees participate in defined cdmittion pension plans. We provide a contributioatdndividual retirement
contribution account maintained with the CEOP prityaqual to 5% of the employetligible compensation if such employee is leas e
45 , and 7.5% of the employee’s eligible compepsafisuch employee is age 45older. The defined contribution pension plaxigense wa
$16.1 million , $14.6 million and $13.3 million f@012 , 2011 and 2010 , respectively.

A portion of our bargaining hourly employees couérto participate in our domestic defined beneditgion plans under a flat-benefit
formula. Our funding policy for the defined bengfension plans is consistent with the requiremeffsderal laws and regulations. Our
foreign subsidiaries maintain pension and otheefieplans, which are consistent with statutorycticees. Our defined benefit pension plan
provides that if, within three years following aatiye of control of Olin, any corporate action lgetaor filing made in contemplation of, amc
other things, a plan termination or merger or othemsfer of assets or liabilities of the plan, andh termination, merger or transfer thereafter
takes place, plan benefits would automaticallyrtmedased for affected participants (and retiretiggpants) to absorb any plan surplus (subjec
to applicable collective bargaining requirements).

During the third quarter of 2012, the “Moving Ahefad Progress in the 21st Century Act” became [@lae new law changes the
mechanism for determining interest rates to be @izedalculating minimum defined benefit pensioarpfunding requirements. Interest rates
are determined using an average of rates of a @bpexiod, which can have the effect of increasiregannual discount rate, reducing the
defined benefit pension plan obligation, and paédigtreducing or eliminating the minimum annuahéling requirement. The new law also
increased premiums paid to the PBGC. Based onlaargssumptions and estimates, we will not be redub make any cash contributions to
the domestic defined benefit pension plan at lgaetugh 2013 and under the new law may not be redquo make any additional contributions
for at least the next five years.

As part of the acquisition of KA Steel, as of Det@®m31, 2012, we have recorded a preliminary cgetin liability of $10.0 million for
the withdrawal from a multi-employer defined behefinsion plan.
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Pension Obligations and Funded Stat

Changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets was follows:

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

(% in millions)

(% in millions)

Change in Benefit Obligation uU.S. Foreign Total u.S. Foreign Total
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 1,884.¢ $ 64.5 3 1,949.: $ 1,790.C $ 55.¢ $ 1,845.¢
Service cost 2.8 0.7 3.k 2.¢ 0.€ 3.k
Interest cost 89.2 2.8 92.C 91.Z 3.C 94.2
Actuarial loss 220.¢ 2.2 223.1 126.2 10.1 136.:
Benefits paid (126.9 (3.9 (130.9) (126.5) (3.9 (129.9)
Curtailment — — — 1.1 — 1.1
Currency translation adjustments — 1.4 1.4 — (1.5 (1.5
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 2,070.¢ $ 68.4 % 2,139.. $ 1,884.¢ $ 645 $ 1,949..
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
(% in millions) (% in millions)

Change in Plan Assets u.S. Foreign Total u.sS. Foreign Total
Fair value of plans’ assets at beginnin

of year $ 1,842.¢ $ 64.2 $ 1,906.¢ $ 1,734¢ % 65.5 $ 1,800.-
Actual return on plans’ assets 193.( 5.1 198.1 229.¢ 2.5 232.1
Employer contributions 3.8 1.C 4.8 4.€ 1.1 5.7
Benefits paid (126.9 (3.9 (130.9) (126.5) (3.9 (129.9)
Currency translation adjustments — 14 14 — (1.5) (1.5)
Fair value of plans’ assets at end of yebr  1,912.1  § 68.t $ 1,981.( % 1,842.¢ % 64.2 $ 1,906.¢

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
(% in millions) (% in millions)

Funded Status U.S. Foreign Total uU.S. Foreign Total
Quialified plans $ (93.5) $ 21 % 919 $ 174  $ 1.8 $ 19.2
Non-qualified plans (64.¢) (2.0) (66.€) (59.7) (2.0 (61.7)
Total funded status $ (158.9) $ 01 $ (158.9) $ (425 9 0.2 $ (42.5)

Under ASC 715 we recorded a $99.0 million afterdharge ( $162.0 million pretax) to shareholderwlity as of December 31, 2012

our pension plans. This charge reflected a 108islgint decrease in the plans’ discount ratdjgilgroffset by the favorable performance on

plan assets during 2012. In 2011 , we recorde2beddmillion after-tax charge ( $41.8 million pretao shareholders’ equity as of
December 31, 2011 for our pension plans. Thisgsheaflected a 40 -basis point decrease in thespthscount rate and an unfavorable
actuarial assumption change related to mortaltiiets partially offset by the favorable performaneceplan assets during 2011 .

The $223.1 million actuarial loss for 2012 was @ity due to a 100-basis point decrease in thegdldiscount rate and an unfavorable
actuarial assumption charge related to mortalityesa The $136.3 million actuarial loss for 201dsvprimarily due to a 4basis point decrea
in the plans’ discount rate and an unfavorablea@bassumption charge related to mortality tables
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Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstoemsisted of:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
(% in millions) (% in millions)
U.S. Foreign Total uU.S. Foreign Total
Prepaid benefit cost $ — $ 21 % 21 % 174  $ 1.8 $ 19.2
Accrued benefit in current liabilities (6.0 (0.7 (6.2) (3.9 (0.2 (4.2
Accrued benefit in noncurrent liabilitie: (152.9) (1.9 (154.9) (55.9) (2.9 (57.6)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 557.( 19.€ 576.¢ 415.¢ 19.¢ 435.;
Net balance sheet impact $ 398.7 $ 20 $ 418.7 $ 3731 % 19¢€ $ 392.7

At December 31, 2012 and 2011 , the benefit obhbgadf non-qualified pension plans was $66.8 milland $61.7 million respectively
and was included in the above pension benefit abtig. There were no plan assets for thesequatified pension plans. Benefit payments
the non-qualified pension plans are expected tashfellows: 2013 — $6.2 million ; 2014 — $14.5lion ; 2015 — $3.3 million ; 2016 —
$5.5 million ; and 2017 — $4.7 million . Benefiiyments for the qualified plans are projected tadéollows: 2013 — $121.8 millior2014
— $117.3 million ; 2015 — $113.8 million ; 2016 — 1.6 million ; and 2017 — $107.5 million .

December 31,

2012 2011
($ in millions)
Projected benefit obligation $ 2,139.. $ 1,949.
Accumulated benefit obligation 2,125.¢ 1,941..
Fair value of plan assets 1,981.( 1,906.¢

Years Ended December 31,

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Income 2012 2011 2010
(% in millions)

Service cost $ 6.1 $ 6.1 $ 6.C
Interest cost 92.C 94.2 98.¢€
Expected return on plans’ assets (139.9 (139.5) (138.¢)
Amortization of prior service cost 2.2 0.8 0.7
Recognized actuarial loss 18.1 14.¢ 12.€
Curtailments 11 3.2

Net periodic benefit income $ (21.) $ (225 $ 17.7%)

Included in Other Comprehensive Loss (Pretax)
Liability adjustment $ 162.C $ 41.¢ $ 38.7
Amortization of prior service costs and actuarisses (20.9) (16.7) (16.5)

The defined benefit pension plans’ actuarial |bsg will be recognized from accumulated other carhpnsive loss into net periodic
benefit income in 2013 will be approximately $30limin .

In June 2011, we recorded a curtailment charge df fillion related to the ratification of a newdiand one half year Winchester, East
Alton, IL union labor agreement. In December 2046,recorded a curtailment charge of $3.2 milkasociated with our ongoing relocatior
our Winchester centerfire ammunition manufactupgrations from East Alton, IL to Oxford, MS. Tkezurtailment charges were included
in restructuring charges.
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In March 2010, we recorded a charge of $1.3 milasrociated with an agreement to withdraw our Hesaahe NV chlor alkali hourly
workforce from a multi-employer defined benefit pem plan.

The service cost and the amortization of prior isereost components of pension expense relatdteterhployees of the operating
segments are allocated to the operating segmesésl luan their respective estimated census data.

Pension Plan Assumption

Certain actuarial assumptions, such as discouatrad long-term rate of return on plan assets, hasignificant effect on the amounts
reported for net periodic benefit cost and acchuenkfit obligation amounts. We use a measurenaataf December 31 for our pension
plans.

U.S. Pension Benefits Foreign Pension Benefits
Weighted Average Assumptions 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Discount rate—periodic benefit cost 4.% 5.2% 5.7% 4.4% 5.5% 6.5%
Expected return on assets 8.% 8.25% 8.5% 8.C% 8.C% 7.5%
Rate of compensation increase 3.C% 3.C% 3.C% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5%
Discount rate—benefit obligation 3.€% 4.% 5.2% 4.2% 4.4% 5.5%

The discount rate is based on a hypothetical yiet#te represented by a series of annualized ing@lidero-coupon bond spot rates for
maturities ranging from one-half to thirty yearBhe bonds used in the yield curve must have agati\A or better per Standard & Poor’s, be
non-callable, and have at least $250 million pastanding. The yield curve is then applied toghgected benefit payments from the
plan. Based on these bonds and the projectedibpagfnent streams, the single rate that proddwesame yield as the matching bond
portfolio, rounded to the nearest quarter pointised as the discount rate.

The long-term expected rate of return on plan agsgiresents an estimate of the long-term ratetafnis on the investment portfolio
consisting of equities, fixed income, and altenatnhvestments. We use long-term historical aatefairn information, the allocation mix of
investments that comprise plan assets, and forestistates of long-term investment returns, ineigdnflation rates, by reference to external
sources. The historic rate of return on plan adsa$ been 9.5% for the last 5 years, 12.3% foiatel0 years, and 9.0% for the last 15
years. The following rates of return by asset<lasre considered in setting the I-term rate of return assumption:

U.S. equities 9% to 13%
Non-U.S. equities 10% to 14%
Fixed income/cash 5% to 9%
Alternative investments 5% to 15%
Absolute return strategies 8% to 12%
Plan Assets

Our pension plan asset allocation at December@12 2nd 2011 , by asset class was as follows:

Percentage of Plan Assets

Asset Class 2012 2011

U.S. equities 6% 5%
Non-U.S. equities 7% 8%
Fixed income/cash 53% 56%
Alternative investments 18% 16%
Absolute return strategies 16% 15%
Total 10C% 10C%
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The Alternative Investments asset class includdgdéunds, real estate, and private equity investeneThe Alternative Investment
class is intended to help diversify risk and inseegeturns by utilizing a broader group of assets.

Absolute Return Strategies further diversify then assets through the use of asset allocatiaséek to provide a targeted rate of
return over inflation. The investment managerscaite funds within asset classes that they contides undervalued in an effort to preserve
gains in overvalued asset classes and to find &ypities in undervalued asset classes.

A master trust was established by our pension folaxtcumulate funds required to meet benefit paysneihour plan and is administered
solely in the interest of our plan’s participantsl aheir beneficiaries. The master trastivestment horizon is long term. Its assetsrarage:
by professional investment managers or investgaafessionally managed investment vehicles.

Our pension plan maintains a portfolio of assetsgieed to achieve an appropriate risk adjustedmetlihe portfolio of assets is also
structured to protect the funding level from th@aité/e impacts of interest rate changes on the asskliability values. This is accomplished
by investing in a portfolio of assets with a matuduration that approximately matches the duratibtine plan liabilities. Risk is managed by
diversifying assets across asset classes whose gtierns are not highly correlated, investingassively and actively managed strategie
in value and growth styles, and by periodic rebeifagn of asset classes, strategies and investmdas $b objectively set targets.

As of December 31, 2012, the following target editon and ranges have been set for each assgt clas

Asset Class Target Allocation  Target Range

U.S. equities 6% 0-14
Non-U.S. equities 6% 0-14
Fixed income/cash 61% 44-76
Alternative investments 7% 0-28
Absolute return strategies 20% 10-30

We do have a small Canadian qualified pension fgavhich we made $0.9 million of cash contributiom2012 and 2011 and we
anticipate less than $5 million of cash contribugion 2013 .
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Determining which hierarchical level an asset ability falls within requires significant judgment.he following table summarizes our

domestic and foreign defined benefit pension pksets measured at fair value as of December 32,:201

Asset class

Equity securities
U.S. equities
Non-U.S. equities
Fixed income / cash
Cash
Government treasuries
Corporate debt instruments
Asset-backed securities
Alternative investments
Hedge fund of funds
Real estate funds
Private equity funds
Absolute return strategies

Total assets

Quoted Prices Significant
In Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(% in millions)
$ 94.¢ $ 16 $ — 3 111.7
42.¢ 105.¢ — 148.F
38.2 — 38.2
— 501.% 5.€ 507.:
1.8 358.( 12.2 372.(
— 141.¢ — 141.¢
— — 286.¢ 286.¢
— — 38.2 38.2
— — 18.t 18.F
— 277.( 40.¢ 317.¢
$ 1777 % 1,401.. $ 402.2 % 1,981.(

The following table summarizes our domestic aneifpr defined benefit pension plan assets measufadt @alue as of December 31,

2011:

Asset class

Equity securities
U.S. equities
Non-U.S. equities
Fixed income / cash
Cash
Government treasuries
Corporate debt instruments
Asset-backed securities
Alternative investments
Hedge fund of funds
Real estate funds
Private equity funds
Absolute return strategies

Total assets

Quoted Prices Significant
In Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(% in millions)
78.¢ % 14¢ $ — % 93.7
51.4 107.€ — 159.(
50.1 — 50.1
— 476.2 5.2 481.7
3.1 395.t 2.6 401.t
— 122.2 — 122.2
— — 258.: 258.1
— — 33.¢ 33.¢
— — 16.€ 16.¢
— 254.% 35.2 289.7
183.¢ $ 1,370.¢ $ 352.¢ $ 1,906.¢

U.S. equities—This class included actively and passively managgdty investments in common stock and commin§lieds
comprised primarily of large-capitalization stoekith value, core and growth strategies.
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Non-U.S. equities—This class included actively managed equity innestts in commingled funds comprised primarily adémational
large-capitalization stocks from both developed emérging markets.

Fixed income and cashhis class included commingled funds comprisedatitdnstruments issued by the U.S. and Canadian
Treasuries, U.S. Agencies, corporate debt instrisnasset- and mortgage-backed securities and cash.

Hedge fund of funds This class included a hedge fund which investhénfollowing types of hedge funds:

Event driven hedge funds¥his class included hedge funds that invest intesi to capture excess returns that are driven by
market or specific company events including activisestment philosophies and the arbitrage oftgcanid private and public
debt securities.

Market neutral hedge funds-This class included investments in U.S. and irgBomal equities and fixed income securities
while maintaining a market neutral position in taosarkets.

Other hedge funds-This class primarily included long-short equityaségies and a global macro fund which investdikéad
income, equity, currency, commodity and relatedvagive markets.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the asset allocat@aded investment in approximately 20% eventehihedge funds, 35% market
neutral hedge funds, and 45% other hedge funds.

Real estate funds-This class included several funds that invest grilpin U.S. commercial real estate.

Private equity funds—This class included several private equity furids tnvest primarily in infrastructure and U.S. povgeneration
and transmission assets.

Absolute return strategies-This class included multiple strategies which asget allocations that seek to provide a targettedaf
return over inflation. The investment managerscaite funds within asset classes that they contades undervalued in an effort to preserve
gains in overvalued asset classes and to find tymities in undervalued asset classes. At DeceBibe2012 , the asset allocation included
investment in approximately 25% equities, 65% casthfixed income, and 10% alternative investmeAtsDecember 31, 2011 , the asset
allocation included investments in approximately@&quities, 60% cash and fixed income, and 15%raltee investments.

U.S. equities and non-U.S. equities are primardiped at the net asset value provided by the intd#gre administrator or custodian of
the commingled fund. The net asset value is bardtie value of the underlying equities, whichtaaeled on an active market. U.S. equities
are also valued at the closing price reported iadive market on which the individual securities maded. Fixed income investments are
primarily valued at the net asset value providedhayindependent administrator or custodian ofttine. The net asset value is based on the
underlying assets, which are valued using inputh s the closing price reported, if traded ondiva market, values derived from
comparable securities of issuers with similar drestings, or under a discounted cash flow appralbatutilizes observable inputs, such as
current yields of similar instruments, but includeustments for risks that may not be observalté ss certain credit and liquidity
risks. Alternative investments are primarily valus the net asset value as determined by the émdigmt administrator or custodian of the
fund. The net asset value is based on the undgrigivestments, which are valued using inputs sischuoted market prices of identical
instruments, discounted future cash flows, indepahdppraisals, and market-based comparable édfsolute return strategies are
commingled funds which reflect the fair value of ownership interest in these funds. The investmenthese commingled funds include
some or all of the above asset classes and arafilsimalued at net asset values based on the lymugpinvestments, which are valued
consistent with the methodologies described abovedch asset class.
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The following table summarizes the activity for al@fined benefit pension plans level 3 assetshiryear ended December 31, 2012 :

Unrealized
Gain/(Loss)
Relating to Purchases,
December 31, Realized Assets Heldat Sales, and Transfers December 31,
2011 Gain/(Loss) Period End Settlements In/(Out) 2012
(% in millions)
Fixed income / cash
Government treasuries $ 54 & — $ 0t % 0.9 % — $ 5.€
Corporate debt instruments 2.8 0.2 0.1 8.¢ — 12.2
Alternative investments
Hedge fund of funds 258.< — 25.€ 3.C — 286.¢
Real estate funds 33.¢ 0.€ 2.4 1.1 — 38.2
Private equity funds 16.¢ — 1.2 0.4 — 18.t
Absolute return strategies 35.2 — 3.C 2.€ — 40.¢
Total level 3 assets $ 352¢ % 11 $ 32¢ % 15¢ % — % 402.2

The following table summarizes the activity for a@fined benefit pension plans level 3 assetshfear ended December 31, 2011 :

Unrealized
Gain/(Loss)
Relating to Purchases,
December 31, Realized Assets Held at Sales, and Transfers December 31,
2010 Gain/(Loss)  Period End Settlements In/(Out) 2011

(% in millions)
Fixed income / cash

Government treasuries $ 55 $ — ¢ 0.2 $ 0z $ —  $ 5.5

Corporate debt instruments 2.2 0.3 (0.6) 1.C — 2.¢
Alternative investments

Hedge fund of funds 251.¢ — 6.7 — — 258.:

Real estate funds 23.¢ — 3.7 6.4 — 33.¢

Private equity funds 15.7 — 1.1 — — 16.¢
Absolute return strategies 53.¢ — 0.€ (19.9) — 35.2
Total level 3 assets $ 3527 % 03 $ 112 $ (119 $ — % 352.¢

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
We provide certain postretirement health care (cadpiand life insurance benefits for eligible aetand retired domestic

employees. The health care plans are contribwtahyparticipants’contributions adjusted annually based on medidakraf inflation and pla
experience. We use a measurement date of Decé&hlfer our postretirement plans.
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Other Postretirement Benefits Obligations and FurdiStatus

Changes in the benefit obligation were as follows:

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

(% in millions)

(% in millions)

Change in Benefit Obligation uU.S. Foreign Total u.S. Foreign Total
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 63.2 $ 11€¢ $ 74¢ % 64.5 $ 9.2 % 73.¢
Service cost 11 0.1 1.2 11 0.2 1.2
Interest cost 2.7 0.4 3.1 3.C 0.5 3.t
Actuarial loss 7.4 (2.5 4.¢ 2.8 2.3 5.1
Benefits paid (9.0 (0.9 (9.9 (8. (0.9 (8.5
Currency translation adjustments — 0.2 2 — (0.3 0.9
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 65.5 $ 9t § 75.C $ 63.2 $ 11€¢ $ 74.¢
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
($ in millions) ($ in millions)

uU.S. Foreign Total uU.S. Foreign Total

Funded status $ (65.5) $ (9.5) $ (75.(:) $ (63.5) $ (11.6) $ (74.5)

Under ASC 715 we recorded a $2.9 million afterd¢harge ( $4.8 million pretax) to shareholders’ ggas of December 31, 2012 for
our other postretirement plans. In 2011 , we eda $3.1 million after-tax charge ( $5.0 milljpretax) to shareholders’ equity as of

December 31, 2011 for our other postretirementplan

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetslwamsisted of:

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

(% in millions)

(% in millions)

U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Accrued benefit in current liabilities  $ (5.9 ¢ 0.3 $ 6.2 $ 6.0 $ 09 % (6.4
Accrued benefit in noncurrent liabilities (59.7) (9.2 (68.9) (57.9) (11.2) (68.5)
Accumulated other comprehensive los 39.2 (0.8 38.4 35.C 1.7 36.7
Net balance sheet impact $ (26.9 $ (10.9 §$ (36.6 §$ (28.9 $ 99 $ (38.9
Years Ended December 31,
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 2012 2011 2010
($ in millions)

Service cost $ 12 % 12 8 .8
Interest cost 3.1 3.t 3.6
Amortization of prior service cost (0.7) (0.2 (0.2
Recognized actuarial loss 3.2 3.2 2.€
Curtailment — — (0.2
Net periodic benefit cost $ 74 % 7€ % 7.3
Included in Other Comprehensive Loss (Pretax)

Liability adjustment $ 48 % 5 % 3.€
Amortization of prior service costs and actuarnielses (3.2 (3.0 (2.2
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The other postretirement plans’ actuarial loss wikitbe recognized from accumulated other compnshe loss into net periodic benefit
cost in 2013 will be approximately $4 million .

The service cost and amortization of prior sergiast components of postretirement benefit expesisged to the employees of the
operating segments are allocated to the operagiggnents based on their respective estimated celasas

In December 2010, we recorded a curtailment cafdsD.2 million associated with our ongoing relecatof our Winchester centerfire
ammunition manufacturing operations from East Altanto Oxford, MS. This credit was included irsteicturing charges for 2010.

Other Postretirement Benefits Plan Assumptions

Certain actuarial assumptions, such as discouat hatve a significant effect on the amounts repdde net periodic benefit cost and
accrued benefit obligation amounts.

December 31,

Weighted Average Assumptions 2012 2011 2010
Discount rate—periodic benefit cost 4.€% 4.% 5.25%
Discount rate—benefit obligation 3.€% 4.€% 4.5%

The discount rate is based on a hypothetical yietde represented by a series of annualized ing@idero-coupon bond spot rates for
maturities ranging from one-half to thirty yearBhe bonds used in the yield curve must have agatirAA or better per Standard & Poor’s, be
non-callable, and have at least $250 million pastamding. The yield curve is then applied toghgected benefit payments from the
plan. Based on these bonds and the projectedibpagient streams, the single rate that produtesame yield as the matching bond
portfolio, rounded to the nearest quarter pointissd as the discount rate.

We review external data and our own internal trédnd$iealthcare costs to determine the healthaasefor the post retirement benefit
obligation. The assumed healthcare cost trend fatere-65 retirees were as follows:

December 31,

2012 2011
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for next year 9.(% 9.5%
Rate that the cost trend rate gradually declines to 5.C% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate rate 202( 202(

For post-65 retirees, we provide a fixed dollardfgnwhich is not subject to escalation.

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effieitte amounts reported for the healthcare plangne-percentage-point change in
assumed healthcare cost trend rates would havieltbeing effects:

One-Percentage One-Percentage
Point Increase  Point Decrease

(% in millions)
Effect on total of service and interest costs $ 02 $ (0.2
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 3.¢ (3.9

We expect to make payments of approximately $6anillor each of the next five years under the miovis of our other postretirement
benefit plans.
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INCOME TAXES

Years ended December 31,

Components of Income Before Taxes 2012 2011 2010

($ in millions)
Domestic $ 189.¢ & 360.: % 74.2
Foreign 35.2 19.1 2.t
Income before taxes $ 2252 $ 379.« $ 76.€

Components of Income Tax Provision
Current expense:

Federal $ 15¢€ $ 39t % 6.7
State 4.7 6.1 6.4
Foreign 10.c 5.t (2.7
30.€ 51.1 10.4

Deferred 45.C 86.€ 1.7
Income tax provision $ 756§ 1377 $ 12.1

The following table accounts for the differencevietn the actual tax provision and the amounts bthby applying the statutory U.S.
federal income tax rate of 35% to the income befaxes.

Years ended December 31,

Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation (Percent) 2012 2011 2010
Statutory federal tax rate 35.C% 35.C% 35.C%
Foreign rate differential (0.7 (0.7 (0.6)
Domestic manufacturing/export tax incentive (1.0 (2.0 (0.9
Dividends paid to CEOP (0.9 0.3 (1.5
State income taxes, net i1& 11 1.€
Change in tax contingencies 0.t (1.3 (11.9
Change in valuation allowance 0.1 0.1 (5.6
Return to provision — 0.t (0.8
Remeasurement of deferred taxes 0.7 1.3 —
Incremental tax effect of SunBelt remeasurement — 3.3 —
Section 450 tax credit (3.0 — —
Australia dividend residual tax expense 3 — —
Other, net 0.2 0.1 0.4
Effective tax rate 33.€% 36.5% 15.7%

90




December 31,
Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 2012 2011
($ in millions)

Deferred tax assets:

Pension and postretirement benefits $ 93.: % 48.4
Environmental reserves 60.t 66.5
Asset retirement obligations 28.€ 28.t
Accrued liabilities 43.1 42.4
Tax credits 10.¢ 10.Z
Federal and state net operating losses 6.7 5.7
Capital loss carryforward 15.t 15.C
Other miscellaneous items - 13.7
Total deferred tax assets 263.¢ 230.¢
Valuation allowance (21.3) (24.7)
Net deferred tax assets 242 206.%
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment 178.¢ 147.¢
Intangible amortization 8.€ 10.t
Inventory and prepaids — 4.3
Partnerships 95.C 92.4
Total deferred tax liabilities 282.7 255.(
Net deferred tax liability $ (40.0 $ (48.7)

Realization of the net deferred tax assets, irr@speof indefinite-lived deferred tax liabilitiess dependent on future reversals of
existing taxable temporary differences and adediudiiee taxable income, exclusive of reversing terapy differences and
carryforwards. Although realization is not assured believe that it is more likely than not thae ihet deferred tax assets will be realized.

The effective tax rate for 2012 included a ben#f$6.6 million associated with Section 450 thaswa will be claimed on our 2008 to
2012 U.S. federal income tax returns.

We completed the acquisition of KA Steel on Auge@t2012, with both parties agreeing to an eleatiotier Section 338(h)(10) of the
U.S. IRC, which allows us to treat the transactisran asset acquisition for U.S. federal incometaposes. KA Steel did not carry forward
any significant tax attributes.

At December 31, 2012 , and 20d& had no realized foreign tax credit carryforwaréé December 31, 2010, we had federal tax bes
of $2.1 million relating to actual foreign tax ciedarryforwards. Our tax benefits for the foreigix credit carryforwards and the associated
valuation allowance were as follows:

Foreign Valuation
Tax Benefit Allowance
(% in millions)

Balance at January 1, 2011 $ 21 % =
Decreases for prior year utilization (1.8 —
Increases for current year generation 3.C —
Decreases for current year utilization 3.3 —

Balance at December 31, 2011 — —
Increases for current year generation 8.€ —
Decreases for current year utilization (8.6) —

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ — $ —

91




In 2007, we acquired federal tax benefits of $4ilion as part of the Pioneer acquisition associatéth the expected future foreign tax
credits that will be generated by the deferreditbilities of Pioneer's Canadian subsidiary. Aed@mber 31, 2012, we had federal tax benefi
of $1.5 million recorded associated with the expddtture foreign tax credits. Realization of the benefits associated with such foreign tax
credits is dependent upon reversal of Canadiandesmy differences, future U.S. taxable income artdre foreign source taxable income. We
believe that it is more likely than not that théaiteed tax benefits will be realized and no valortallowance is necessary.

We acquired a U.S. net operating loss carryforv@L) of approximately $6.6 million (representing.$ million of deferred tax
assets) as part of the Pioneer acquisition. Aeberer 31, 2012, we had approximately $3.5 millimpfesenting $1.2 million of deferred tax
assets) remaining, that will expire in years 20&dugh 2020, if not utilized. The utilization &fi$ NOL is limited under Section 382 of the
U.S. IRC to $0.5 million in each year through 2028e believe that it is more likely than not tha¢ NOL will be realized and no valuation
allowance is necessatry.

At December 31, 2012, we had deferred state tagftierf $1.4 million relating to state NOLs, whiahe available to offset future state
taxable income through 2030. Due to uncertaimggsrding realization of the tax benefits, a vabraallowance of $0.7 million has been
applied against the deferred state tax benefideaember 31, 2012.

At December 31, 2012, we had deferred state tagflierf $9.4 million relating to state tax creditghich are available to offset future
state tax liabilities through 2026. Due to undettas regarding the realization of these statectexits, a valuation allowance of $4.9 million
has been applied against the deferred state tdik<et December 31, 2012.

At December 31, 2012, we had a capital loss canmded of $39.8 million (representing $15.5 milliohdeferred tax assets) that is
available to offset future consolidated capitahgahat will expire in years 2013 through 2017df ntilized. Due to uncertainties regarding the
realization of the capital loss carryforward, aunagion allowance of $15.5 million has been apptigdinst the deferred tax benefit at Decembe
31, 2012.

The total amount of undistributed earnings of fgnesubsidiaries was approximately $6.1 million acBmber 31, 2012. Deferred taxes
are provided for earnings of non-U.S. affiliatesamtwe plan to remit those earnings. A portiorhef tindistributed earnings have been
permanently reinvested and for those earnings ferrée taxes have been provided. Deferred taxes hat been provided on the excess bool
basis in the shares of certain foreign subsididrézsuse these basis differences are not expecteddrse in the foreseeable future. The
undistributed earnings and excess book basis difters could reverse through a sale, receipt ofieinds from the subsidiaries, as well as
various other events. It is not practical to cltaithe residual income tax that would resulbéde basis differences reversed due to the
complexities of the tax law and the hypotheticalina of the calculations.

As of December 31, 2012, we had $40.1 million afsgrunrecognized tax benefits, which would havet&88.4 million impact on the
effective tax rate, if recognized. As of Decem®g&r2011, we had $37.9 million of gross unrecoghize benefits, all of which would have a
net $36.1 million impact on the effective tax rateecognized. The change for 2012 primarily tessto additional gross unrecognized benefit
for prior year and current year tax positions, &4 as the expiration of the statute of limitationglomestic jurisdictions and settlement of
ongoing audits. The amounts of unrecognized taefits were as follows:

December 31,

2012 2011
(% in millions)
Beginning balance $ 37.¢ % 41.t
Increase for prior year tax positions 3.1 0.1
Decrease for prior year tax positions (0.9 —
Increase for current year tax positions 0.1 —
Decrease due to tax settlements 0.3 (0.2
Reductions due to statute of limitations 0.3 (3.6
Ending balance $ 401 $ 37.€

92




We recognize interest and penalty expense relatadrecognized tax positions as a component oftt@me tax provision. As of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, interest and penalti@sied were $3.3 million and $3.2 million , restpeely. For 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , we
expensed interest and penalties of $0.5 milliod.7 $nillion and $0.8 million , respectively.

As of December 31, 2012 , we believe it is reashynadssible that our total amount of unrecognizedtienefits will decrease by
approximately $10.9 million over the next twelventtts. The anticipated reduction primarily reldtesettlements with tax authorities and the
expiration of federal, state, and foreign statatelémitation.

We operate primarily in North America and file imge tax returns in numerous jurisdictions. Ourrebarns are subject to examination
by various federal, state and local authoritiese hlieve we have adequately provided for all @sitpns; however, amounts asserted by
taxing authorities could be greater than our aatpasition. For our primary tax jurisdictions, tta years that remain subject to examination
are as follows:

Tax Years
U.S. federal income tax 2007-2011
U.S. state income tax 2004-2011
Canadian federal income tax 2007-2011
Canadian provincial income tax 2007-2011

During third quarter 2010, the IRS completed antaafcour U.S. income tax return for 2006. Durisgcond quarter 2010, the Canada
Revenue Agency completed an audit of a portionuof@anadian tax returns for the 2005 to 2007 tars/eNo issues arose under either the
U.S. audit or the Canadian audit that requireddfitimnal tax liability to be recognized. We bekewe have adequately provided for all tax
positions; however, amounts asserted by taxingoaiti's could be greater than our accrued position.

ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Included in accrued liabilities were the following:

December 31,

2012 2011
($ in millions)

Accrued compensation and payroll taxes $ 49.€ $ 427
Accrued employee benefits 28.2 437
Environmental (current portion only) 21.C 31.C
Legal and professional costs 21.¢ 24.£
Asset retirement obligation (current portion only) 21.c 12.C
Earn out 23.2 18.¢
Other 63.2 64.¢

Accrued liabilities $ 2285 $ 2372

CONTRIBUTING EMPLOYEE OWNERSHIP PLAN

The CEOP is a defined contribution plan availablegsentially all domestic employees. Company hirggccontributions are invested
in the same investment allocation as the employasitribution. Our matching contributions for dlilg employees amounted to $5.2 million ,
$5.2 million and $2.0 million in 2012 , 2011 andlPQ respectively. Effective February 1, 2011,reiestated the match on all salaried and
certain non-bargained hourly employees’ contrimajavhich had previously been suspended effectimeaky 1, 2010.

Employees become vested in the value of the cariois we make to the CEOP according to a schdzhged on service. After two

years of service, participants 25% vested. They vest in increments of 25% foheaitlitional year and after five years of servibey are
100% vested in the value of the contributions #athave made to their accounts.
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Employees may transfer any or all of the valuéhefinvestments, including Olin common stock, to ang or combination of
investments available in the CEOP. Employees master balances daily and may elect to transfempancentage of the balance in the fund
from which the transfer is made. However, whengfarring out of a fund, employees are prohibitednf trading out of the fund to which the
transfer was made for seven calendar days. Thitalion does not apply to trades into the moneyketaund or the Olin Common Stock
Fund.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
Stock-based compensation expense was allocatbe tiperating segments for the portion related tpleyees whose compensation
would be included in cost of goods sold with thexaender recognized in corporate/other. There wersignificant capitalized stock-based

compensation costs. Stock-based compensationegrardludes stock options, performance stock awaedsricted stock awards, and deferrec
directors’ compensation. Stock-based compensatipense was as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(% in millions)
Stock-based compensation $ 84 % 8.8 $ 10.1
Mark-to-market adjustments 0.6 (0.5) 1.2
Total expense $ 92 $ 82 § 11.5
Stock Plans

Under the stock option and lortgrm incentive plans, options may be granted tehmse shares of our common stock at an exercise
not less than fair market value at the date oftgiamd are exercisable for a period not exceeding/éars from that date. Stock options,
restricted stock and performance shares typicat wver three years. We issue shares to seitlk sptions, restricted stock, and share-base
performance awards. On April 23, 2009, the shddehe approved the 2009 Long Term Incentive Plaithvhuthorized an additional 3.0
million shares available for grant. In 2012 , 2@kt 2010 long-term incentive awards included stiqmtions, performance share awards, and
restricted stock. The stock option exercise prias set at the fair market value of common stoctherdate of the grant, and the options he
ten -year term.

Stock option transactions were as follows:

Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Shares Option Price  Option Price Options Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1, 2012 3,764,871 $14.2823.7¢ $ 17.8¢ 2,41534 % 18.4¢
Granted 480,25( 21.9: 21.92
Exercised (80,787 14.28418.7¢ 16.2¢
Canceled (103,549 14.2818.7¢ 16.3¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 4,060,79' $14.2823.7¢ $ 18.3¢ 2,961,43‘ $ 18.0(

At December 31, 2012 , the average exercise pésiogal outstanding and exercisable options wag@@ths and 57 months,
respectively. At December 31, 2012 , the aggreigatimsic value (the difference between the exargrice and market value) for outstanding
options was $13.3 million and exercisable optioas %10.9 million . The total intrinsic value oftimms exercised during the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $0.5 milli&h2 million and $0.9 million , respectively.

The total unrecognized compensation cost relateshtested stock options at December 31, 2012 wasrilion and was expected to
be recognized over a weighted average period ofdags.
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The following table provides certain informationtvrespect to stock options exercisable at Decei@®beg2012 :

Weighted Weighted

Range of Options Average Options Average
Exercise Prices Exercisable Exercise Price  Outstanding Exercise Price
Under $16.00 1,140,98: $ 14.8¢ 1,388,80: $ 15.0¢
$16.00 — $20.00 661,25¢ $ 17.5i 1,032,54" % 18.0(
Over $20.00 1,159,19: $ 21.3( 1,639,44. $ 21.4¢

2,961,43 4,060,79

At December 31, 2012 , common shares reserved$aance and available for grant or purchase uhddbtlowing plans consisted of:

Number of Shares

Available for
Reserved for Grant or

Stock Option Plans Issuance Purchase®
2000 long term incentive plan 605,29¢ 86,11
2003 long term incentive plan 876,31! 22,00¢
2006 long term incentive plan 2,251,46: 171,98:
2009 long term incentive plan 2,993,66: 1,631,91
6,726,741 1,912,02
1996 stock option plan (plan expired) 66,53¢ —
6,793,27 1,912,02

Total under stock option plans

Number of Shares

Available for
Reserved for Grant or
Stock Purchase Plans Issuance Purchase
1997 stock plan for non-employee directors 596,922 220,71z
Employee deferral plan 46,34C 45,644
643,262 266,35¢

Total under stock purchase plans

(1) Allavailable to be issued as stock optiong,ibcludes a sub-limit for all types of stock adsof 1,402,605hares
Under the stock purchase plans, our non-employeetdrs may defer certain elements of their comgims into shares of our common

stock based on fair market value of the shardseatime of deferral. Non-employee directors anlyuaiceive stock grants as a portion of their
director compensation. Of the shares reservedruhdestock purchase plans at December 31, 2012,689 shares were committed.
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Performance share awards are denominated in shiapes stock and are paid half in cash and hat#tatk. Payouts are based on Olin’s
average annual return on capital over a three {yedormance cycle in relation to the average ahratarn on capital over the same period
among a portfolio of public companies which arestdd in concert with outside compensation constdtaThe expense associated with
performance shares is recorded based on our estohaur performance relative to the respectivgdar If an employee leaves the company
before the end of the performance cycle, the peréoice shares may be prorated based on the numimemdiis of the performance cycle
worked and are settled in cash instead of halash@and half in stock when the three-year perfoomaycle is completed. Performance share
transactions were as follows:

To Settle in Cash To Settle in Shares

Weighted

Weighted Average
Average Fair Fair Value per

Shares Value per Share Shares Share

Outstanding at January 1, 2012 267,73t $ 19.7¢ 254,12! $ 15.8:
Granted 79,56¢ 22.6( 81,62t 24.11
Paid/lssued (101,723 19.7¢ (93,500 14.2¢
Canceled (41¢) 19.7¢ — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 245,16 $ 21.4¢ 242.25( % 19.2:
Total vested at December 31, 2012 15341 § 21.4% 150,50  $ 18.0¢

The summary of the status of our unvested perfoceaahares to be settled in cash were as follows:

Weighted

Average
Fair Value per

Shares Share

Unvested at January 1, 2012 67,50( $ 19.7¢
Granted 79,56¢ 22.6(
Vested (55,319 21.4¢
Unvested at December 31, 2012 91,75( $ 21.4f

At December 31, 2012 , the liability recorded ferformance shares to be settled in cash total&riion . The total unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested performammes at December 31, 2012 was $3.9 million andexpscted to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.1 years.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

During 2012, 2011 and 2010, we issued 0.1 miljiorb million ; and 0.2 million shares, respediyevith a total value of $1.4 million
$9.3 million and $3.1 million , respectively, repemating stock options exercised. In addition, w2012 , 2011 and 2010 , we issued zero ;
zero ; and 0.6 million shares of common stock, @espely, with a total value of zero , zero and R1@illion , respectively, to the
CEOP. Effective September 23, 2010, our CEOP b&gpaorchase shares in the open market in liewpfssuing shares to satisfy the
investment in our common stock resulting from emgptocontributions, our matching contributions,regtient contributions and re-invested
dividends. Effective February 1, 2011, we reirediahe match on all salaried and certain non-baeghihourly employeegontributions, whic
had previously been suspended effective Janu&§10.

On July 21, 2011, our board of directors authoriaesthare repurchase program of up to 5 millioneshaf common stock that will
terminate in three years for any of the remainimarss not yet repurchased. We purchased anddrétiemillion shares in 2012 and 2011
under this program, at a cost of $3.1 million add$million , respectively. As of December 31, 2Qwe had purchased a total of 0.4 million
shares under this program and 4.6 million sham@sireed authorized to be purchased.

We have registered an undetermined amount of s@with the SEC, so that, from time-to-time, waynissue debt securities,
preferred stock and/or common stock and associededants in the public market under that registrastatement.
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The following table represents the activity inclddie accumulated other comprehensive loss:

Unrealized
Foreign Gains (Losses) Pension and Accumulated
Currency on Derivative Postretirement Other
Translation Contracts Benefits Comprehensive
Adjustment (net of taxes) (net of taxes) Loss
(% in millions)

Balance at January 1, 2010 $ 05 $ 11.€ $ (259.9 $ (248.7)
Unrealized gains (losses) 0.6 5.4 (26.0 (19.9)
Reclassification adjustments into income — (5.9) 11t 6.1

Balance at December 31, 2010 0.4 11.€ (273.9) (261.9)
Unrealized gains (losses) 1.4 (10.6 (29.0 (38.2)
Reclassification adjustments into income — (6.3 12.1 5.8

Balance at December 31, 2011 1.8 (5.3 (290.%) (294.2)
Unrealized gains (losses) 0.3 6.C (101.9 (95.6
Reclassification adjustments into income — 4.C 14.t 18.t

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 21 $ 47 % (378.) $ (371.9)

Pension and postretirement benefits (net of taxet®)ity in other comprehensive loss included the#ization of prior service costs a
actuarial losses and pension and postretiremdsilitjgadjustments.

Unrealized gains and losses on derivative cont(@aetsof taxes) activity in other comprehensivesloeluded a deferred tax provision
(benefit) for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 of $6.4 millid®(10.7) million and zero , respectively. Pensaod postretirement benefits (net of taxes)
activity in other comprehensive loss included adefd tax benefit for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 of $56illon , $10.2 million and $9.1 million ,
respectively.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

We define segment results as income (loss) befieeast expense, interest income, other operatirmnie, other (expense) income, and
income taxes, and include the results of non-cadesi@d affiliates. Consistent with the guidanc&BC 280, we have determined it is
appropriate to include the operating results of-oonsolidated affiliates in the relevant segmemaiicial results. Intersegment sales of $18.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2012, represetitergale of caustic soda, bleach, and hydrochémiit to Chemical Distribution fro
Chlor Alkali Products, at prices that approximataerket, have been eliminated from Chlor Alkali Produsegment sales.
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Sales:
Chlor Alkali Products
Chemical Distribution
Winchester
Total sales
Income before taxes:
Chlor Alkali Products
Chemical Distribution
Winchester
Corporate/Other
Restructuring charges
Acquisition costs
Other operating income
Interest expense
Interest income
Other (expense) income
Income before taxes
Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates:
Chlor Alkali Products
Depreciation and amortization expense:
Chlor Alkali Products
Chemical Distribution
Winchester
Corporate/Other
Total depreciation and amortization expense
Capital spending:
Chlor Alkali Products
Chemical Distribution
Winchester
Corporate/Other

Total capital spending

Assets:
Chlor Alkali Products
Chemical Distribution
Winchester
Corporate/Other
Total assets

Investments—affiliated companies (at equity):

Chlor Alkali Products

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
($ in millions)

1,410.8 $ 1,389.. $ 1,036.¢
156.: — —
617.¢ 572.( 549.:

2,184." % 1,961.. $ 1,585.¢
263z $ 245 $ 117.2

4.t — —
55.2 37.€ 63.C
(51.9) (46.7) (48.7)
(8.9 (10.9) (34.2)
8.9 (0.9) —
7.€ 8.8 2.5
(26.4) (30.9) (25.9)
1.C 1.2 1.C
(11.9 175.1 1.5
2252 % 379.¢ $ 76.€
3C % 9€ $ 29.¢
88.¢ $ 85t $ 74.¢
5.5 — —
13.€ 10.€ 10.1
2.6 2.8 2.C
110¢ % 929.: % 86.¢€
2215 $ 134 $ 67.€
0.8 — —
32.1 63.€ 15.2
s 2.8 2.t
2557 $ 200.¢ % 85.c

December 31,

2012 2011

(% in millions)
1,781.¢ $ 1,652.:
379.% —
340. 328.¢
275.k 468.
2,777, $ 2,449.¢
295 $ 27.€




Segment assets include only those assets whidtiractly identifiable to an operating segment. ésf the corporate/other segment
include primarily such items as cash and cash adpunvs, deferred taxes, restricted cash and ofisets

Years ended December 31,

Geographic Data 2012 2011 2010
Sales: ($ in millions)
United States $ 1,970 $ 1,774 $ 1,425.°
Foreign 214.2 187.1 160.2
Transfers between areas:
United States 53.t 50.C 39.4
Foreign 85.5 95.5 66.1
Eliminations (239.0 (145.9) (105.5
Total sales $ 2,184, $ 1,961.: $ 1,585.¢

December 31,

2012 2011
Assets: ($ in millions)
United States $ 2,520.¢ $ 2,208.¢
Foreign 256.¢ 240.¢
Total assets $ 2777 $ 2,449.¢

Transfers between geographic areas are pricedabnat prevailing market prices. Export salesyrthe United States to unaffiliated
customers were $25.1 million , $22.0 million an@3#2million in 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL

In the United States, the establishment and impi¢ation of federal, state and local standardsdolege air, water and land quality
affect substantially all of our manufacturing Idoas. Federal legislation providing for regulatioiithe manufacture, transportation, use and
disposal of hazardous and toxic substances, aneldiation of contaminated sites, has imposed adhditicegulatory requirements on industry,
particularly the chemicals industry. In additiaomplementation of environmental laws, such as thsdRrce Conservation and Recovery Act
and the Clean Air Act, has required and will con&ro require new capital expenditures and wiliéase plant operating costs. Our Canadiar
facility is governed by federal environmental laadsministered by Environment Canada and by provircigironmental laws enforced by
administrative agencies. Many of these laws ameparable to the U.S. laws described above. We@mphste minimization and pollution
prevention programs at our manufacturing sites.

We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufamuecilities and former waste
disposal sites. Associated costs of investigaao remedial activities are provided for in accomawith generally accepted accounting
principles governing probability and the abilityrieasonably estimate future costs. Our abilitggtimate future costs depends on whether oul
investigatory and remedial activities are in préfiary or advanced stages. With respect to unasbelaims, we accrue liabilities for costs t
in our experience, we may incur to protect ourrieges against those unasserted claims. Our actalddies for unasserted claims amounted
to $2.4 million at December 31, 2012 . With respie@sserted claims, we accrue liabilities basecemedial investigation, feasibility study,
remedial action and OM&M expenses that, in our erpee, we may incur in connection with the assectaims. Required site OM&M
expenses are estimated and accrued in their gnftmetequired periods not exceeding 30 years, Wwhiasonably approximates the typical
duration of long-term site OM&M.
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Our liabilities for future environmental expendisrwere as follows:

December 31,

2012 2011
($ in millions)
Beginning balance $ 163.¢ $ 167.€
Charges to income 8.4 19.c
Remedial and investigatory spending (25.5) (23.9)
Currency translation adjustments 0.2 0.9
Ending balance $ 1465 $ 163.c

At December 31, 2012 and 2011 , our consolidatémhiba sheets included environmental liabilitie$525.5 million and $132.3
million , respectively, which were classified ab@t noncurrent liabilities. Our environmental liap amounts did not take into account any
discounting of future expenditures or any consiti@naof insurance recoveries or advances in tedyyol These liabilities are reassessed
periodically to determine if environmental circuarstes have changed and/or remediation efforts andstimate of related costs have
changed. As a result of these reassessmentsg thiarges to income may be made for additionallitigs. Of the $146.5 million included on
our consolidated balance sheet at December 31,0f2ture environmental expenditures, we curieaitpect to utilize $84.3 million of the
reserve for future environmental expenditures dvemext 5 years, $18.9 million for expenditureds 80 years in the future, and $43.3 million
for expenditures beyond 10 years in the future.

Our total estimated environmental liability at Ded®er 31, 2012 was attributable to 71 sites, 17 iEwwere USEPA NPL sites. Ten
sites accounted for 77% of our environmental ligbdnd, of the remaining 61 sites, no one siteanted for more than 3% of our
environmental liability. At seven of the ten sjtpart of the site is subject to a remedial ingztton and another part is in the long-term
OM&M stage. At two of these ten sites, a remeitiabstigation is being performed. The one remajrsite is in long-term OM&M. All ten
sites are either associated with past manufactaiegations or former waste disposal sites. Ndribeoten largest sites represents more than
21% of the liabilities reserved on our consolidatathnce sheet at December 31, 2012 for future@mwviental expenditures.

Charges or credits to income for investigatory esrdedial efforts were material to operating resmlt2012 , 2011 and 2010 and may be
material to operating results in future years.

Environmental provisions charged (credited) to mepwhich are included in cost of goods sold, veeréollows:

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
($ in millions)
Charges to income $ 84 $ 19.5 % 16.3
Recoveries from third parties of costs incurred exygensed in prior periods (0.3 (11.9) (7.2)
Total environmental expense $ 82 § 7€ $ 9.1

These charges relate primarily to remedial andstigatory activities associated with past manuféietuoperations and former waste
disposal sites.
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Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isitestigation and remediation are expected to rénepeeen approximately $15
million to $35 million over the next several yeanich are expected to be charged against resezeesded on our consolidated balance
sheet. While we do not anticipate a material iasesin the projected annual level of our enviroralerelated cash outlays, there is always the
possibility that such an increase may occur irftidgre in view of the uncertainties associated etivironmental exposures. Environmental
exposures are difficult to assess for numerousreasncluding the identification of new sites, dBpments at sites resulting from
investigatory studies, advances in technology, gaaiin environmental laws and regulations and tggafication, changes in regulatory
authorities, the scarcity of reliable data pertagnto identified sites, the difficulty in assessthg involvement and financial capability of other
PRPs, our ability to obtain contributions from atparties and the lengthy time periods over whithremediation occurs. It is possible that
some of these matters (the outcomes of which djesuto various uncertainties) may be resolvedwunifably to us, which could materially
adversely affect our financial position or resot®perations. At December 31, 2012 , we estirtfaeit is reasonably possible that we may
have additional contingent environmental liabibtigf $40 million in addition to the amounts for whiwe have already recorded as a reserve.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The following table summarizes our contractual camrants under non-cancelable operating leases aruhase contracts as of

December 31, 2012 :

Purchase
Operating Leases Commitments

($ in millions)

2013 $ 547 $ 77.1
2014 46.€ 19.1
2015 40.2 16.7
2016 32.t 0.4
2017 28.(C —
Thereafter 66.¢ —

Total commitments $ 268.¢ §$ 113.:

Our operating lease commitments are primarily &road cars but also include distribution, wareting and office space and data
processing and office equipment. Virtually non®of lease agreements contain escalation claustemrent provisions. Total rent expense
charged to operations amounted to $60.5 milliob3.8 million and $51.2 million in 2012 , 2011 ar@ilP, respectively (sublease income is
significant). The above purchase commitments oheltaw material, capital expenditure and utilitygiiasing commitments utilized in our
normal course of business for our projected needs.

In conjunction with the St. Gabriel, LA conversiand expansion project, which was completed in dlveth quarter of 2009, we entered
into a twenty -year brine and pipeline supply agreet with PetroLogistics. PetroLogistics instajledns and operates, at its own expense, a
pipeline supplying brine to the St. Gabriel, LAifiig. Beginning November 2009, we are obligatedrtake a fixed annual payment over the
life of the contract of $2.0 million for use of tpgeline, regardless of the amount of brine pusela We also have a minimum usage
requirement for brine of $8.4 million over the fifve-year period of the contract. We have me¢xreeded the minimum brine usage
requirements since the inception of the contrafterAhe first five-year period, the contract cansaa buy out provision exercisable by us for
$12.0 million .

We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vatema actions (including proceedings based orgatleexposures to asbestos) incide
to our past and current business activities. Atddgber 31, 2012 and 2011 , our consolidated balsimeets included liabilities for these legal
actions of $15.2 million and $16.4 million , respreely. These liabilities do not include costs@sated with legal representation. Based on
our analysis, and considering the inherent unceita associated with litigation, we do not beli¢gvat it is reasonably possible that these lega
actions will materially adversely affect our findaqos ition, cash flows or results of ope rations

101




During the ordinary course of our business, comtimoges arise resulting from an existing condit&ityation, or set of circumstances
involving an uncertainty as to the realization gfassible gain contingency. In certain instanceh ®1s environmental projects, we are
responsible for managing the cleanup and remediafi@n environmental site. There exists the fil#tgi of recovering a portion of these
costs from other parties. We account for gainiogeicies in accordance with the provisions of A0 and therefore do not record gain
contingencies and recognize income until it is edrand realizable.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coofseir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoing
investing and financing activities, and our openagi that use foreign currencies. The risk of tassbe assessed from the perspective of
adverse changes in fair values, cash flows anddgarnings. We have established policies andepoes governing our management of
market risks and the use of financial instrumeotsiinage exposure to such risks. ASC 815 reqainezhtity to recognize all derivatives as
either assets or liabilities in the statement wéficial position and measure those instrumentirardlue. We use hedge accounting treatmen
for substantially all of our business transactiot®se risks are covered using derivative instrumeht accordance with ASC 815, we
designate commodity forward contracts as cash fledges of forecasted purchases of commodities enairt interest rate swaps as fair value
hedges of fixed-rate borrowings. We do not emtty any derivative instruments for trading or spative purposes.

Energy costs, including electricity used in our@hlkali Products segment, and certain raw maledad energy costs, namely copper
lead, zinc, electricity, and natural gas used prilpna our Winchester and Chemical Distributiorgsgents, are subject to price
volatility. Depending on market conditions, we neyer into futures contracts and put and callosptiontracts in order to reduce the impa
commodity price fluctuations. The majority of aaommodity derivatives expire within one year. Téhaemmodity contracts that extend
beyond one year correspond with raw material pusehdor long-term fixed-price sales contracts.

We enter into forward sales and purchase conttagtsanage currency risk resulting from purchasesatel commitments denominated
in foreign currencies (principally Canadian dolland Australian dollar). All of the currency dettives expire within one year and are for
United States dollar equivalents. Our foreign ency forward contracts do not meet the criteriqualify for hedge accounting. At December
31, 2012 and 2011 , we had no forward contrackaiyoor sell foreign currencies.

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate sveap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delttligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthwequal and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabér interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese Gbunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 millianthe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicivhwill be recognized through 2016. As of
December 31, 2012 , $8.4 million of this gain waduded in long-term debt. In October 2011, weddsignated our $125 million interest rate
swaps that had previously been designated asdhiewhedges. The $125 million variable interett savaps and the $125 million fixed intel
rate swaps do not meet the criteria for hedge adogwy All changes in the fair value of these iet# rate swaps are recorded currently in
earnings.

In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgpswa $75 million of our underlying fixed-rate defiigations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpeid us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseagents was Citibank. In January 2009, we
entered into a $75 million fixed interest rate swagh equal and opposite terms as the $75 millianable interest rate swaps on the 2011
Notes. We agreed to pay a fixed rate to a couatrpvho, in turn, paid us variable rates. Thenterparty to this agreement was Banl
America, a major financial institution. The reswlis a gain of $7.9 million on the $75 million \abie interest rate swaps, which was
recognized through 2011. In January 2009, we dédated our $75 million interest rate swaps tleat previously been designated as fair
value hedges. The $75 million variable interett savaps and the $75 million fixed interest rataiswdid not meet the criteria for hedge
accounting. All changes in the fair value of thegerest rate swaps were recorded currently iniegs.

Cash Flow Hedges

ASC 815 requires that all derivative instrumentsdmorded on the balance sheet at their fair vaka.derivative instruments that are
designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge, thagghin fair value of the derivative is recogniasdca component of other comprehensive los
until the hedged item is recognized into earningsins and losses on the derivatives represenédgehineffectiveness are recognized
currently in earnings.
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We had the following notional amount of outstandmgnmodity forward contracts that were entered fatbedge forecasted purchases:

December 31,

2012 2011
($ in millions)
Copper $ 53¢ % 52.1
Zinc 6.2 7.3
Lead 48.: 37.¢
Natural gas 6.C 8.2

As of December 31, 2012, the counterparty to $64lllon of these commodity forward contracts wasl\& Fargo, a major financial
institution.

We use cash flow hedges for certain raw materidlearergy costs such as copper, zinc, lead, elégramd natural gas to provide a
measure of stability in managing our exposure toepftuctuations associated with forecasted puretas$ raw materials and energy used in ou
manufacturing process. At December 31, 2012 ,ackedpen positions in futures contracts through 201@ll open futures contracts had been
settled on December 31, 2012 , we would have rezedra pretax gain of $7.6 million .

If commodity prices were to remain at December28,2 levels, approximately $3.1 million of defergains would be reclassified into
earnings during the next twelve months. The aaffatt on earnings will be dependent on actualrooriity prices when the forecasted
transactions occur.

Fair Value Hedges

For derivative instruments that are designatedoaradify as a fair value hedge, the gain or losshenderivative as well as the offsetting
loss or gain on the hedged item attributable tchédged risk are recognized in current earnings. indude the gain or loss on the hedged
items (fixed-rate borrowings) in the same line iténterest expense, as the offsetting loss or gaithe related interest rate swaps. As of
December 31, 2012 and 2011 , the total notionaluentnof our interest rate swaps designated as &irevhedges were zero and $80.8 million ,
respectively.

In June 2012, we terminated $73.1 milliohinterest rate swaps with Wells Fargo that haehbentered into on the SunBelt Notes in |
2011. The result was a gain of $2.2 million whidh te recognized through 2017. As of DecemberZ,2, $1.8 million of this gain was
included in long-term debt. In March 2012, Citibaekminated $7.7 million of interest rate swapsanindustrial revenue bonds due in 2017.
The result was a gain of $0.2 million , which woblalve been recognized through 2017. In June 2B&2ndustrial revenue bonds were
redeemed by us, and as a result, the remainingn®illi@n deferred gain was recognized in interegiense during 2012. In April 2010,
Citibank terminated $18.9 million of interest ratgaps on our industrial revenue bonds due in 20t result was a gain of $0.4 million ,
which would have been recognized through 2016Sdptember 2010, the industrial revenue bonds veeleemed by us, and as a result, the
remaining $0.3 million gain was recognized in ierexpense during 2010.

We use interest rate swaps as a means of managangst expense and floating interest rate expdsurptimal levels. These interest
rate swaps are treated as fair value hedges. ddweiating for gains and losses associated withgdmaim fair value of the derivative and the
effect on the consolidated financial statementsdeipend on the hedge designation and whetheretigehis effective in offsetting changes in
fair value of cash flows of the asset or liabilitging hedged.

Financial Statement Impacts
We present our derivative assets and liabilitiesuinconsolidated balance sheets on a net basessnaiMderivative assets and liabilities

whenever we have a legally enforceable mastemigetijreement with the counterparty to our derieationtracts. We use these agreements |
manage and substantially reduce our potential evpatty credit risk.
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The following table summarizes the location and ¥aiue of the derivative instruments on our coitsted balance sheets. The table
disaggregates our net derivative assets and tiabiinto gross components on a contract-by-conbrasis before giving effect to master netting
arrangements:

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Fair Value Fair Value
December 31, December 31,
Derivatives Designated
as Hedging Instruments Balance Sheet Location 2012 2011 Balance Sheet Location 2012 2011
($ in millions) ($ in millions)

Interest rate contracts Other assets $ — 3 2.2 Long-term debt $ 10z $ 12.7
Commodity contracts —
gains Other current assets 9.€ — Accrued liabilities — (2.5
Commodity contracts —
losses Other current assets (2.7 — Accrued liabilities — 11.2

$ 75 % 2.2 $ 102 $ 21.¢
Derivatives Not
Designated
as Hedgqing Instruments
Interest rate contracts-
gains Other assets $ 11.¢ 8 11.€ Other liabilities $ — 1.C
Interest rate contracts-
losses Other assets (3.6) — Other liabilities — —
Commodity contracts —
gains Other current assets 0.1 — Accrued liabilities — —
Commodity contracts —
losses Other current assets — — Accrued liabilities — 1.t

$ 84 $ 11.€ $ — % 2.t
Total deriva‘[iveél) $ 15.€ $ 13.€ $ 10.2 $ 23.€

(1) Does notinclude the impact of cash collateralikexbfrom or provided to counterparti

The following table summarizes the effects of datiie instruments on our consolidated statementpefations:

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Years Ended December 31,

Location of Gain (Loss) 2012 2011 2010
Derivatives — Cash Flow Hedges (% in millions)
Recognized in other comprehensive loss (effectortiqn) _ $ 9. % (17.9) $ 8.8
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensisg |
into income (effective portion) Cost of goods sold ~ $ (6.5) $ 102 $ 8.8
Derivatives — Fair Value Hedges
Interest rate contracts Interest expense $ 32 § 6.7 $ 6.7
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Interest rate contracts Interest expense $ 01 % 0t % 2
Commodity contracts Cost of goods sold (2.2) (2.2 (1.2
$ (2.0 $ 17 $ 0.8
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Credit Risk and Collateral

By using derivative instruments, we are exposettedit and market risk. If a counterparty faildudill its performance obligations
under a derivative contract, our credit risk wijual the fair-value gain in a derivative. Gensgrallhen the fair value of a derivative contract is
positive, this indicates that the counterparty ougsthus creating a repayment risk for us. Wherfair value of a derivative contract is
negative, we owe the counterparty and, theref@®yrae no repayment risk. We minimize the credit€payment) risk in derivative
instruments by entering into transactions with khigfality counterparties. We monitor our positi@amsl the credit ratings of our counterparties
and we do not anticipate non-performance by thetssparties.

Based on the agreements with our various countigpacash collateral is required to be provide@mthe net fair value of the
derivatives, with the counterparty, exceed a spettifeshold. If the threshold is exceeded, castither provided by the counterparty to us if
the value of the derivatives is our asset, or éagihovided by us to the counterparty if the vadfighe derivatives is our liability. As of
December 31, 2012 , the amount recognized in aflveent assets for cash collateral provided by tmparties to us was $0.1 million . As of
December 31, 2011 , the amount recognized in addraleilities for cash collateral provided by uscmunterparties was $3.9 million . In all
instances where we are party to a master nettirgeagent, we offset the receivable or payable rezedrupon payment of cash collateral
against the fair value amounts recognized for d¢ifre instruments that have also been offset usdel master netting agreements.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value ia tonsolidated balance sheets are categorized bpsedhe level of judgment associated
with the inputs used to measure their fair valbiéerarchical levels are directly related to the amtoof subjectivity associated with the input
fair valuation of these assets and liabilities. &Ve required to separately disclose assets ditities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis, from those measured at fair value on a ©amiag basis. Nonfinancial assets measured avédile on a nonrecurring basis are
intangible assets and goodwill, which are reviefeedmpairment annually in the fourth quarter andiden circumstances or other events
indicate that impairment may have occurred. Deiteimg which hierarchical level an asset or liaifialls within requires significant
judgment. The following table summarizes the asaetl liabilities measured at fair value in thesmidated balance shee

Quoted Prices

in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs

Balance at December 31, 2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets (% in millions)

Interest rate swaps $ — $ 82 % — 3 3

Commaodity forward contracts 0.1 7.t — 7.€
Liabilities

Interest rate swaps — 10.z — 10.z

Earn out — — 42.C 42.C
Balance at December 31, 2011
Assets

Interest rate swaps $ — 3 136 % — 3 13.¢
Liabilities

Interest rate swaps — 13.7 — 13.7

Commaodity forward contracts 25 7.7 — 10.z

Earn out — — 49.C 49.C

For the year ended December 31, 2012 , there wetansfers into or out of Level 1 and Level 2.
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The following table summarizes the activity for @arn out liability measured at fair value usingéle3 inputs:

December 31,
2012 2011
($ in millions)

Beginning balance $ 49.C $ —
(Settlements) purchases (18.5) 42.3
Unrealized losses included in other expense (ingome 11.5 6.7

Ending balance $ 420§ 49.C

Short-Term Investments

We classified our marketable securities as avatinl-sale which were reported at fair market valukmrealized gains and losses, to the
extent such losses are considered temporary imeatte included in accumulated other compreherissg net of applicable taxes. At such
time as the decline in fair market value and thatee unrealized loss is determined to be a reduhpairment of the underlying instrument,
the loss is recorded as a charge to earnings.valkies for marketable securities are based upoegand other relevant information
observable in market transactions involving ideadtar comparable assets or liabilities or pricetaioled from independent third-party pricing
services. The third-party pricing services emplayious models that take into consideration suctkatebased factors as recent sales, risk-fre
yield curves, prices of similarly rated bonds, divéct discussions with dealers familiar with thegees of securitie:

Interest Rate Sway

The fair value of the interest rate swaps was ofmilin other assets, long-term debt and othellitiasias of December 31, 2012 and
2011 . These financial instruments were valuedguiie “income approach” valuation technique. Thethod used valuation techniques to
convert future amounts to a single present amotihe measurement was based on the value indicgtedrlent market expectations about
those future amounts. We use interest rate swap3@eans of managing interest expense and floatiaigest rate exposure to optimal levels.

Commodity Forward Contracts

The fair value of the commodity forward contracsvelassified in other current assets and accrabilities as of December 31, 2012
and 2011 , with unrealized gains and losses indil@ccumulated other comprehensive loss, nepplicable taxes. These financial
instruments were valued primarily based on pricesa@ther relevant information observable in matkatsactions involving identical or
comparable assets or liabilities including bottwfard and spot prices for commaodities. We use codityéorward contracts for certain raw
materials and energy costs such as copper, zit, éd natural gas to provide a measure of dtalilmanaging our exposure to price
fluctuations.

Foreign Currency Contract

We had no fair value of foreign currency contraxgf December 31, 2012 and 2011 . The gainsamsés$ of foreign currency
contracts were included in selling and administragxpense as these financial instruments do net the criteria to qualify for hedge
accounting. These financial instruments were dhjprgmarily based on prices and other relevantrinfion observable in market transactions
involving identical or comparable assets or lidigt including both forward and spot prices forefgn currencies. We enter into forward sales
and purchase contracts to manage currency riskirestrom purchase and sale commitments denomihiatéoreign currencies (principally
Canadian dollar and Australian dollar).
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Financial Instrument:

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalesstricted cash, accounts receivable and accounsbleaapproximated fair values due
to the short-term maturities of these instrumenite fair value of our long-term debt was determibaded on current market rates for debt of
similar risk and maturities. The following tablensmarizes the fair value measurements of debttenddtual debt recorded on our balance
sheets:

Fair Value Measurements

Amount recorded

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total on balance sheets
$ in millions
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ — $ 6057 $ 153.( $ 7581 $ 713.7
Balance at December 31, 2011 — 391. 160.¢ 552.: 536.¢

Earn Out

The fair value of the earn out associated withShaBelt acquisition was estimated using a proligibifieighted discounted cash flow
model. This fair value measurement is based amifgignt inputs not observed in the market. Kegumsptions in determining the fair value of
the earn out include the discount rate and cash fflmjections for the years ended December 31, 28012 and 2013.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we paid $i#lin for the earn out related to the 2011 SuhBerformance. The 2011 earn
out payment included $15.3 million that was recagdias part of the original purchase price. The3iddbllion is included as a financing
activity in the statement of cash flows.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurement

In addition to assets and liabilities that are rded at fair value on a recurring basis, we reesskts and liabilities at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis as required by ASC 820. Themewo assets measured at fair value on a noniglasis as of December 31, 2012 and
2011 . At February 28, 2011, $180.6 million ofetssvere measured at fair value on a nonrecur@sgb We recognized a gain of $181.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2011 onpraviously held investment in SunBelt, which haet accounted for under the equity
method of accounting prior to the acquisition. Wmeasured our equity interest in SunBelt of $(hB)on based on our purchase of
PolyOne’s 50% interest in SunBelt. We used Levielplits for the cash payments and Level 3 inputshife estimated earn out.

107




OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

(% in millions, except per share data)

First Second Third Fourth

2012 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Sales $ 507.z $ 508.7 $ 5812 $ 587.¢ $ 2,184,
Cost of goods sold 392.¢ 391. 475.¢ 487.¢ 1,748.(
Net income 38.7 47.€ 28.7 34.€ 149.¢
Net income per common share:

Basic 0.4¢ 0.5¢ 0.3¢€ 0.45 1.87

Diluted 0.4¢ 0.5¢ 0.3t 0.45 1.8t
Common dividends per share 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
Market price of common stoc¢k

High 23.4¢ 22.2¢ 23.4¢ 22.3% 23.4¢

Low 19.7¢ 18.4( 19.3¢ 19.5( 18.4(
2011
Sales $ 436.C $ 529.1 $ 550.z $ 445.¢ 3 1,961.:
Cost of goods sold 359.2 413.7 432.7 368.: 1,573.¢
Net income 133.7 42.1 47.2 18.7 241.7
Net income per common share:

Basic 1.6¢ 0.5¢ 0.5¢ 0.2 3.0z

Diluted 1.6€ 0.52 0.5¢ 0.2¢ 2.9¢
Common dividends per share 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
Market price of common stoc¢k

High 23.0¢ 27.1¢ 24.0¢ 21.7¢ 27.1¢

Low 17.97 20.6( 17.64 16.11 16.11

(1) NYSE composite transactiol

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTA NTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our chief executive officer and our chief finanaificer evaluated the effectiveness of our disatescontrols and procedures as of
December 31, 2012. Based on that evaluation, lef executive officer and chief financial officeave concluded that, as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectvensure that information Olin is required to disd in the reports that it files or submits v
the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 193ddorded, processed, summarized and reporteth\ligh time periods specified in the
Commission’s rules and forms, and to ensure thHatrimation required to be disclosed in such repisresccumulated and communicated to our
management, including our chief executive officed ahief financial officer, as appropriate to alltmely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

There have been no changes in our internal coowel financial reporting that occurred during theder ended December 31, 2012
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting.

Management’s report on internal control over finahgeporting and the related report of Ofinhdependent registered public accoun
firm, KPMG LLP, are included in Item 8—"Consoliddt&inancial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
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Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART IlI
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We incorporate the biographical information relgtio our Directors under the heading “Item 1- Psagbdor the Election of Directors”
in our Proxy Statement relating to our 2013 Anridakting of Shareholders (the “Proxy Statement”ydfgrence in this Report. See also the
list of executive officers following Item 4 in Pdrof this Report. We incorporate the informati@garding compliance with Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, gweddn the paragraph entitled “Section 16(a) BemdfOwnership Reporting Compliance”
under the heading “Security Ownership of Direcmd Officers” in our Proxy Statement by referencéhis Report.

The information with respect to our audit committeeluding the audit committee financial expestiricorporated by reference in this
Report to the information contained in the parafraptitled “What are the committees of the Boandrier the heading “Corporate
Governance Matters” in our Proxy Statement. Weripeorate by reference in this Report informatiogareling procedures for shareholders to
nominate a director for election, in the Proxy &ta¢nt under the headings “Miscellaneous—How carettly nominate a director for election
to the Board at the 2013 Annual Meeting?” and “@oape Governance Matters—What is Olin’s directamim@tion process?”

We have adopted a code of business conduct anzs dtiidirectors, officers and employees, knowthasCode of Conduct. The Code
of Conduct is available in the About Olin, Ethiex8on of our website at www.olin.com. Olin intertdssatisfy disclosure requirements under
Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment tayaiver from, any provision of the Code of Condwith respect to its executive officers
or directors by posting such amendment or waivetowebsite.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information in the Proxy Statement under thedireg “Compensation Committee Interlocks and InsiRrticipation,” on page 17
and the information on pages 24 through 57, (beggwith the information under the heading “Compaimn Discussion and Analysis”
through the information under the heading “Compgosa&Committee Report,”) are incorporated by reffierein this Report.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

We incorporate the information concerning holdingsur common stock by certain beneficial ownenstamed under the heading

“Certain Beneficial Ownersih our Proxy Statement, and the information conicgribbeneficial ownership of our common stock by dinectors
and officers under the heading “Security Ownerslfipirectors and Officers” in our Proxy Statemewtrbference in this Report.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

(@) (b) (©)
Number of securities
Number of securities remaining
to be issued upon Weighted-average available for future
exercise of exercise issuance under equity
outstanding options, price of outstanding compensation plans
warrants options, warrants excluding securities
Plan Category and rights® and rights reflected in column (aj*
Equity compensation plans approved by sect
holders?® 5,190,92 @ $ 18.3C @ 2,132,73:
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders N/A N/A N/A
Total 5,190,92! $ 18.3( ® 2,132,73

(1) Number of shares is subject to adjustment for cearirg capitalization for stock splits and stockidiinds and similar even

(2) Consists of the 2000 Long Term Incentive Ptha,2003 Long Term Incentive Plan, the 2006 Loag Incentive Plan, the 2009 Long
Term Incentive Plan and the 1997 Stock Plan for-Bimployee Directors. Does not include informatatrout the equity compensation
plan listed in the table below, which has expiréth additional awards may be granted under thigreaplan. As of December 31,

2012:
Number of securities Weighted
issuable under average Weighted average
Plan Name Expiration date outstanding options exercise price remaining term
1996 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees of 1/25/2006 66,536 $ 23.7¢ 2.1 years

Olin Corporation and Subsidiaries
(3) Includes

e 3,994,254 shares issuable upon exercise ofroptidgth a weighted average exercise price of $1&86 a weighted average
remaining term of 5.8 years,

e 388,465 shares issuable under restricted stoclgeanits, with a weighted average remaining terrh.®fyears

e 432,000 shares issuable in connection with antihg performance share awards, with a weightedage term of 1.1 years
remaining in the performance measurement periadl, an

e 376,210 shares under the 1997 Stock Plan foréioployee Directors which represent stock grantsetainers, other board and

committee fees, and dividends on deferred stoclewutia: plan.
Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSAC TIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
We incorporate the information under the headiriRsview, Approval, or Ratification of TransactiongiwRelated Persons,” “Related
Person Transaction Since the Beginning of 2012™&lich board members are independent?” in our P&tatement by reference in this
Report.
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
We incorporate the information concerning the aotiog fees and services of our independent regdtpublic accounting firm, KPMG

LLP under the heading “Item 3—Proposal to RatifypaAmtment of Independent Registered Public Accagnkirm” in our Proxy Statement
by reference in this Report.

111




PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS; CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEN T SCHEDULES
(a) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated financial statements of the registaaatincluded in Item 8 above.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules not included herein are omitted becdgsedre inapplicable or not required or becausedfeired information is
given in the consolidated financial statementsraotés thereto.

Separate consolidated financial statements of 0% 6r less owned subsidiaries accounted for by thugty method are not
summarized herein and have been omitted becaude aggregate, they would not constitute a sigaifi subsidiary.
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3. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index immediately prior to the dxtsi which is hereby incorporated by referencee fidllowing exhibits, listed

on the Exhibit Index, are filed with this Annual gRet on Form 10-K:

Exhibit No. Description

10(0)

11

12

21

23

311

31.2

32

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Plan forBoployee Directors as amended and restated eféeCtctober 25, 2012

Computation of Per Share Earnings (includettiénNote—"Earnings Per Share” to Notes to Constddi&inancial Statements in
Item 8)

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Clear@Jnaudited)

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of KPMG LLP

Section 302 Certification Statement of Chirécutive Officer

Section 302 Certification Statement of CHiefancial Officer

Section 906 Certification Statement of Chiegé&ixtive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation LinldeaDocument

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition LinklsaBocument

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Dotent

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation LagébDocument

Any exhibit is available from the Company by wrgito: Mr. George H. Pain, Senior Vice Presidenth&al Counsel and Secretary,
Olin Corporation, 190 Carondelet Plaza, Suite 1%38yton, MO 63105-3443.

Shareholders may obtain information from Wells Ba®pareowner Services, our registrar and trangfemtawho also manages our
Dividend Reinvestment Plan by writing to: Wells§@ Shareowner Services, PO Box 64874, St. Paul 5BIN4-0854, by telephone at (800)
468-9716 or via the Internet at www.shareownerantiom, click on “contact us”.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

Date: February 25, 2013

OLIN CORPORATION
By: /s/ Joseph D. Rupp
Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed béelpthe following persons on ber
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ie indicated.
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Signature Title Date

/sl JOSEPH D. RUPP Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer Bivéctor (Principal February 25, 2013
Executive Officer)
Joseph D. Rupp

/sl GRAY G. BENOIST Director February 25, 2013

Gray G. Benoist

/s/ DONALD W. BOGUS Director February 25, 2013

Donald W. Bogus

/s/  C. ROBERT BUNCH Director February 25, 2013

C. Robert Bunch

/sl RANDALL W. LARRIMORE Director February 25, 2013

Randall W. Larrimore

/sl JOHN M. B. O'CONNOR Director February 25, 2013

John M. B. O’Connor

/sl RICHARD M. ROMPALA Director February 25, 2013

Richard M. Rompala

/sl PHILIP J. SCHULZ Director February 25, 2013
Philip J. Schulz
/s/ VINCENT J. SMITH Director February 25, 2013

Vincent J. Smith

/s/ JOHN E. FISCHER Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offiderifcipal Financial ~ February 25, 2013
Officer)
John E. Fischer

/s/  TODD A. SLATER Vice President, Finance and Controller (Principatédunting Officer)  February 25, 2013

Todd A. Slater
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Management contracts and compensatory plans aadgaments are listed as Exhibits 10(a) throughc) @low.

3 ()
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(e)
(f)
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(h)
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)
(k)
o
(m)
(n)

(0)

(P

(@)
n

(s)

Olin’'s Amended and Restated Articles of Inavgtion as amended effective May 2, 2011—ExhiHitt8.Olin’s Form 8-K
dated May 3, 2011.*

Bylaws of Olin as amended effective Decenthe2010—Exhibit 3.1 to Olin's Form 8-K dated Decemhi0, 2010.*

Indenture between Olin and JPMorgan Chase Béu#k dated as of June 26, 2006—Exhibit 4.1 t;®lForm 8-K dated
June 26, 2006.*

6.75% Senior Note Due 2016—Exhibit 4.1 tonGliForm 8-K dated July 28, 2006.*

First Supplemental Indenture between Olin #Porgan Chase Bank, N.A. dated July 28, 2006—ixhi2 to Olin’s
Form 8-K dated July 28, 2006.*

Registration Rights Agreement among Olin, 8ahAmerica Securities LLC, Citigroup Global Mat&énc. and Wachovia
Capital Markets, LLC dated July 28, 2006—Exhib® # Olin’s Form 8-K dated July 28, 2006.*

Indenture dated as of August 19, 2009, batv@e Corporation and The Bank of New York Melldrust Company—
Exhibit 4.1 to Olin’'s Form 8-K dated August 19, 200

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of Audi®, 2009, between Olin Corporation and The Bzrikew York Mellon
Trust Company—Exhibit 4.2 to Olin’s Form 8-K dat&dgust 19, 2009.*

Form of 8.875% Senior Note due 2019—Exhit# # Olin’s Form 8-K dated August 19, 2009.*

Trust Indenture effective October 1, 2010amtn The Industrial Development Authority of Wagjton County and U. S.
Bank, National Association, as trustee—Exhibit #.Olin’'s Form 8-K dated October 20, 2010.*

Loan Agreement effective October 1, 2010 ew The Industrial Development Authority of WashimgCounty and Olin
Corporation—Exhibit 4.2 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated tdleer 20, 2010.*

Bond Purchase Agreement dated October 14) detween The Industrial Development Authority odsilington County,
Olin Corporation and PNC Bank National Associatias administrative agent—Exhibit 4.3 to Olin’s FaBAK dated
October 20, 2010.*

Trust Indenture effective December 1, 201tveen the Mississippi Business Finance CorporaimhU. S. Bank, National
Association, as trustee—Exhibit 4.1 to Olin’'s FBAK dated December 10, 2010.*

Loan Agreement effective December 1, 201@0veen the Mississippi Business Finance Corporatimh@Iin Corporation—
Exhibit 4.2 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated December 1010.*

Bond Purchase Agreement dated December 9, 201@éetthie Mississippi Business Finance Corporatidin, Corporatior
and PNC Bank National Association, as administeaigent—Exhibit 4.3 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated Decemb0, 2010.*

Amended and Restated Credit and Funding Agee¢ dated December 9, 2010 between Olin Corparadi® borrower;
PNC Bank National Association, as administrativeragPNC Capital Markets, LLC, as lead arranged; the Lenders par!
thereto—Exhibit 4.4 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated DeceanttO, 2010.*

First Amendment dated December 27, 2010d¢dAtimended and Restated Credit and Funding Agreedatetl December 9,
2010 between Olin Corporation, as borrower; PNCkBdational Association, as administrative agentCPCapital
Markets, LLC, as lead arranger; and the Lendeny plaereto—Exhibit 4.4 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated [@eaber 29, 2010.*

Trust Indenture effective December 27, 20&tMeen the Industrial Development Board of the @pohBradley and the
City of Cleveland, TN and U. S. Bank, National Asistion, as trustee—Exhibit 4.1 to Olin’s Form 8dted December 29,
2010.*

Loan Agreement effective December 27, 20%@vben the Industrial Development Board of the CpwitBradley and the
City of Cleveland, Tennessee and Olin Corporatiomxhifit 4.2 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated December 2910

Bond Purchase Agreement dated December 20 B6tween the Industrial Development Board ofGbanty of Bradley
and the City of Cleveland, Tennessee, Olin Corpamaand PNC Bank National Association, as admiaiste agent—
Exhibit 4.3 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated December 201Q.*

Forward Purchase Agreement dated April 272281and among Olin Corporation, the Lenders (dimel@ therein), and
PNC Bank, National Association, as administratigerd for the Lenders under the Funding Agreementhiiiix4.1 to
Olin’'s Form 8-K dated May 3, 2012.*
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Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Fundth@eedit Agreement dated April 27, 2012 among @arporation
the Lenders, and PNC Bank, National Associatiomdsinistrative agent for the Lenders—Exhibit 4ZMin’s Form 8-K
dated May 3, 2012.*

Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of #2012 between Olin Corporation, The Bank ofvN@rk Mellon Trust
Company, N.A. and U. S. Bank National Association<aiBit 4.1 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated August 9, 201.2.

Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of Aug@2s 2012 between Olin Corporation and U. S. Bldakonal Association—
Exhibit 4.1 to Olin’'s Form 8-K dated August 22, 201

Form of 5.50% Senior Notes due 2022—Exhiht to Olin’'s Form 8-K dated August 22, 2012.*

We are party to a number of other instrumentsaef the rights of holders of lontgrm debt. No such instrument authori
an amount of securities in excess of 10% of thal tsets of Olin and its subsidiaries on a codatdd basis. Olin agrees to
furnish a copy of each instrument to the Commissipon request.

Employee Deferral Plan as amended and restffisctive as of January 30, 2003 and as amendectigé January 1,
2005—Exhibit 10(b) to Olin’s Form 10-K for 2002 akethibit 10(b)(1) to Olin’'s Form 10-K for 2005, mgctively.*

Olin Senior Executive Pension Plan amendebrastated effective October 24, 2008—Exhibit 16.Dlin’s Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2008.*

Olin Supplemental Contributing Employee OwnershgnRas amended and restated effective October@®g and as
amended effective February 19, 2009—Exhibit 10.Qlia’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septemie2808 and
Exhibit 10.1 to Olin’'s Form 10-Q for the quartedex March 31, 2009, respectively.*

Olin Corporation Key Executive Life Insurance Pragr—Exhibit 10(e) to Olin’s Form 10-K for 2002.*

Form of executive agreement between Olin and ceea¢cutive officers—Exhibit 99.1 to Olin’s FormkBdated January
26, 2005.*

Form of executive change-in-control agreement betw@lin and certain executive officers—Exhibit 9&20lin’s Form 8-
K dated January 26, 2005.*

Form of amendment to executive agreement betweiena@tl Messrs. Curley and Fischer dated Novemb20®@;—Exhibit
10(g) to Olin’'s Form 10-K for 2007.*

Form of amendment to executive change-in-controdement between Olin and Messrs. Curley and Fistéted
November 9, 2007—Exhibit 10(h) to Olin’'s Form 10fk&¢ 2007.*

Form of amendment to executive agreement betweierna@tl G. Bruce Greer, Jr. dated November 9, 200xhibi 10(i) to
Olin’s Form 10-K for 2007.*

Form of amendment to executive change-in-controdement between Olin and G. Bruce Greer, Jr. ddtagmber 9,
2007—Exhibit 10(j) to Olin’'s Form 10-K for 2007.*

Form of executive agreement between Olin and MeBargp, Mcintosh and Pain dated November 1, 2007hitix10.1 to
Olin’'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septembe2807.*

Form of executive change-in-control agreement betw@lin and Messrs. Rupp, Mcintosh and Pain datceMber 1,
2007—Exhibit 10.2 to Olin’s Form 10-Q for the quarended September 30, 2007.*

Form of amendment dated October 25, 2010 to exexatireements with Messrs. Curley, Fischer, GMemtosh, Pain
and Rupp—Exhibit 10.1 to Olin’'s Form 10-K for 2010.

Form of executive agreement between Olin Cafion and each of Kenneth A. Steel, Jr. and RobeBteel dated July 17,
2012—Exhibit 10.1 to Olin’s Form 10-Q for the quarended September 30, 2012.*

Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Plan for Non-Eregl®jrectors as amended and restated effectiveb@cfb, 2012.

Amended and Restated Olin Senior Managemeeniive Compensation Plan, as amended and restfigetive April 22,
2010—Appendix B to Olin’s Proxy Statement dated dhat0, 2010.*

Description of Restricted Stock Unit Awardsugted under the 2000, 2003, 2006 or 2009 Long Tecentive Plans—
Exhibit 10(p) to Olin's Form 10-K for 2008.*

1996 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees oh@orporation and Subsidiaries as amended ashofaig 30, 2003—
Exhibit 10(I) to Olin’s Form 10-K for 2002.*

Olin Supplementary and Deferral Benefit Pem$ttan as amended and restated effective Octoh@0B8—Exhibit 10.2 to
Olin’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septembe2808.*

Olin Corporation 2000 Long Term Incentive Pmamended and restated effective October 22,2888ibit 10.6 to
Olin’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septembe2808.*
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Olin Corporation 2003 Long Term Incentive Pénamended and restated effective October 22 2888ibit 10.7 to
Olin’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septembe2808.*

Olin Corporation 2006 Long Term Incentive Pmamended and restated effective October 22,2838ibit 10.8 to
Olin’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septembe2808.*

Olin Corporation 2009 Long Term Incentiviei®—Appendix A to Olin’s Proxy Statement dated Maid, 2009.*

Performance Share Program codified to refimeendments through December 31, 2010—Exhibit 10Qlin’s Form 10-K
for 2010.*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award i@&cate—Exhibit 10(bb) to Olin’s Form 10-K for 27.*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Ced#te—Exhibit 10(cc) to Form 10-K for 2007.*

Form of Performance Award and Senior Perdoice Award Certificates—Exhibit 10(dd) to Olin’srRo10-K for 2007.*
Summary of Stock Option Continuation Policlxhibit 10.2 to Olin’s Form 10-Q for the quartedexd March 31, 2009.*

Olin Corporation Contributing Employee Owstgp Plan Amended and Restated effective as of ibeee31, 2009—
Exhibit 10(dd) to Olin’'s Form 10-K for 2009.*

Distribution Agreement between Olin Corpamatand Arch Chemicals, Inc., dated as of Febrday999—Exhibit 2.1 to
Olin's Form 8-K filed February 23, 1999.*

Purchase Agreement dated as of Februai3024,, by and among PolyOne Corporation, 1997 Chdalia/enture, LLC,
Olin Corporation and Olin SunBelt II, Inc.—Exhil#tl to Olin’s Form 8-K dated March 3, 2011.*

Note Purchase Agreement dated December 22, 19@/e&ethe SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership and thecRasers name
therein—Exhibit 99.5 to Olin’'s Form 8-K dated Ded#sn 3, 2001.*

Guarantee Agreement dated December 22, i®®@7een Olin and the Purchasers named therein—E@8il6 to Olin’s
Form 8-K dated December 3, 2001.*

Subordination Agreement dated December 227 between Olin and the Subordinated Parties nahezdin—Exhibit 99.7
to Olin’s Form 8-K dated December 3, 2001.*

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of M8y2007, among Olin Corporation, Princeton Mei@erp., and Pioneer
Companies, Inc.—Exhibit 2.1 to Olin’s Form 8-K datday 21, 2007.*

Purchase Agreement dated as of October Q87 2among Global Brass and Copper Acquisitionaa. Olin Corporation—
Exhibit 2.1 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated October 15020

Credit Agreement dated as of April 27, 2@&k2ong Olin Corporation, Olin Canada ULC and theksaramed therein—
Exhibit 10.1 to Olin's Form 8-K dated May 3, 2012.*

Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of Ju2@Z2, by and among K. A. Steel Chemicals Inc. stbekholders of K. A.
Steel Chemicals Inc. and Robert F. Steel, as tlersaepresentative—Exhibit 2.1 to Olin’'s FornK8dated July 18, 2012

Computation of Per Share Earnings (included inNbee—"Earnings Per Share” to Notes to Consolid&iedncial
Statements in Iltem 8).

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Char@esaudited).

Code of Conduct—Exhibit 14.1 to Olin’s Form 8ddted December 19, 2012.*
List of Subsidiaries.

Consent of KPMG LLP.

Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief Exa@uOfficer.

Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief FitiahOfficer.

Section 906 Certification Statement of Chief Exa@iOfficer and Chief Financial Officer.
XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Do&mn

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

*Previously filed as indicated and incorporateddireiby reference. Exhibits incorporated by refeesare located in SEC file No. 1-1070
unless otherwise indicated.
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Exhibit 10(0
OLIN CORPORATION

AMENDED AND RESTATED
1997 STOCK PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS
(as Amended and Restated Effective October 24,)2012

1. Purpose. The purpose of the Olin Corporati@®/ Stock Plan for Non-employee Directors (thafP) is tc
promote the long-term growth and financial suca#s3lin Corporation by attracting and retaining remployee
directors of outstanding ability and by promotingraater identity of interest between its remployee directors and
shareholders.

2. Definitions. The following capitalized termaslized herein have the following meanings:
“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company

“Cash Account” means an account established uhaePan for a Non-employee Director to which cas
meeting fees, Board Chairman fees, Lead Directs,f€ommittee Chair fees and retainers, or otheuats
under the Plan, have been or are to be creditdeiform of cash.

“Change in Control” means the occurrence of angheffollowing events:

(@) any person or Group acquires ownership of ©$tock that, together with stock held by such
person or Group, constitutes more than 50% ofdte fair market value or total voting power of 04§ stock,
(including an increase in the percentage of staakenl by any person or Group as a result of a trdioseain
which Olin acquires its stock in exchange for progerovided that the acquisition of additionalakt by any
person or Group deemed to own more than 50% dbthéfair market value or total voting power ofi®s$
stock on January 1, 2005, shall not constitute @ga in Control); or

(b) any person or Group acquires (or has acquitging the 12-month period ending on the datidef
most recent acquisition by such person or Groupjesship of Olin stock possessing 30% or more otaked
voting power of Olin stock; or

(c) amajority of the members of Olin’s boarddafectors is replaced during any 12-month perigd b
directors whose appointment or election is not eselb by a majority of the members of Olin’s boatd o
directors prior to the date of the appointmentlect&on; or

(d) any person or Group acquires (or has acquitging the 12-month period ending on the datidef
most recent acquisition by such person or Grouggtagrom Olin that have a total Gross Fair Makkaite
equal to 40% or more of the total Gross Fair Makkate of all Olin assets immediately prior to such
acquisition or acquisitions, provided that theraasChange in Control when Olin’s assets are teared to:




(i) ashareholder of Olin (immediately before #sset transfer) in exchange for
or with respect to Olin stock;

(i) an entity, 50% or more of the total valuevoting power of which is owned,
directly or indirectly, by Olin;

(i) a person or Group that owns, directly ndirectly, 50% or more of the total
value or voting power of all outstanding Olin stpok

(iv) an entity, at least 50% of the total va@resoting power of which is owned,
directly or indirectly, by a person described imgmaaph (iii).

For purposes of this paragraph (d), a person’ssiatdetermined immediately after the transfehefassets.
For example, a transfer to a corporation in whidin @as no ownership interest before the transacbat whict
is a majority-owned subsidiary of Olin after thartsaction, is not a Change in Control.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 198&nm@nded from time to time, and any applicable
rules, regulations and/or other guidance thereurdezference to any provision of the Code shallude
reference to any successor provision of the Code.

“Committee” means the Compensation Committee éosuiccessor) of the Board.
“Common Stock” means the Company’s Common Stocl)Gpar value per share.
“Company” means Olin Corporation, a Virginia corgtbon, and any successor.

“Credit Date” means the second Thursday in Februday, August and November and one week after
the regularly scheduled board meeting in Decemben ¢he event the December board meeting extéards
more than one day, one week after the first deguoh regularly scheduled board meeting held in BDbes.

“Excess Retainer” means with respect to a Non-epgad®irector the amount of the full annual cash
retainer payable to such Non-employee Director ftione to time by the Company for service as a direin
excess of $25,000, if any; provided that in thené¥iee annual cash retainer is prorated to refteattsuch Non-
employee Director did not serve as such for thiechlendar year, the $25,000 shall be similarlyrgted.

“Fair Market Value’means, with respect to a date, on a per share, bagigespect to phantom share:
Common Stock or Spin-Off Company Common Stock atverage of the high and the low price of a share of
Common Stock or Spin-Off Company Common Stockhascase may be, as reported on the consolidated ta
of the New York Stock Exchange on such date dréfMlew York Stock Exchange is closed on such dage,
next succeeding date on which it is open.

“Gross Fair Market Value” means the value of asdetermined without regard to any liabilities
associated with such assets.




“Group” means persons acting together for the pgepad acquiring Olin stock and includes owners of ¢
corporation that enters into a merger, consoligafmrchase or acquisition of stock, or similaribess
transaction with Olin. If a person owns stock inh®lin and another corporation that enter intoeagaer,
consolidation purchase or acquisition of stocksionilar transaction, such person is considerectpast of a
Group only with respect to ownership prior to therger or other transaction giving rise to the cleazugd not
with respect to the ownership interest in the otleeporation. Persons will not be considered tadieng as a
Group solely because they purchase assets of tie @arporation at the same time, or as a restiteofame
public offering.

“Interest Rate” effective as of January 1, 2005ansethe rate of interest equal to the Federal Reser
A1/P1 Composite rate for 90 day commercial papes D basis points, or such other specified, non-
discretionary interest rate (or formula descritsngh rate) established by the Committee on a pctispebasis.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Adi9®4, as amended from time to time.

“Non-employee Director” means a member of the Baand is not an employee of the Company or an
subsidiary thereof.

“Olin Stock Account” means the Stock Account to @thphantom shares of Common Stock are credite
from time to time.

“Plan” means this Olin Corporation 1997 Stock HiamNon-employee Directors as amended from time
to time.

“Prior Plans” means the 1994 Plan and all of thgp@@tion’s other directors’ compensation plans,
programs, or arrangements which provided for ardedecash or stock account.

“Retirement Date” means the date the Non-employieecdr (i) ceases to be a member of the Board fc
any reason and (ii) effective as of January 1, 2885 experienced a “separation from service” astérm is
used in Code Section 409A.

“Spin-Off Company” means Arch Chemicals, Inc., ag¥ia corporation and any successor.

“Spin-Off Company Common Stock” means shares ofroomstock of the Spin-Off Company, par
value $1.00 per share.

“Spin-Off Company Stock Account” means the Stoclkcéunt to which phantom shares of Spin-Off
Company Common Stock are credited.

“Stock Account” means an account established utigePlan for a Non-employee Director to which
shares of Common Stock and Spin-Off Company Com8took have been or are to be credited in the fdrm o
phantom stock, which shall include the Olin Stoadcéunt and the Spin-Off Company Stock Account.




“Stock Grant Period” means the twelve-month pedothmencing May 1 of a calendar year, and endin
on April 30 of the immediately following calendagar. The first Stock Grant Period under the Plal &ie the
twelve-month period commencing May 1, 2009 and mgdipril 30, 2010.

3. Term. The Plan originally became effectiveutay 1, 1997, and was last amended and restdtsdieé as
of April 22, 2010, and is now amended and restateset forth herein. Notwithstanding the foregothgse provisions
required for compliance with Code Section 409A kbalgenerally effective as of January 1, 2005sootherwise
specifically set forth herein.

4. Administration. Full power and authority tonstrue, interpret and administer the Plan shalldsted in the
Committee. Decisions of the Committee shall belfioanclusive and binding upon all parties.

5. Participation. All Non-employee Directors Blparticipate in the Plan.
6. Grants and Deferrals.

(@) Annual Stock Grant. Subject to the terms @mtlitions of the Plan, on the second Credit [2atzh
year, each Nommployee Director shall be credited with a numideshares of Common Stock with an aggre
Fair Market Value on such Credit Date equal to 8@6, rounded to the nearest 100 shares. To béedrttit
such credit in any year, a Non-employee Directostnng serving as such on May 1 of such year; pealid
however, that in the event a person becomes a Nqegee Director subsequent to May 1 of a StocknGra
Period, such Non-employee Director, on the Creditehext following his or her becoming such, shall
credited with that number of shares of Common Seapkal to one-twelfth of the number of shares id4ae
each other Non-employee Director as the AnnualkS&rant for such Stock Grant Period, multipliedtbg
number of whole calendar months remaining in suckkSGrant Period following the date he or she beeoa
Non-employee Director (rounded up to the next wisblare in the event of a fractional share). Notstéhding
the foregoing and in order to address the gapmualstock grant coverage for the period of Janta®009
until April 30, 2009, on the first Credit Date dd@9, each Non-employee Director serving as sucsuch date
shall be credited with a number of shares of Com@tmek with an aggregate Fair Market Value on SDidit
Date equal to $21,667, rounded to the nearesti&@s. Actual receipt of shares shall be defemedeach
eligible Nonemployee Director shall receive a credit to his@r Olin Stock Account for such shares on the
of such credit. A Non-employee Director may elecaccordance with Section 6(f) to defer to hiser@lin
Stock Account receipt of all or any portion of swttares after such Non-employee Director’'s Retirdrbate.
Except with respect to any shares the directoisbasected to defer, certificates representing shelnes shall
be delivered to the Noemployee Director (or in the event of death, todniber beneficiary designated purst
to Section 6(i)) on or as soon as practicablenbuater than thirty (30) days, following such Nemployee
Director’s Retirement Date.




(b) Annual Retainer Stock Grant. Subject totdrens and conditions of the Plan, each Non-employe
Director who is such on May 1 of that year shadkige that number of shares (rounded up to thewbkate
share) of Common Stock having an aggregate Faikéafalue of $25,000 on the second Credit Dataighs
year. In the event a person becomes in a Stockt ®exrod a Non-employee Director subsequent to Mawpd
has not received the annual stock retainer for 81cbk Grant Period, such person, on the Credi¢ Dakt
following his or her becoming such, shall receivattnumber of shares of Common Stock equal to wedth
of the number of shares issued to each otheréoployee Director as the Annual Retainer Stock Garsucl
Stock Grant Period, multiplied by the number of Veéhtalendar months remaining in such Stock Grarib&e
following the date he or she becomes a Non-empldyextor (rounded up to the next whole share endtent
of a fractional share). Notwithstanding the foregpand in order to address the gap in annual estatock
grant coverage for the period of January 1, 20@® April 30, 2009, on the first Credit Date of 28Ceach Non-
employee Director serving as such on such daté redtalive that number of shares (rounded up toéxe
whole share) of Common Stock having an aggregateMeaket Value of $8,333. The annual cash retainer
payable to the Non-employee Director shall be pkeyab the second Credit Date of each year, and lsbal
reduced by the aggregate Fair Market Value of tiaees the Non-employee Director receives or defethe
Annual Retainer Stock Grant (excluding any rounddhfractional shares) on the date such Fair Maviedtie is
calculated. A Noremployee Director may elect to defer receipt obakhny portion of such shares in accord:
with Section 6(f). Except with respect to any skabee director has so elected to defer, certifscatpresenting
such shares shall be delivered to such Non-emplbyeetor (or in the event of death, to his or heneficiary
designated pursuant to Section 6(i)) as soon asigable, but no later than thirty (30) days, fallng the
applicable Credit Date.

(c) One-time Stock Grant. Subject to the ternmd @nditions of the Plan, receipt of all share®h
Stock credited under the one-time grants to ceNain-employee Directors that the Company made as of
January 15, 1997, shall be deferred. Such Non-grapl®irectors may elect in accordance with Sedidnto
defer receipt of all or any portion of such shacea date or dates following such Non-employee ddines
Retirement Date. Except with respect to any sheoeteferred, certificates representing such stsrasbe
delivered to such Non-employee Directors (or inglient of death, to his or her beneficiary desigthaursuant
to Section 6(i)) on or as soon as practicablenbuater than thirty (30) days, following his ortiRetirement
Date.

(d) Payment of Meeting Fees, Chairman of ther@&&es, Lead Director Fees, Committee Chair Fee
and Excess Retainer and Election to Receive Fegtuk in Lieu of Cash. Cash payments of meetieg &hall
be made on the first Credit Date following the nregtiate, cash payments of Committee Chair fee$lsha
made on the second Credit Date of each year, atdpzyments of Chairman of the Board fees and Lead
Director fees shall be made in four equal paymentthe first four Credit Dates of each year. Exaeitit
respect to any cash payments the director hasdléatdefer in accordance with Section 6(f), sugynpent sha
be delivered to the Non-employee Director on @ as practicable, but no later than thirty (&)s,
following the applicable Credit Date. Subject te terms and conditions of the Plan, a Non-empl®@jiesctor
may elect to receive all or a portion of the dioeeheeting fees, fees as Chairman of the Board,ded.ead
Director, fees as a Committee Chair and the ExResainer payable in cash by the Company for hiseor
service as a director for the




calendar year in the form of shares of Common StSakh election shall be made in accordance withi&e6
(). A Non-employee Director who so elects to reeeall or a portion of the Excess Retainer or ofhes in the
form of shares for such year shall be paid on ttegli€Date on which the cash portion of the Exdestiner or
the other fees, as the case may be, would haveda@@nThe number of shares (rounded up to thewbate
share in the event of a fractional share) payabseNon-employee Director who so elects to rectieeExcess
Retainer or meeting fees, Board Chairman fees, Daaattor fees or Committee Chair fees in the fafrshare:
shall be equal to the aggregate Fair Market Valuthe relevant Credit Date. Except with respectrty shares
the director has elected to defer in accordande $&iction 6(f), certificates representing suchehahall be
delivered to the Non-employee Director on or asysa® practicable, but no later than thirty (30)sjdgllowing
the applicable Credit Date.

(e) Deferral of Meeting Fees, Chairman of theuld~ees, Lead Director Fees, Committee Chair Fee
and Excess Retainer. Subject to the terms and timmsliof the Plan, a Noemployee Director may elect to de
all or a portion of the shares payable under Se&{d) and all or a portion of the director meetiegs, fees as
Chairman of the Board, fees as Lead Director, &ses Committee Chair and Excess Retainer payalkesim by
the Company for his or her service as a directothfe calendar year. Such election shall be madedordance
with Section 6(f). A Non-employee Director who dketo so defer shall have any deferred sharesrdefer the
form of shares of Common Stock and any deferrel fssess and retainer deferred in the form of cash.

() Elections.

(1) Deferrals. Effective as of January 1, 20flbelections to defer payment of compensation
under this Plan shall:

* be made in writing and delivered to the Secretath® Compan)

» be irrevocable once the year to which the eleatidates commence
* be made before January 1 of the year in whieltsttares of Common Stock or director’s fees
and retainer are to be earned (or, in the case wfdavidual who becomes a Non-employee

Director during a calendar year, within 30 dayshaf date of his or her election as a director;
notwithstanding the foregoing no amounts earnear poi an election shall be deferred by new
participants), and

» specify the portions (in 25% increments) to be deft

(2) Stock and Cash Account Payments. Effectsvefalanuary 1, 2005, Stock and Cash
Accounts shall be paid in a single lump sum paymethtin 30 days of the Non-employee Director’'s Ratient
Date unless the Non-employee Director makes ani@heas set forth below:
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* apayment election, if any, shall be made on oofleethe earlier o
° the time such individual makes any deferral electinder the Plan,
° the end of the 30 day period following the datandividual first becomes a Non-employee

Director.

* apayment election may specify a payment daitejiged such date is after the Non-employee
Director’s Retirement Date.

* a payment election may specify the method ofigayt (lump sum or annual installments (up
to 10)).

Notwithstanding any election, Plan payments wilhiigde (or annual installments will begin) upon axNo
employee Director’s death. All payments shall belengor each annual installment shall be paid) wig0 days
of the prescribed payment date, and any paymecti@bieshall be irrevocable except as permitteddanti®n 6(f)
(4) below.

(3) Dividends and Interest on Stock and CasloAnts. Dividends and interest on Stock and
Cash Accounts shall be paid as provided in Se&{0(8) unless the Non-employee Director makeslaati®n
to have such amounts deferred and credited baitlietappropriate account (and shall be payabledardance
with Sections 6(f)(2) and (4) herein), providedttbach election is made within the time prescribgdbection 6
(H(2) above.

(4) Change in Payment Election. Any change wapect to a Non-employee Director’s
payment election under the Plan will not be effexfor one year, must be made at least one (1)igesivance
of the first date payment is scheduled and musthéurdefer all payments by at least five (5) ydaom the prior
scheduled payment date. Notwithstanding the foregdor the transition period beginning Januar2d5 and
ending December 31, 2008, any Non-employee Dirgnty make a payment election in accordance witheCoc
Section 409A (and applicable IRS transition religf)the time and manner prescribed by the Comendated
subject to the following provisions. As of DecemBér 2008, any then effective transition paymeettbns
shall be irrevocable for the duration of a Non-emgpk Director’s participation in the Plan excepseisforth in
the first sentence of this Section 6(f)(4). No etmade in 2008 under this transition relief vaifiply to
amounts that would otherwise be payable in 2008y such election cause an amount to be pai@08 thai
would not otherwise be payable in 2008. No electinder this transition relief may be made retra@tyi, when
Plan payments are imminent, or after a Non-empld@jesctor has left the Board.

(5) Olin Stock Account. On the Credit Date (othe case of a proration, on the first day of the
appropriate calendar month), a Non-employee Diregtm has elected to defer shares under Sectidn66
(e) shall receive a credit to his or her Olin Stédcount. The amount of such credit shall be thalmer of
shares so deferred (rounded to the next whole sihdéine event of a fractional share). A Non-empti®rector
may elect to defer the cash dividends paid on hiseo Stock Account in accordance with Section(8ff)




(6) Cash Account. On the Credit Date or in thgecof the Excess Retainer, on the day on w
the Non-employee Director is entitled to receivelskxcess Retainer, a N@mployee Director who has elec
to defer cash fees and/or the Excess Retainer @wtaion 6(e) in the form of cash shall receiveedlit to his o
her Cash Account. The amount of the credit shathbedollar amount of such Director’s meeting fd&sard
Chairman fees, Lead Director fees or Committee ifeas earned during the immediately precedingtggr
period or the amount of the Excess Retainer todie for the calendar year, as the case may benasatch cas
specified for deferral in cash. A Non-employee Diog may elect to defer interest paid on his or@ash
Account in accordance with Section 6(f)(3).

(7) Installment Payments. Installment paymerdsfan Account shall be equal to the Account
balance (expressed in shares in the case of tiok 8twount, otherwise the cash value of the Accpanthe
time of the installment payment times a fractidre humerator of which is one and the denominatevhoth is
the number of installments not yet paid. Fractiagteres to be paid in any installment shall be dedrup to the
next whole share. In the event of an election usstion 6(d) for director meeting fees, Board @han fees,
Lead Director fees, Committee Chair fees or Exéesainer to be paid in shares of Common Stockelghetion
shall specify the portion (in 25% increments) tcsbepaid.

(8) Dividends and Interest. Each time a casiddid is paid on Common Stock or Spin-Off
Company Common Stock, a Non-employee Director wdsdhares of such stock credited to his or hekStoc
Account shall be paid on the dividend payment dath cash dividend in an amount equal to the prtafuibe
number of shares credited to the Non-employee RirescOlin Stock Account or Spin-Off Company Stock
Account, as the case may be, on the record dasutdr dividend times the dividend paid per appleabare
unless the director has elected to defer sucheliddo his or her applicable Stock Account as plediherein.
If the Non-employee Director has elected to defiehsdividend, he or she shall receive a credistmh
dividends on the dividend payment date to his orQien Stock Account or Spin-Off Company Stock Aaad,
as the case may be. The amount of the dividendt cteall be the number of shares (rounded to tlaeest one-
thousandth of a share) determined by multiplyirggdividend amount per share by the number of stwiesktec
to such director’s applicable Stock Account ashefitecord date for the dividend and dividing thedpict by the
Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock or &pihCompany Common Stock, as the case may be,&
dividend payment date. A Namployee Director who has a Cash Account shalldie ipterest directly on suu
accounts balance at the end of each calendar quarterblgagba rate equal to the Interest Rate in eftecsuct
guarter unless such Non-employee Director hasezldotdefer such interest to his or her Cash Acganin
which case such interest shall be credited to &adh Account at the end of each calendar quarteanfounts
paid pursuant to this subsection (8) shall be paidr as soon as practicable, but no later thaty {80) days,
following the applicable payment date (i.e., thplegable dividend payment date or end date of idwaf
quarter).




(9) Payouts. Cash Accounts and the Spin-Off Gomgstock Account will be paid out in cash
and Olin Stock Accounts shall be paid out in shafgSommon Stock unless the Non-employee Diredexts
at the time the payment is due to take the OliclSfccount in cash.

(@) No Stock Rights. Except as expressly praviderein, the deferral of shares of Common Stock or
Spin-Off Company Common Stock into a Stock Accaldll confer no rights upon such Non-employee
Director, as a shareholder of the Company or oSpi@-Off Company or otherwise, with respect toghares
held in such Stock Account, but shall confer ohlg tight to receive such shares credited as and wtwided
herein.

(h) Change in Control. Notwithstanding anythianghe contrary in this Plan or any election, ia th
event a Change in Control occurs, amounts and sleagdited to Cash Accounts (including interestwed to
the date of payout) and Stock Accounts shall benptly (but no later than thirty (30) days followitige Chang
in Control) distributed to Non-employee Directoxeept the Olin Stock Account shall be paid outasitand
not in the form of shares of Common Stock. For ghigpose, the cash value of the amount in the Sdackunt
shall be determined by multiplying the number adrgls held in the Olin Stock Account or the Spin-Off
Company Stock Account by the higher of (i) the leigihFair Market Value of Common Stock or Spin-Off
Company Common Stock, as appropriate, on any détéewhe period commencing thirty (30) days ptior
such Change in Control and ending on the dateeoCtiange in Control, or (ii) if the Change in Cohticcurs
as a result of a tender or exchange offer or congaiion of a corporate transaction, then the higpesé paid
per share of Common Stock or Spin-Off Company Com®imck, as appropriate, pursuant thereto.

(i) Beneficiaries. A Non-employee Director mags@ynate at any time and from time to time a
beneficiary for his or her Stock and Cash Accoumtke event his or her Stock or Cash Account mapdid
out following his or her death. Such designatioalldbe in writing and must be received by the Conyparior
to the death to be effective.

() Prior Plan Accounts. Any transfers made t©ash Account or a Stock Account from Prior Plans
shall be maintained and administered pursuantetaethms and conditions of this Plan; provided ghradr annua
100- or 204-share grant deferrals shall be treasedeferrals of 204-share grants under this Pen$25,000
annual share grant under the 1994 Plan shall beett@s deferrals under Paragraph 6(b) hereof efiedrdls of
meeting fees under all Prior Plans and of the ExBegainer under the 1994 Plan shall be treateéfasrals
under Paragraph 6(d) hereof. Prior elections anéfii@ary designations under the 1994 Plan andRlas shall
govern this Plan unless changed subsequent to €c20li997.

(k) Stock Account Transfers. A Non-employee Dioe may elect from time to time to transfer alleor
portion (in 25% increments) of his or her Spin-Otimpany Stock Account to his or her Olin Stock Agto
The amount of phantom shares of Common Stock todadited to a Non-employee Director’s Olin Stock
Account shall be equal to the number of sharesonfi@on Stock that could be purchased if the number o
phantom shares of Spin-Off Company Common Stod¢ksror her Spin-Off Company Stock Account being
transferred were sold and the proceeds reinvest€dmmon Stock based on the Fair Market Value ofiea
Except as provided in Section 6(f)(8) with




respect to dividends or in Section 8, no additimuatributions or additions may be made to a Nopleyee
Director’s Spin-Off Company Stock Account after Distribution Date.

7. Limitations and Conditions.

(@) Total Number of Shares. The total numbeshaires of Common Stock that may be issued to Non
employee Directors under the Plan is 850,000, wimaly be increased or decreased by the eventsretrfo
Section 8. Such total number of shares may comsisthole or in part, of authorized but unissuedrsk. If any
shares granted under this Plan are not deliverad\ton-employee Director or a beneficiary becahsgtyout
of the grant is settled in cash, such shares sbalbe deemed to have been delivered for purpdsist@rmining
the maximum number of shares available for deliverger the Plan. No fractional shares shall beedsu
hereunder. In the event a Non-employee Directentgled to a fractional share, such share amcauait be
rounded upward to the next whole share amount.

(b) No Additional Rights. Nothing contained hiarshall be deemed to create a right in any Non-
employee Director to remain a member of the Bo@rthe nominated for reelection or to be reelectesuzh or,
after ceasing to be such a member, to receive asty ar shares of Common Stock under the Plan véneinot
already credited to his or her accounts.

8. Stock Adjustments. In the event of any mergensolidation, stock or other non-cash dividend,
extraordinary cash dividend, split-up, spin-offirdmnation or exchange of shares or recapitalizattochange in
capitalization, or any other similar corporate gyé#me Committee shall make such adjustments ith@aggregate
number of shares of Common Stock that may be issoddr the Plan as set forth in Section 7(a) aadittimber of
shares that may be issued to a Non-employee Direatio respect to any year as set forth in Seddi@) and the
number of shares of Olin Common Stock or Spin-Qffrfpany Common Stock, as the case may be, hel@iack
Account, (ii) the class of shares that may be dsueler the Plan, and (iii) the amount and typpayiment that may be
made in respect of unpaid dividends on shares ioFSff Company Common Stock or Common Stock wheseipt
has been deferred pursuant to Section 6(f), a€dmemittee shall deem appropriate in the circum&anthe
determination by the Committee as to the termswgfd the foregoing adjustments shall be final,atosive and
binding for all purposes of the Plan.

9. Amendment and Termination. This Plan mayrberaded, suspended or terminated by action of tlaed3o
except to the extent that amendments are requirbd approved by the Company’s shareholders ummbticable law
or the rules of the New York Stock Exchange or atiner exchange or market system on which the Contatock is
listed or traded. No termination of the Plan shdNersely affect the rights of any Non-employeesEBtior with respect
to any amounts otherwise payable or credited t@higer Cash Account or Stock Account.
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10. Nonassignability. No right to receive anypants under the Plan or any amounts credited\lora
employee Director’s Cash or Stock Account shalaggignable or transferable by such Non-employeeckir other
than by will or the laws of descent and distribotar pursuant to a domestic relations order. Tisgga@tion of a
beneficiary under Section 6(i) by a Non-employeeBtor does not constitute a transfer.

11. Unsecured Obligation. Benefits payable unlisrPlan shall be an unsecured obligation ofGbmpany.

12. Rule 16b-3 Compliance. It is the intentidrth®@ Company that all transactions under the Baexempt
from liability imposed by Section 16(b) of the Exeige Act. Therefore, if any transaction under tla@ I found not t
be in compliance with an exemption from such Secti6(b), the provision of the Plan governing suangaction shall
be deemed amended so that the transaction doesmgaycand is so exempt, to the extent permittethiayand deemed
advisable by the Committee, and in all events tha Bhall be construed in favor of its meetingréguirements of an
exemption. Scheduled Plan payments will be delayeele the Committee reasonably anticipates thatiddeng of the
payment will violate Federal securities laws oresthpplicable law; provided that such payment dbaiinade at the
earliest date at which the Committee reasonabigipates that the making of the payment will natsasuch violatiol

13. Code Section 409A Compliance. To the exdegtprovision of the Plan or action by the Board or
Committee would subject any Non-employee Direabddrability for interest or additional taxes undéode Section
409A, it will be deemed null and void, to the extparmitted by law and deemed advisable by the Citieen It is
intended that the Plan will comply with Code Sec#®9A, and the Plan shall be interpreted and coedton a basis
consistent with such intent. The Plan may be anetimdany respect deemed necessary (including iettvedy) by the
Committee in order to preserve compliance with C8detion 409A. If, regardless of the foregoing, Alon-employee
Director is liable for interest or additional tax@sder Code Section 409A with respect to his orAwount (or a
portion thereof), such Account (or applicable portthereof) shall be paid at such time. The prewedhall not be
construed as a guarantee of any particular taxtdibe any benefits or amounts deferred or paidumater the Plan.
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Exhibit 12

OLIN CORPORATION AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

(Unaudited)
Years Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Earnings: ($ in millions)
Income from continuing operations before tafes $ 2252 $ 3792 $ 76.< $ 209.¢ $ 257t
Add (deduct):
Equity in income of non-consolidated affiliates (3.0 (9.6) (29.9) (37.9) (39.9
Dividends received from non-consolidated affiliates 1.3 1.4 2.C 3.t 0.2
Capitalized interest (7.4 (1.2 (0.9 (9.7 (5.0
Fixed charges as described below 54.C 49.t 43.¢ 36.4 33.7
Total $ 270.1 $ 4195 $ 91t $ 202¢ $ 247.(
Fixed charges:
Interest expensed and capitalized $ 33¢& $ 31€ $ 265 $ 212 $ 18.:
Estimated interest factor in rent expeftse 20.z 17.¢ 17.1 15.1 15.¢
Total $ 54C $ 49t $ 434 $ 364 $ 337
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 5.C 8.5 2.1 5.€ 7.3

(1) The income from continuing operations befawest for the year ended December 31, 2011 inclagedtax gain of $181.4 million as a
result of remeasuring our previously held 50% gginiterest in SunBelt.

(2) Amounts represent those portions of rent expereteatie reasonable approximations of interest «



SUBSIDIARIES OF OLIN CORPORATION *

(as of December 31, 2012)

Exhibit 21

Company % Ownership Jurisdiction
(Direct/Indirect)

Bridgeport Brass Corporatidn 100 IN

Henderson Groundwater LLTC 33 NV

HPCM LLC* 100 DE

Hunt Trading Co. 100 MO

Imperial West Chemical Cé. 100 NV

K. A. Steel Chemicals Inc. 100 DE

K. A. Steel Internationdl 100 DE

KAS Muscatine LLC 100 IA

KNA California, Inc.® 100 DE

KWT, Inc.® 100 DE

LTC Reserve Corp. 100 DE

Monarch Brass & Copper Corp. 100 NY

Monarch Brass & Copper of New England Cdfp. 100 RI

New Haven Copper Compaty 100 CT

Olin Benefits Management, Inc. 100 CA

Olin Business Holding¥ 100 DE

Olin Chlor Alkali Logistics Inc!? 100 DE

Olin Engineered Systems, Inc. 100 DE

Olin Far East, Limited 100 DE

Olin Financial Services Inc. 100 DE

Olin Funding Company LLC 100 DE

Olin North American Holdings, Inc. 100 DE

Olin Sunbelt, Inc. 100 DE

Olin Sunbelt 11, Inc. 100 DE

Pioneer Americas LLC® 100 DE

Pioneer Companies, LLC 100 DE

Pioneer (East), Iné. 100 DE

Pioneer Licensing, Iné. 100 DE

Pioneer Transportation LL& 100 DE

Pioneer Water Technologies, IAc. 100 DE

Ravenna Arsenal, Inc. 100 OH

Sunbelt Chlor Alkali Partnership 100 DE

U.S. Munitions, LLC" 49 DE

Waterbury Rolling Mills, Inc1? 100 CT

Winchester Ammunition, Inc. 100 DE

Winchester Defense, LLE 100 DE

Nutmeg Insurance Limited 100 Bermuda

Olin Canada ULC’ 100 Nova Scotia, Canada

Olin Hunt Specialty Products S.r.l. 100 Italy

Olin (UK) Limited 100 United Kingdom

Reductone Brasil Ltda. 100 Brazil

Winchester Australia Limitetf 100 Australia
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Omitted from the following list are the names ofta& subsidiaries which, if considered in the &ggte as a single subsidiary, would
not constitute a significant subsidiary

d/b/a "Olin Brass, Indianapolis" and "Olin Bragsdianapolis Facility" in CA, IL, IN, NJ, NC, OH, BRI and TX

Indirect subsidiary, Olin’s wholly-owned subsidiaBioneer Americas LLC owns 33% and is one of tineg initial Members to form
this limited liability company, effective 11/7/201The other two members are Stauffer ManagementLIOo/Bayer Cropscience Inc.
and Montrose Chemical Corporation of California.

Indirect subsidiary, Olin’s subsidiary, K.A. St&ghemicals Inc. is the sole member of this limitedbility company
Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Olin’s wholtywned subsidiary, Pioneer Companies, LLC

Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Olin’s subsidy, K. A. Steel Chemicals Inc.

Indirect subsidiary, Olin’s subsidiary, K. A. St&ghemicals Inc. is the sole member of this limiiadility company
Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Imperial W&dtemical Co.

Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Pioneer Walechnologies, Inc.

Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Monarch Br&€opper Corp.

This entity was formerly named A. J. Oster Co. éaldare partnership of which Olin Corporation ow2s0%% and Olin’s wholly-
owned subsidiary, Olin Engineered Systems, Inc.08615% and Pioneer Americas LLC owns 1.80%

Indirect subsidiary, Olin Sunbelt Inc. owns 50% &ith Sunbelt II, Inc. owns 50% -- began operation2012
Indirect subsidiary, Olin Canada ULC is the solember of Pioneer Americas LLC
Indirect subsidiary, Olin Business Holdings holsmembership interest

Indirect subsidiary, Olin’'s wholly-owned subsidiakyinchester Defense, LLC owns 49% of this Joinbiee and BAE Systems
Ordnance Systems, Inc. owns 51% of the joint ventur

This entity holds the 49% ownership of the joinbttge company, U.S. Munitions, LLC. BAE Systems fandce Systems, Inc. owns
the other 51% of the joint venture company.

Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Olin North Aniean Holdings, Inc. Reorganization of Canadiaritiest PClI Chemicals Canada
Company and Olin Canada Inc. occurred on Janua911 and the two companies were amalgamated tinelexame of Olin Canada
ULC

Olin Australia Limited was renamed Winchester Aak#r Limited effective 12/5/2007
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Olin Corporation:;

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRkgistration Statements No. 33¥8460 on Form <3 and Nos. 33305097, 33318619
333-39305, 33339303, 33331098, 33335818, 33397759, 333110135, 333110136, 333124483, 333133731, 333148918
333-158799, 333166288, and 333176432 on Form-S3 of Olin Corporation of our report dated Febru@®, 2013 with respect to tt
consolidated balance sheets of Olin Corporationsaufgidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011thencklated consolidated statemen
operations, comprehensive income, shareholderstyecqand cash flows for each of the years in theedhyear period ended December
2012, and the effectiveness of internal controlrdwencial reporting as of December 31, 2012, whigport appears in the December 31, !
annual report on Form & of Olin Corporation.

Our report dated February 25, 2013, c ontains gtaeatory paragraph that states managermmeassessment of the effectiveness of int
controls over financial reporting did not includensideration of the internal controls of K.A. Sté&emicals Inc., which was acquired
August 22, 2012. Our audit of internal control ofi@eancial reporting of Olin Corporation also exdéd an evaluation of the internal con
over financial reporting of K.A. Steel Chemicalg.In

/s KPMG LLP
St. Louis, Missouri
February 25, 2013



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Joseph D. Rupp, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f0lin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or én#tate a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registranthost
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2013 /s/ Joseph D. Rupp

Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, John E. Fischer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f0lin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or én#tate a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registranthost
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2013 /sl John E. Fischer

John E. Fischer
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350SADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Olin Coration (the “Company”) on Form 1KR-for the period ended December 31, 2012 as filal
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “R8pdroseph D. Rupp, Chairman, President and i#wecutive Officer and I, John E.
Fischer, Senior Vice President and Chief Finariéicer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 I€.SSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, tieadur knowledge: (1) the Report fully complieghwthe requirements of Section 13(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) tliermation contained in the Report fairly presemsll material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyn| be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsiats Staff upon request.

[s/ Joseph D. Rupp
Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: February 25, 2013

/sl John E. Fischer
John E. Fischer
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Dated: February 25, 2013



